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PART I  

ITEM 1.          BUSINESS  

Introduction  

ADTRAN, Inc. develops products and services that simplify access to today’s telecommunications networks. Our high-speed, digital transmission 
products improve the operation of, and reduce the costs associated with, building and using communications networks. Small and large telephone 
companies, long-distance carriers, and other network service providers use our products to deliver high-speed data, voice, video, and Internet 
services to their customers in a cost-efficient manner. Businesses, schools, and government agencies use our products to connect facilities, remote 
offices and mobile workers, enabling corporate information services, Internet access, telecommuting, and videoconferencing within their 
organizations.  

We were incorporated under the laws of Delaware in November 1985, and commenced operations in January 1986. We are headquartered in 
Cummings Research Park in Huntsville, Alabama. The mailing address at our headquarters is 901 Explorer Boulevard, Huntsville, Alabama, 
35806. The telephone number at that location is (256) 963-8000.  

Products and Services  

We maintain two operating divisions based on our product and service offerings: the Carrier Networks Division and the Enterprise Networks 
Division. While many of the technologies we develop can be used to build products for both divisions, the divisions serve two distinct markets. 
These divisions support sales in the United States and in other countries around the world and operate as two reportable segments. In 2002, sales 
of Carrier Networks products accounted for 63.3% of revenue, while sales of Enterprise Networks products accounted for 36.7%. Sales to 
countries outside of North America are included in these aggregate divisional figures, but when accounted for separately, comprise 5.9% of total 
revenue. For more financial information about these divisions, see note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in this report.  

Our product portfolio consists of approximately 1,000 different high-speed telecommunications devices. In both carrier and enterprise networks, 
these products are used primarily in the “last mile,” or local loop, of the telecommunications network. The last mile is that segment of the network 
that connects end-user subscribers to a service provider’s closest facility. Our products typically connect two ends of a telecommunications circuit, 
and serve to transmit data, voice, and video over that circuit. The bandwidth of the circuit, along with the type of transmission format being used, 
determines the type of equipment needed.  

We develop, market, and support high-speed digital transmission products, including those used to upgrade slower, established networks, or those 
used to deploy new broadband networks. Our products may be used in copper, fiber, or wireless networks both in the United States and abroad.  

Carrier Networks  

Our Carrier Networks Division specializes in system-based solutions that domestic and global service providers use to meet demand for a variety 
of data, voice, and Internet services, while reducing the cost of initial deployment and ongoing operations. These products are typically installed 
throughout the service provider’s network in locations such as central offices or network operations centers, remote terminals or pole-mounted 
cabinets, and the customers’ premises.  

In the past few years, carriers have concentrated their capital expenditures on expanding and updating core switching facilities. Originally built to 
handle primarily voice applications, these facilities have been modified to accommodate large volumes of Internet and other high-speed, 
bandwidth-intensive data. The high-volume switching and transmission products used in a carrier’s core network are typically supplied by larger, 
integrated systems equipment suppliers, such as Lucent, Nortel, and Alcatel. With the core network in place, carriers are now trying to connect 
customers by offering broadband digital services. Our Carrier Networks Division supplies the network access products carriers require to connect 
their customers to core transmission and switching networks.  

The flagship product line produced by our Carrier Networks Division is the Total Access® System. This multi-function access system offers 
service providers a single platform that can accommodate demand for a variety of high-speed Internet, voice, data and video services for business 
and some residential applications. Total Access consists of many different products that can be used separately or in tandem to reach more 
customers, offer a greater number of services, offer higher speed services, and make better use of network resources. Total Access connects to 
copper and fiber optic network backbones, making it suitable for installation in many parts of the network, and enabling deployment of a wide 
range of voice and data services around the world.  
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Total Access features a distributed architecture that fits the decentralized networking model most carriers are using today both in the United States 
and abroad. This modular, scalable, and geographically distributed system offers advantages such as lower start-up costs, more flexible service 
deployment, greater network interface options, increased bandwidth, grow-as-you-go modularity, and centralized network management.  

T1/HDSLx Access  

The transmission technologies behind dedicated, leased line voice and data services to businesses are T1, which transmits data and voice at 1.544 
megabits per second, or Mbps, and E1, the European equivalent, which transmits at 2.048 Mbps. T1 and E1 are the most widely deployed network 
technologies in business today. High bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line, or HDSLx, is a signaling technology that simplifies the provisioning of 
T1/E1 services over these circuits. We are the industry’s leading supplier of T1/HDSLx technology in the United States, with equipment in use by 
every incumbent local exchange carrier, or ILEC, and many independents and competitive service providers.  

Our HDSL/HDSL2/HDSL4 products implement two-wire or four-wire transport of voice and data over T1/E1 facilities at extended distances, with 
less engineering investment. Our T1/HDSLx and E1/HDSLx products are available in form factors to fit our Total Access System, as well as other 
equipment shelves commonly deployed by ILECs and other service providers.  

Packet-Based DSL Access  

To meet residential demand for high-speed Internet access, and to meet the corresponding business demand to deliver high-speed Internet content, 
service providers must deploy packet-based varieties of DSL transport technologies. Our Total Access DSL Access Multiplexer, or DSLAM, 
helps ILECs, competitive service providers, local and regional independent telephone companies, and post telephone and telegraph (PTT) 
companies deliver Asymmetric DSL, or ADSL, a technology that permits faster downloads and slower uploads to accommodate Internet usage for 
residential and small business environments; and Symmetrical HDSL, or SHDSL, a technology that offers businesses high-speed network access 
at potentially lower monthly cost than leased line networks.  

In 2002, we expanded our Total Access DSLAM portfolio to include models for low- to medium-density markets. These lower density models 
complement our Total Access 3000 DSLAM, which has been available since 2000. Because major carriers are deploying high volumes of new 
DSL accounts each day, and because packet-based technologies often fall outside the scope of the carriers’ legacy operating systems, carriers 
require a separate automated provisioning and management tool for these deployments. To satisfy this need, we offer the Total Access Element 
Management System, a high-performance network management system supporting our Total Access DSLAM platforms.  

In countries outside of North America, our Total Access SHDSL is being adopted as an economical way to meet strong demand for E1 business 
services over a single pair of copper wires. SHDSL has a capacity of up to 2.3 Mbps per pair, making it a global symmetrical standard that 
accommodates E1 signaling rates. ADTRAN was a primary contributor to the international SHDSL standardization effort concluded in 2001, and 
the first to introduce an SHDSL product.  

Fiber Access Multiplexing  

Multiplexers are products that combine individual communications channels into a common band or stream for transmission. Our Total Access 
OPTI-3 is a multiplexer that aggregates three copper DS3 channels onto a fiber OC-3 feed. DS3 is a digital signal level which supports 
transmission of 672 individual digital signals at 45 Mbps, and OC3 is an optical carrier level which transmits at 155 Mbps. The Total Access 
OPTI-3 offers service providers a smaller, more cost-effective alternative to traditional devices used for this purpose. It is a non-proprietary device 
that complies with the SONET optical interface standard governing the interworking of optical transmission products. As a result, the Total 
Access OPTI-3 works with other SONET multiplexers in existing installations, and supplies environmental alarms and other network management 
information to the operations center or central office.  

M13/STS-1 Multiplexing  

The MX2800 is an M13 multiplexer, a device that aggregates multiple T1 or E1 channels into a single larger channel, such as DS3 in copper 
applications, or STS-1, or synchronous transport signal level one, in fiber optic applications. The MX2800 offers service providers a smaller, more 
cost-effective alternative to traditional devices used for this purpose. It includes a redundant power supply and the capacity to minimize network 
disruptions.  

IMA Aggregation  

Inverse Multiplexing over ATM (Asynchronous Transfer Mode), or IMA, is a method of aggregating DSL traffic from multiple subscribers onto a 
single circuit for transport to the central office switch. By moving the consolidation point closer to the subscriber, the service provider reduces the 
cost of backhauling this traffic. By consolidating ATM traffic into fewer, more efficiently utilized interfaces, the service provider conserves 
valuable switch ports. This capability is available in our Total Access 3000 DSLAM.  
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POTS/DLC Services  

Our Total Access System includes solutions for deploying narrowband (from 64 Kilobytes per second, or Kbps, to 1.544 Mbps) services, 
including Plain Old Telephone Services (POTS) for voice, and special services, such as analog data or foreign exchange. Service providers use 
Digital Loop Carriers (DLCs), or remote cabinets, to consolidate large volumes of voice lines as close as possible to the customer origin. Our 
high-density platforms for POTS deployment through a DLC increase the number of customers that can be served through the same facilities.  

An important part of the distributed DLC concept is the ability to move voice traffic from narrow-bandwidth circuits, originating at the customer’s 
site, onto broader bandwidth circuits traveling back to the central office. Our products provide the concentration and multiplexing technologies 
needed to consolidate narrowband signals, where most of the carriers’ demand resides, into higher level bandwidth signals for backhaul to the 
switching facilities.  

Loop Deployment  

We offer a comprehensive line of plug-in transmission, repeater, extension, and termination devices for T1, E1, Frame Relay, Integrated Services 
Digital Network (ISDN) and Digital Data Service (DDS) services in a variety of form factors to fit our customers’ needs. Our Total Reach ISDN 
and DDS products extend digital services over one twisted pair of copper wires instead of the traditional two pair, and resolve deployment issues 
related to extensive repeater engineering, bridged tap determination and removal, and power requirements.  

Wireless DS1/DS3 Access  

Our TRACER series of license-free radios support voice and data over broadband DS3; dual, quad, and octal T1; and E1 wireless links. These 
products are also sold by our Enterprise Networks Division, as described below.  

Network Management  

We develop and support sophisticated systems to centralize the configuration, provisioning and management of our network access products. The 
Total Access Element Management System is a web-based, Java application used to configure, monitor and control Total Access equipment 
installed on local loop circuits. This high-performance system ensures smooth communication with the carrier’s central management system to 
minimize truck rolls and reduce operating costs.  

Technical Services and Support  

Carrier Network products sold in the United States carry up to a 10-year return-to-factory warranty, pre- and post-sales telephone technical 
support, and certain training options. Warranty and support options vary in countries outside of the U.S. Customers seeking additional support, or 
a complete turnkey solution, may choose to contract our professional services group for configuration, pre-assembly, and installation of their 
system.  

Enterprise Networks  

Our Enterprise Networks Division specializes in wide area connectivity and internetworking products. Businesses, academic organizations, and 
government agencies use these products to implement reliable, high-speed data, voice, Internet, and video communications between 
geographically dispersed locations or employees. These products are typically installed in equipment rooms or on desktops at both ends of a wide 
area circuit, connecting headquarters, branch offices, telecommuters, and mobile users to corporate information resources.  

Our enterprise network products physically connect the user’s equipment – telephones, PBX’s, routers, computers, local area network equipment, 
and videoconferencing gear – to the wide area circuit. We address all of the commonly used networking technologies, at speeds ranging from 56 / 
64 Kbps to 45 Mbps over wireline, fiber, and wireless facilities. Products range from simple, single-circuit termination units to more complex 
integrated access devices, access routers, multiplexers, firewalls, and license-free radios. Functionality ranges from low-cost, unmanaged devices 
to modular, remotely-manageable devices. Emergency service restoral is offered for a number of platforms.  

Our broad range of equipment permits customers to satisfy their applications (data, voice, videoconferencing, or combined data/voice) using the 
most cost-efficient service offerings. In a wide area network that uses multiple transmission technologies in different geographic locations, the 
customer can usually obtain all the necessary equipment from us. Many of the products available from the Enterprise Networks Division have 
applications in carrier networks as well, especially carriers outside of North America. These products are typically installed by the carrier at the 
customer premises as part of a bundled service package.  

IP Access Routing  

In 2002, we introduced the NetVanta 3000 Series of Internet Protocol, or IP, access routers. These routers serve the purpose of providing Internet 
access or interconnecting corporate locations over private IP or leased line infrastructures, then routing data to its  
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destination computer. These devices include features to secure the network against cyber attacks, to secure the privacy of data as it is transported 
across the Internet, and to restore communications in the event of equipment failure. These devices may be used by businesses or service providers 
in both domestic and global installations.  

Internet Security  

Our NetVanta 2000 Series is a family of products that combines firewall and Virtual Private Networking, or VPN, technologies to secure the 
transport of data over the Internet and private IP networks. The product line includes models to connect mobile workers, remote offices, and 
regional office/corporate headquarters, without the security concerns normally associated with shared networks. VPN is a service that provides 
customers with the attributes of a private network and is a cost-effective replacement for private leased line networks.  

Frame Relay, Performance Monitoring, and Traffic Shaping  

We offer a comprehensive line of Frame Relay connectivity products. Frame Relay is the most popular networking technology used by businesses 
today. Basic connectivity products support data, converged voice and data, routing, and disaster recovery at speeds ranging from 56 Kbps to 2.3 
Mbps. In the IQ™ series, more advanced functionality lets network operators or service providers identify and classify traffic types, including e-
mail, file transfer, and music downloads, allocate bandwidth to certain applications, and quantify the quality of service delivered on these Frame 
Relay circuits.  

Integrated Access  

Integrated access devices are a product class commonly used to reduce telecommunications costs by collapsing multiple voice and data circuits 
into a more streamlined and less expensive topology. Convergence also simplifies network administration and enables new features and services. 
We offer the ATLAS, Total Access 600 Series, Total Access 7 50 / 85 0, and TSU series of integrated access devices to accommodate both 
enterprise and carrier applications. Product architectures are scalable, and various models offer a wide range of features and capacities.  

Fiber Connectivity  

Our optical transport products for the enterprise support (1) point-to-point dark fiber termination, where the customer seeks to connect intra-
campus buildings over a fiber optic cable; and (2) copper-to-fiber conversion, where the customer seeks to connect existing copper-wired 
buildings to fiber optic cable.  

Leased Line Connectivity  

Leased line networks, which provide dedicated point-to-point circuits leased from the service provider, are widely deployed in business. Circuits 
are available for DDS at speeds of 56 Kbps, ISDN at 128 Kbps, T1 at 1.544 Mbps, E1 at 2.048 Mbps, and T3 at 45 Mbps. ADTRAN supplies 
equipment in each of these technology categories for data, voice, and video applications. Models range from economy to full-featured with options 
for routing, network management, and emergency service restoral.  

Broadband Fixed Wireless  

We compete in a portion of the wireless communications market known as license-free fixed wireless. License-free fixed wireless installations are 
permanent or temporary point-to-point microwave radio links classified as unlicensed by the FCC. Our TRACER Series radios support voice and 
data over broadband DS3; dual, quad, and octal T1; and E1. Installed by a carrier or a business, fixed wireless links serve to overcome geographic 
barriers, establish emergency communications, or improve the efficiency of wireless carriers’ backhaul operations.  

Network Management  

We develop and support sophisticated systems to centralize the configuration and management of our wide area connectivity and internetworking 
products. Our N-Form Network Management Software Suite, a web-enabled product, allows network operators to monitor network activity, 
modify equipment settings, and isolate problems from a remote location using a variety of popular management interfaces.  

Technical Services and Support  

Each enterprise network product sold in the United States carries a five-year return-to-factory warranty, pre- and post-sales telephone technical 
support, and certain training options. Warranty and support options vary in countries outside of the U.S. Customers seeking additional support 
may choose to purchase our extended installation and maintenance service plans and/or fee-based training classes.  

Customers  

Customers of our Carrier Networks Division in the United States include all of the major regional telephone companies, also known as ILECs or 
RBOCs (Regional Bell Operating Companies); large and small independent telephone companies; competitive service  
 

4  



Table of Contents  

providers; Internet service providers or ISPs; long distance carriers (known as Interexchange Carriers or IXCs); and wireless service providers. 
Worldwide, this division also serves PTT companies and competitive service providers in selected regions.  

ILECs and most other service providers require product approval prior to adopting a vendor’s products for use in their networks. Therefore, we are 
involved in a constant process of submitting new and succeeding generations of products for approval. In the past, we have been successful in 
obtaining such approvals, and our products are widely deployed in service provider networks. However, we cannot be certain that we will obtain 
such approvals in the future, or that sales of such products will continue to occur. Further, any attempt by an ILEC or other service provider to 
seek out additional or alternative suppliers, or to undertake, as permitted under applicable regulations, the production of such products internally, 
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.  

End users of our Enterprise Networks Division include a large number of private and public organizations in numerous vertical markets, including 
finance, retail, food service, government, education, health care, manufacturing, military, transportation, hospitality, and energy/utility. However, 
because the majority of the products from this division are sold through a distribution channel, our major customers consist of several large 
technology distributors and an extensive network of value added resellers as described in “Distribution, Sales and Marketing” below.  

The major customers of ADTRAN include the following:  
   

 
Single customers comprising more than 10% of our revenue include SBC Communications, Inc. at 21%, Verizon Communications, Inc. at 14%, 
and Sprint Corporation at 10%. No other customer accounted for 10% or more of our sales in 2002.  

Distribution, Sales and Marketing  

We sell our Carrier Networks products in the United States to our major customers through a combination of a direct sales organization and a non-
exclusive distribution network. The direct sales organization supports ILEC customers, and has offices located throughout the country. Sales to 
most competitive service providers and independent telephone companies are fulfilled through several major technology distribution companies.  

Sales to service providers involve lengthy product qualification and standardization processes that can extend for several months or years. 
Subsequent orders, if any, are typically placed under single or multi-year supply agreements that are generally not subject to minimum volume 
commitments. Carriers generally prefer having two or more suppliers for most products, so individual orders are generally subject to competition 
based on some combination of total value, service, price, delivery, and other terms.  

The majority of Enterprise Networks products are sold in the United States through a non-exclusive distribution network which consists, at the top 
level, of several major technology distributors and system integrators, such as Tech Data, Ingram Micro, and Sprint North Supply. These large 
distribution houses then sell to an extensive network of value-added resellers or system integrators.  

Value added resellers and system integrators may be affiliated with us as a channel partner, or they may purchase from the distributor as an 
unaffiliated company. Affiliated partners participate with us at one of three levels based on sales volume and other factors to receive benefits such 
as product discounts, co-op funds, technical support, and training. We maintain field offices nationwide to support both distributors and value 
added resellers and system integrators. The Enterprise Networks Division also maintains a direct sales organization to generate demand within 
large, national accounts.  

Outside of the United States, both carrier and enterprise products are sold through distribution arrangements customized for each region. Each 
region is supported by an ADTRAN field office that offers sales and support functions, and in some cases, warehousing and manufacturing 
support.  

Our field sales organizations and distributors receive support from headquarters-based marketing, sales, and customer support groups. Under 
certain circumstances, other headquarters personnel may become involved in sales and other activities.  
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Research and Development  

Rapidly changing technologies, evolving industry standards, changing customer requirements, and continuing developments in 
telecommunications service offerings characterize the markets for our products. Our continuing ability to adapt to these changes, and to develop 
new and enhanced products, is a significant factor in maintaining or improving our competitive position and our prospects for growth. Therefore, 
we continue to make significant investments in product development.  

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, product development expenditures totaled $56,295,000, $58,935,000, and $50,628,000, respectively. Because our 
product development activities are an important part of our strategy and because of rapidly changing technology and evolving industry standards, 
we expect to sustain, and possibly increase, product development activities in 2003. To date, all product development expenses have been charged 
to operations as incurred.  

We strive to deliver innovative digital network access solutions that lower the cost of deploying services, increase the level of performance 
achievable with established infrastructures, reduce expense for our customers, increase network bandwidth and functionality, and extend network 
reach. Our development process is conducted in accordance with ISO 9001 and TL 9000, which are the international standards for quality 
management systems for design, manufacturing, and service.  

We develop most of our products internally, although we sometimes license intellectual property rights for use in certain products. Internal 
development gives us more control over design and manufacturing issues related to our products, and therefore, closer control over product cost. 
Our ability to continually reduce product costs is an important part of our overall business strategy. Our product development efforts are often 
centered around entering a market with improved technology, offered at a price point lower than established market price. We then compete for 
market share. We continually re-engineer successive generations of the product to improve margin. In the extremely competitive markets 
characteristic of 2000, 2001 and 2002, this strategy has allowed us to meet customers’ stringent price requirements, while remaining profitable.  

To maintain or increase our revenues and margins while continuing this strategy, we must continue, in some combination, to increase unit sales 
volumes of existing products, introduce and sell new products, or reduce our per unit costs. Per unit costs must be reduced at rates sufficient to 
compensate for the reduced revenue effect of continuing reductions in average sales prices. While we cannot be certain that we will be able to 
maintain or increase revenues or margins by increasing unit sales volumes of our products, introducing and selling new products, or reducing our 
per unit costs, our approach has been generally successful in the past.  

Product development activities center around products to support both existing and emerging technologies in the telecommunications industry in 
segments of our markets that we consider to be viable revenue opportunities. We are actively engaged in developing and refining technologies to 
support data, voice, and video transport over Time Division Multiplex, ATM, and IP network architectures. Our work includes fiber optic 
transport, edge routing, integrated access, ADSL, SHDSL, HDSL4, Ethernet, network security, and network management and services.  

A centralized research function supports product development efforts company-wide. This group provides guidance to our various product design 
and engineering teams in digital signal processing technologies, computer simulation and modeling, CAD/CAM tool sets, custom semiconductor 
design, industry standards, and technological forecasting.  

Many telecommunications issues, processes and technologies are governed by standards boards. These boards consist of scientists, engineers, and 
other industry specialists working to establish specifications and compliance guidelines for emerging telecommunications technologies. We are an 
active participant on numerous standards boards, and have been instrumental in driving worldwide standards development in many technologies, 
especially DSL. A significant contributor to both HDSL2 and SHDSL standards, we developed many of the sophisticated coding algorithms 
incorporated into these standards. Currently, we are participating in the Federal Communications Commission’s efforts to define guidelines for 
spectral compatibility on local loops where multiple services are simultaneously deployed. We are also involved in the committee reviewing 
various techniques for deploying Ethernet in the local loop.  

Manufacturing  

The principal steps in the manufacturing process are the purchase and management of materials, assembly, testing, final inspection, packing, and 
shipping. In 2002, we continued to purchase parts and components for the assembly of some products from a large number of suppliers through a 
worldwide sourcing program. In addition, we have begun to shift to a process of allowing contract manufacturers to purchase the materials that 
they use in the assembly of our products. Certain key components used in our products are currently available from only one source, and other key 
components are available from only a limited number of sources. In the past, we have experienced delays in the receipt of certain key components, 
which has resulted in delays in related product deliveries.  
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We attempt to manage such risks through developing alternative sources, through engineering efforts designed to obviate the necessity of certain 
components, and by maintaining close personal contact and building long-term relationships with each of our suppliers.  

We rely on subcontractors in Mexico and China for assembly of printed circuit board assemblies, sub-assemblies, chassis, enclosures and 
equipment shelves, and, more recently, also to purchase the raw materials used in and for such assembly. Beginning in 2001, we transitioned our 
manufacturing of low-volume, high-mix, or complex printed circuit board assemblies to our manufacturing site in Huntsville, Alabama. We 
continue to build and test all new product prototypes and initial production units for all products in Huntsville, then later transfer the production of 
high-volume, low-mix printed circuit board assemblies to our subcontractors. We plan to continue to transition the purchasing of materials for 
assembly and final testing of a significant portion of our lower-priced products to subcontractors in Mexico or China. Such assembly typically can 
be done by subcontractors at an equal or lower cost than if we assembled such items internally, which furthers our goal of being a low-cost, high-
quality provider in the industry. Subcontract assembly operations can contribute significantly to production cycle times, but we believe we can 
respond more rapidly to uncertainties in incoming order rates by selecting assembly subcontractors having significant reserve capacity and 
flexibility. We have consolidated our subcontractors to a few whose proven flexibility and quality meet our requirements.  

The reliance on third-party subcontractors for the assembly of our products involves several risks, including the unavailability of, or interruptions 
in access to, certain process technologies and reduced control over product quality, delivery schedules, manufacturing yields, and costs. These 
risks may be exacerbated by economic or political uncertainties, terrorist actions, or by natural disasters in foreign countries in which our 
subcontractors may be located. We currently have limited foreign exchange risks, as we conduct the majority of all transactions with foreign 
vendors or customers in United States dollars.  

Shipment of products to customers occurs from our facilities in Huntsville, Alabama. Our facilities are certified pursuant to ISO 9001, TL 9000, 
and certain other telephone company standards, including those relating to emission of electromagnetic energy and safety specifications.  

Competition  

We compete in markets for networking and communications equipment for service providers and businesses, government agencies, and other 
commercial enterprises worldwide. Our products and services support the transfer of data, voice, and video across service providers’ copper, fiber, 
and wireless infrastructures, and across wide area networks, local area networks, and the Internet.  

The markets for our products are intensely competitive. Numerous competitors exist in each of our product segments. New manufacturers have 
entered the markets in recent years offering products that compete with ours. Under the intensely competitive conditions of the past two years, 
some of our competitors have consolidated or ceased operation. In addition, certain companies have, in recent years, increased consumer 
acceptance of alternative communications technologies, such as coaxial cable and cellular-based services. Competition might further increase if 
new companies enter the market, or existing competitors expand their product lines.  

For our Carrier Networks Division, factors influencing the markets in which we currently compete or may compete in the future include:  

•            The ability to help the customer solve networking problems within the confines of restrained capital budgets;  

•            The ability to deliver solutions that fit the distributed networking model being deployed by most carriers;  

•            The ability to deliver solutions at attractive price points;  

•            The ability to deliver reliability and redundancy, especially for higher bandwidth products;  

•            The ability to adapt to new network technologies as they evolve;  

•            The ability to compete effectively with large firms with greater resources;  

•            The ability to deliver products when needed by the customer;  

•            The ability to deliver responsive customer service, technical support, and training; and  

•            The ability to assist customers requiring pre-assembled, turnkey systems.  
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Competitors in the carrier networks arena include large, established firms such as Fujitsu Limited, Nortel Networks, Alcatel, Siemens, and Cisco 
Systems, Inc., as well as a number of smaller, specialized firms such as Carrier Access Corporation and ADC Telecommunications.  

For our Enterprise Networks Division, factors influencing the markets in which we currently compete or may compete in the future include:  

•            The ability to satisfy the customer’s need to deploy a combination of transmission technologies within a single network;  

•            The ability to increase the performance and lower the costs of the customer’s telecommunications network;  

•            The ability to add capacity and migrate to new or different technologies without a major system upgrade;  

•            The ability to continue to develop and support established platforms, and to offer products to address new networking technologies in 
a timely manner;  

•            The ability to deliver reliability and system backup, especially for higher bandwidth products;  

•            The ability to adapt to new network technologies as they evolve;  

•            The ability to deliver products when needed by the customer;  

•            The ability to deliver responsive customer service, technical support, and training; and  

•            The ability to assist customers requiring hands-on installation and maintenance.  

Competitors in the enterprise networks area include Nortel Networks, Netopia, Inc., Siemens, Enterasys Networks, Kentrox, Paradyne, Quick 
Eagle Networks, VINA Technologies, Carrier Access Corporation, Larscom, Visual Networks, Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc., SonicWALL, Inc., 
WatchGuard, and NetScreen Technologies, Inc. Some of these companies compete in a single product segment, while others compete across 
product lines.  

Our company has been able to achieve leading market share positions in wide area connectivity solutions for integrated access devices, and for T1 
and DDS DSU/CSU (Data Service Units/Channel Service Units).  

Backlog and Inventory  

A substantial portion of our shipments in any fiscal period relate to orders received in that fiscal period and firm purchase orders released in that 
fiscal period by customers under agreements containing non-binding purchase commitments. Further, a significant percentage of orders require 
delivery within 48 hours. These factors result in very little order backlog. We believe that because we fill a substantial portion of customer orders 
within the fiscal quarter of receipt, our backlog is not a meaningful indicator of actual sales for any succeeding period.  

To meet this type of demand, we maintain a substantial finished goods inventory. We have implemented sophisticated supply chain management 
systems to manage the production process. Our practice of maintaining sufficient inventory levels to assure prompt delivery of our products 
increases the amount of inventory that may become obsolete. The obsolescence of such inventory may cause us to have to write down the value of 
the obsolete inventory, which may have an adverse effect on our operating results.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2002, we had 1,522 full-time employees in the United States and 27 full-time employees in our international subsidiaries, 
located in Canada, China, Europe, and Australia. Of our total employees, 254 were in sales, marketing and service; 374 were in research and 
development; 819 were in manufacturing operations and quality assurance; and 102 were in administration. None of our employees are 
represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we ever experienced any work stoppage. We believe that our relationship with our 
employees is good.  
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Proprietary Rights  

The ADTRAN corporate logo is a registered trademark of ADTRAN. The name “ADTRAN” is a trademark of ADTRAN. A number of our 
product identifiers and names are also registered. We also claim rights to a number of unregistered trademarks.  

We have ownership of at least 89 patents related to our products and have additional patents pending. We will continue to seek additional patents 
from time to time related to our research and development activities. We do not derive any material amount of revenue from the licensing of our 
patents.  

We protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights in accordance with good legal and business practices. We believe, however, that our 
competitive success will not depend on the ownership of intellectual property, but instead primarily on the innovative skills, technical competence, 
and marketing abilities of our personnel.  

The telecommunications industry is characterized by the existence of an ever-increasing number of patent litigation and licensing activities. While 
there are currently no intellectual property lawsuits existing or pending by or against ADTRAN, it is possible that third parties may initiate 
litigation against us in the future, resulting in costly litigation and/or judgments. Any intellectual property infringement claims, or related litigation 
against or by us, could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.  

Available Information  

A copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments 
to these reports, are available free of charge on the Internet at our website, www.adtran.com, as soon as reasonably practicable (generally, within 1 
day) after we electronically file these reports with, or furnish these reports to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. The reference to our 
website address does not constitute incorporation by reference of the information contained on the website and should not be considered part of 
this document.  

Risk Factors  

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Reform Act”) provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by or on 
behalf of ADTRAN. ADTRAN and its representatives may from time to time make written or verbal forward-looking statements, including 
statements contained in this report and our other filings with the SEC and in our reports to our stockholders. Generally, the words, “believe,” 
“expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “will,” “may,” “could” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. We caution you 
that any forward-looking statements made by or on our behalf are subject to uncertainties and other factors that could cause such statements to be 
wrong. Some of these uncertainties and other factors are listed below (many of which we have discussed in prior SEC filings). Though we have 
attempted to list comprehensively these important factors, we caution investors that other factors may prove to be important in the future in 
affecting our operating results. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all of these factors, nor can we assess 
the impact each factor or combination of factors may have on our business.  

You are further cautioned not to place undue reliance on those forward-looking statements because they speak only of our views as of the date the 
statements were made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise.  

The following are some of the risks that could affect our financial performance or could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements:  

We must continue to update and improve our products and develop new products in order to compete and to keep pace with improvements 
in telecommunications technology.  

The markets for our products are characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, and continuing improvements in the 
telecommunications service offerings of common carriers. If technologies or standards applicable to our products, or common carrier service 
offerings based on our products, become obsolete or fail to gain widespread commercial acceptance, our existing products or products under 
development may become obsolete or unmarketable.  

Moreover, the introduction of products embodying new technologies, the emergence of new industry standards, or changes in common carrier 
service offerings could adversely affect our ability to sell our products. For instance, we offer a large number of products that apply primarily to 
the delivery of high-speed digital communications over the local loop over copper wire. We compete favorably with our competitors by 
developing a high-performance line of these products. Recently, we have begun marketing products that apply to fiber optic transport in the local 
loop. We expect, however, that deployment of coaxial cable and cellular transport in the local loop  
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will increase. Also, non-traditional providers, such as cable television companies, are increasing their presence in the local loop. To meet the 
requirements of these new delivery systems and to maintain our market position, we may have to develop new products or modify existing 
products.  

Our sales and profitability in the past have resulted to a significant extent from our ability to anticipate changes in technology, industry standards 
and common carrier service offerings, and to develop and introduce new and enhanced products. Our continued ability to adapt will be a 
significant factor in maintaining or improving our competitive position and our prospects for growth. We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
respond effectively to changes in technology, industry standards, common carrier service offerings or new product announcements by our 
competitors. We also cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully develop and market new products or product enhancements, or that 
such products or enhancements will achieve market acceptance. Any failure by us to continue to anticipate or respond in a cost-effective and 
timely manner to changes in technology, industry standards, common carrier service offerings, or new product announcements by our competitors, 
or any significant delays in product development or introduction, could have a materially adverse effect on our future profitability and our ability 
to market our products on a timely and competitive basis.  

We do not engage in long-term research and development processes, and as a consequence may miss certain market opportunities enjoyed 
by larger companies with substantially greater research and development efforts.  

Our research and development efforts are focused primarily on the refinement and redefinition of transmission technologies, which are currently 
accepted and commonly practiced. Most of our research and development efforts result in improved applications of technologies for which 
demand already exists or is latent. We do not, for the most part, engage in long-term speculative research projects, which represent a vast 
departure from the current business practices of our key customers. This includes pioneering new services and participating in advance field trials 
or demonstration projects for new technologies. Our strategy, while producing a more predictable revenue stream, could result in lost opportunity 
should a new technology achieve rapid and widespread customer acceptance.  

Our dependence on a limited number of suppliers may prevent us from delivering our products on a timely basis, which could have a 
materially adverse effect on customer relations and operating results.  

Certain raw materials and key components used in our products are currently available from only one source, and others are available from only a 
limited number of sources. The availability of these raw materials and supplies is subject to market forces beyond our control. From time to time, 
there may not be sufficient quantities of raw materials and supplies in the marketplace to meet customer demand. Many companies utilize the 
same raw materials and supplies as we do in the production of their products. Companies with more resources than our own may have a 
competitive advantage in obtaining raw materials and supplies due to greater buying power. These factors can result in reduced supply, higher 
prices of raw materials, and delays in the receipt of certain of our key components, which in turn may generate increased costs, lower margins, and 
delays in product delivery, with a corresponding adverse effect on sales, customer relationships, and revenue. Furthermore, due to general 
economic conditions in the U.S. and globally, our suppliers may experience financial difficulties, which could result in increased delays, 
additional costs, or loss of a supplier. We attempt to manage these risks through developing alternative sources, through engineering efforts 
designed to obviate the necessity of certain components, and by building long-term relationships and close personal contact with each of our 
suppliers. However, we cannot assure you that delays in or failures of deliveries of key components, either to us or to our contract manufacturers, 
and consequent delays in product deliveries, will not occur in the future.  

Our dependence on subcontractors may result in reduced control over product quality, delayed delivery of products and/or increased 
manufacturing costs, each of which could negatively effect customer relations and operating results.  

We rely on subcontractors in Mexico and China for the assembly of printed circuit board assemblies, subassemblies, chassis, enclosures and 
equipment shelves, and, more recently, also to purchase the raw materials used in and for such assembly. We are heavily dependent on two of 
these subcontractors. This reliance on third-party subcontractors for the assembly of our products involves several risks, including the 
unavailability of or interruptions in access to certain process technologies and reduced control over product quality, delivery schedules, 
transportation interruptions, manufacturing yields, and costs. These risks may be exacerbated by economic or political uncertainties or by natural 
disasters in foreign countries in which our subcontractors may be located. To date, we believe that we have successfully managed the risks of our 
dependence on these subcontractors through a variety of efforts, which include seeking and developing alternative subcontractors while 
maintaining existing relationships. However, we cannot assure you that delays in product deliveries will not occur in the future because of 
shortages resulting from this limited number of subcontractors or from the financial or other difficulties of such parties. The inability to develop 
alternative subcontractors if and as required in the future, or the need to undertake required retraining and other activities related to establishing 
and developing a new subcontractor relationship, could result in delays or reductions in product shipments which, in turn, could have a negative 
effect on our customer relationships and operating results.  
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We compete in markets that have become increasingly competitive, which may result in reduced gross profit margins and market share.  

The markets for our products are intensely competitive. Additional manufacturers have entered the markets in recent years to offer products in 
competition with us. Additionally, certain companies have, in recent years, developed the ability to deliver coaxial cable and cellular transmission, 
especially in high-density metropolitan areas. Competition would further increase if new companies enter the market or existing competitors 
expand their product lines. Some of these potential competitors may have greater financial, technological, manufacturing, sales and marketing, and 
personnel resources than we have. As a result, these competitors may be able to respond more rapidly or effectively to new or emerging 
technologies and changes in customer requirements, withstand significant price decreases, or devote greater resources to the development, 
promotion, and sale of their products than we can. In addition, our present and future competitors may be able to enter our existing or future 
markets with products or technologies comparable or superior to those that we offer. An increase in competition could cause us to reduce prices, 
decrease our market share, require increased spending by us on product development and sales and marketing, or cause delays or cancellations in 
customer orders, any one of which could reduce our gross profit margins and adversely affect our business and results of operations.  

We depend heavily on sales to certain customers; the loss of any of these customers would significantly reduce our revenues and net 
income.  

Historically, a large percentage of our sales have been made to ILECs (also formerly known as RBOCs) and major independent 
telecommunications companies. In 2002, these customers continued to comprise a large percentage (approximately 57%) of our revenue. As long 
as the ILECs and other service providers represent such a substantial percentage of our total sales, our future success will significantly depend 
upon certain factors which are not within our control, including:  

•            the timing and size of future purchase orders, if any, from these customers;  

•            the product requirements of these customers;  

•            the financial and operational success of these customers;  

•            the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on these customers; and  

•            the success of these customers’ services deployed using our products.  

Sales to our large customers have, in the past, fluctuated and may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. The loss of, or a 
significant reduction or delay in, sales to any such customer or the occurrence of any such sales fluctuations could have a materially adverse effect 
on our business and results of operations. Further, any attempt by an ILEC or other service provider to seek out additional or alternative suppliers 
or to undertake, as permitted under applicable regulations, the production of such products internally, could have a materially adverse effect on 
our operating results.  

The lengthy approval process required by the ILECs and other carriers could result in fluctuations in our revenues.  

In the industry in which we compete, a supplier must first obtain product approval from an ILEC or other carrier to sell its products to them. This 
process can last from six to 18 months depending on the technology, the service provider, and the demand for the product from the service 
provider’s subscribers. Consequently, we are involved in a constant process of submitting for approval succeeding generations of products, as well 
as products that deploy new technology or respond to new technology demand from an ILEC or other carrier. We have been successful in the past 
in obtaining such approvals. However, we cannot be certain that we will obtain such approvals in the future or that sales of such products will 
continue to occur. Furthermore, the delay in sales until the completion of the approval process, the length of which is difficult to predict, could 
result in fluctuations of revenue and uneven operating results from quarter to quarter or year to year.  

Consolidation and deterioration in the competitive service provider market could result in a significant decrease in our revenue.  

We sell a moderate volume of products to competitive service providers, relative newcomers to the telecom industry, who compete with the 
established ILECs. The competitive service provider market is overbuilt, and is experiencing a process of consolidation and closure. Many of our 
competitive service provider customers do not have a strong financial position and have limited ability to access the public financial markets for 
additional funding for growth and operations. If one or more of these competitive service providers fail, we could face a loss in revenue and an 
increased bad debt expense, due to their inability to pay outstanding invoices, as well as the corresponding decrease in customer base and future 
revenue. Furthermore, a significant portion of our sales to competitive service  
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providers are made through independent distributors. The failure of one or more competitive service providers could also damage a distributor to 
the point that the distributor could also experience business failure and/or default on payments to us.  

Increased sales volume in international markets could result in increased costs or loss of revenue due to factors inherent in these 
markets.  

We are in the process of expanding into international markets, which currently represent 5.9% of our net sales, and we anticipate increased sales 
from these markets. We currently maintain regional offices outside of North America in Melbourne, Australia; Beijing and Hong Kong, China; 
and Bad Homburg, Germany. A number of factors inherent to these markets expose us to significantly more risk than domestic business, 
including:  

•            local economic and market conditions;  

•            exposure to unknown customs and practices;  

•            potential political unrest;  

•            foreign exchange exposure;  

•            unexpected changes in or impositions of legislative or regulatory requirements;  

•            less regulation of patents or other safeguards of intellectual property; and  

•            difficulties in collecting receivables and inability to rely on local government aid to enforce standard business practices.  

Any of these factors, or others, of which we are not currently aware, could result in increased costs of operation or loss of revenue to us.  

Our success depends on our ability to reduce the selling prices of succeeding generations of our products.  

Our strategy is to attempt to increase unit sales volumes and market share each year by introducing succeeding generations of products having 
lower selling prices and increased functionality as compared to prior generations of products. To maintain or increase our revenues and margins 
while continuing this strategy, we must continue, in some combination, to increase sales volumes of existing products, introduce and sell new 
products, or reduce our per unit costs at rates sufficient to compensate for the reduced revenue effect of continuing reductions in the average sales 
prices of our products. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain or increase revenues or margins by increasing unit sales volumes of 
our products, introducing and selling new products, or reducing our per unit costs.  

Our failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect the development and commercialization of our 
products.  

Our future success depends in part upon our proprietary technology. Although we attempt to protect our proprietary technology by contract, 
trademark, copyright and patent registration, and internal security, these protections may not be adequate. Furthermore, our competitors can 
develop similar technology independently without violating our proprietary rights. From time to time we receive and may continue to receive 
notices from third parties, including some of our competitors, claiming that we are infringing upon third-party patents or other proprietary rights. 
We cannot predict whether we will prevail in any litigation over third-party claims, or whether we will be able to license any valid and infringed 
patents on commercially reasonable terms. Any of these claims, whether with or without merit, could result in costly litigation; divert our 
management’s time, attention, and resources; delay our product shipments; or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. A third 
party may not be willing to enter into a royalty or licensing agreement on acceptable terms, if at all. If a claim of product infringement against us 
is successful and we fail to obtain a license or develop or license non-infringing technology, our business, financial condition, and operating 
results could be affected adversely.  

Our success depends on attracting and retaining key personnel.  

Our business has grown significantly since its inception. Our success is dependent in large part on the continued employment of our executive 
officers, including Mark C. Smith, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, Howard A. Thrailkill, our President, Chief Operating 
Officer and a director, Thomas R. Stanton, our Senior Vice President and General Manager, Carrier Networks, Danny Windham, our Senior Vice 
President and General Manager, Enterprise Networks, and other key management  
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personnel. The unplanned departure of one or more of these individuals could adversely affect our business. In addition, for ADTRAN to continue 
as a successful entity, we must also be able to attract and retain key engineers and technicians whose expertise helps us maintain competitive 
advantages. We do not have employment contracts or non-compete agreements with any of our employees. We believe that our future success will 
depend, in large part, upon our ability to continue to attract, retain, train, and motivate highly-skilled employees who are in great demand. 
Properly managing our continued growth, avoiding the problems often resulting from such growth and expansion, and continuing to operate in the 
manner which has proven successful to us to date will be critical to the future success of our business.  

Two stockholders own or may influence a significant amount of our common stock and may continue to have significant influence on 
our affairs.  

Mark C. Smith, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Lonnie S. McMillian, our Director Emeritus, who along 
with Mr. Smith is a co-founder of ADTRAN, together with certain of their family members and family trusts, currently beneficially own 
approximately 45.9% of our common stock. As a result, these individuals and the family trusts may be able to control the election of our Board of 
Directors and in all likelihood will continue to have significant influence over all matters requiring approval by our stockholders.  

The price of our common stock has been volatile and may continue to fluctuate substantially.  

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol ADTN. Since our initial public offering in August 1994, there has 
been and may continue to be significant volatility in the market for our common stock, based on a variety of factors, some of which are beyond 
our control, including the following:  

•            actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;  

•            the gain or loss of significant contracts by us or our competitors;  

•            the entry of new competitors (potentially including the ILECs) into our markets;  

•            changes in management or additions or departures of key personnel;  

•            announcements of technological innovations, new products, changes in product pricing, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, 
joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors;  

•            changes in financial estimates or investment recommendations by securities analysts or our failure to perform in line with 
analysts’ expectations;  

•            legislative or regulatory changes; and  

•            other events and circumstances beyond our control.  

In addition, the stock market has recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations, which have particularly affected the share price 
of many high technology companies like ADTRAN. These fluctuations may be unrelated to the operating performance of these companies.  

ITEM 2.          PROPERTIES  

Our headquarters and principal administrative, engineering and manufacturing facilities are located on an 80-acre campus in Cummings Research 
Park in Huntsville, Alabama. Two office buildings contain 440,000 and 600,000 square feet, respectively. These facilities are projected to 
accommodate a total of 3,000 employees, serving both our Carrier Networks and Enterprise Networks divisions. We also have a 13,000 sq. ft. 
engineering facility in Phoenix, Arizona which is used by our Carrier Networks division.  

In addition to our facilities listed above, we lease additional office space in the United States and abroad, providing sales and service support for 
both of our divisions. The United States offices are located in Akron, OH; Chesterfield, MO; Clearwater, FL; Englewood, CO; Heardon, VA; 
Houston, TX; Huntsville, AL; Irvine, CA; Irving, TX; Leawood, KS; Milford, CT; Naperville, IL; Norcross, GA; Overland Park, KS; and San 
Antonio, TX. We also lease one office in each of Montreal and Toronto, Canada, one each in Hong Kong, Beijing, and Guangzhou, China, one in 
Melbourne, Australia, and one in Bad Homburg, Germany. These cancelable and  
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noncancelable leases expire at various times between 2002 and 2004. For more information, see note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in this report.  

We also have 41 home-based offices serving both our CN and EN divisions, of which 39 are located within the United States, one in London, 
United Kingdom and one in Beijing, China. In the United States, our home-based offices are located in and around the following locations: 
Albany, NY; Akron, OH; Atlanta, GA; Austin, TX; Babylon, NY; Baltimore, MD; Charleston, WV; Chicago, IL; Cincinnati, OH; Columbus, OH; 
Concord, NH; Dallas, TX; Denver, CO; Fort Lauderdale, FL; Hartford, CT; Harrisburg, PA; Houston, TX; Huntsville, AL; Indianapolis, IN; 
Irvine, CA; Lincoln, NE; Los Angeles, CA; Minneapolis, MN; Nashville, TN; Phoenix, AZ; Pittsburgh, PA; Providence, RI; Raleigh, NC; 
Richmond, VA; Roanoke, VA; San Antonio, TX; San Diego, CA; San Francisco, CA; San Jose, CA; Seattle, WA; St. Petersburg, FL; Towaco, 
NJ; Wilkes-Barre, PA; and Windsor, MI.  

ITEM 3.          LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

We have been involved from time to time in litigation in the normal course of our business. We are not aware of any pending or threatened 
litigation matters that could have a material adverse effect on us.  

ITEM 4.          SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS  

No matter was submitted by ADTRAN to a vote of security holders during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2002.  

ITEM 4(A).     EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

Set forth below, in accordance with General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K and Instruction 3 of Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K, is certain 
information regarding the executive officers of ADTRAN. Unless otherwise indicated, the information set forth is as of December 31, 2002.  
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Mark C. Smith     Age 62     
      Mr. Smith is one of the co-founders of ADTRAN     

1995 to present     Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer     
1986 – 1995     Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President     

            
Howard A. Thrailkill     Age 64     

1995 to present     President, Chief Operating Officer and Director     
1992 – 1995     Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer     

            
James E. Matthews     Age 46     

2001 to present     Senior Vice President – Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer     
1999 – 2001     Chief Financial Officer, Home Wireless Networks, Inc.     
1998 – 1999     Chief Executive Officer, Miltope Group, Inc.     
1995 – 1998     Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer, Miltope Group, Inc.     
1992 – 1995     Controller, Hughes Training, Inc.     

            
Thomas R. Stanton     Age 38     

2001 to present     Senior Vice President and General Manger – CN     
1999 – 2001     Vice President and General Manager – CN     
1995 – 1999     Vice President – CN Marketing     
1995     VP – Marketing & Engineering, Transcrypt International, Inc.     
1994 – 1995     Sr. Director, Marketing, E.F. Johnson Company     
1993 – 1994     Director, Marketing, E.F. Johnson Company     

            
Peter C. Voetsch     Age 50     

2001 to present     Senior Vice President – Operations     
1996 – 2001     Plant Manager, DaimlerChrysler Corporation     
1987 – 1996     Business Manager, Electronics Division, DaimlerChrysler Corporation     
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There are no family relationships among the directors or executive officers.  

All officers are elected annually by and serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of ADTRAN.  
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Danny J. Windham     Age 43     
2001 to present     Senior Vice President and General Manager – EN     
1999 – 2001     Vice President and General Manager – EN     
1995 – 1999     Vice President – EN Marketing     
1994 – 1995     Director of Marketing     
1989 – 1994     Manager of Product Management     

            
Robert A. Fredrickson     Age 52     

1996 to present     Vice President – CN Sales     
1996  

   
Vice President, Broadband Business Development, DSC Communications 
Corporation     

1991 – 1996     Senior Director, Access Products, DSC Communications Corporation     
            
Steven L. Harvey     Age 42     

2002     Vice President – EN and Competitive Service Provider Sales     
1999 – 2001     Vice President – Competitive Service Provider Sales     
1996 – 1999     Vice President – EN Sales     
1995 – 1996     Executive Vice President, Data Processing Sciences Corporation     
1991 – 1995     Vice President, Data Processing Sciences Corporation     

            
P. Steven Locke     Age 54     

2000 to present     Vice President – CN Marketing     
1999 – 2000     Vice President, Sprint Local Division Sales for Lucent Technologies     
1997 – 1999     Senior Director of Sales, ADTRAN, Inc.     
1993 – 1997     Vice President and General Manager, Business Network Group, Sprint North Supply    

            
Everette R. Ramage     Age 55     

1999 to present     Vice President – EN Engineering     
1993 – 1999     Engineering Manager, EN DDS Group     

            
Kevin W. Schneider     Age 39     

1999 to present     Vice President – Technology     
1996 – 1999     Chief Scientist     
1992 – 1996     Staff Scientist     
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PART II  

ITEM 5.          MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

ADTRAN’s common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol ADTN since our initial public offering of common 
stock in August 1994. Prior to the initial public offering, there was no established trading market for our common stock. As of January 31, 2003, 
ADTRAN had 400 shareholders of record and approximately 9,200 beneficial owners of shares held in street name. The following table shows the 
high and low sale prices per share for the common stock as reported by Nasdaq for the periods indicated:  
    

 

 
Under current Federal tax law, ADTRAN has operated with a policy of retaining earnings, and presently intends to retain all future earnings for 
use in the development of its business and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  
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2002 Quarters     High     Low  
        

               

First     $ 28.88    $ 23.62   
Second     $ 26.44    $ 18.83   
Third     $ 20.58    $ 15.48   
Fourth     $ 34.26    $ 15.01   
               

2001 Quarters     High     Low  
        

               

First     $ 29.50    $ 19.88   
Second     $ 30.65    $ 18.00   
Third     $ 25.90    $ 17.85   
Fourth     $ 29.05    $ 18.00   
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ITEM 6.          SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

The following selected consolidated financial data concerning ADTRAN for and as of the end of each of the years in the five-year period ended 
December 31, 2002, are derived from the financial statements of ADTRAN, which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 
independent accountants. The selected financial data are qualified in their entirety by the more detailed information and financial statements, 
including the notes thereto. The financial statements of ADTRAN as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for each of the years in the three-year 
period ended December 31, 2002, and the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP thereon, are included elsewhere in this report.  

    

    

Income Statement Data                                   
(in thousands, except per share data)                                   
                                    
Year Ended December 31,     2002     2001     2000     1999     1998     

                  
Sales                              

Carrier Networks Division     $ 218,912    $ 238,367    $ 315,228    $ 230,967    $ 167,500    
Enterprise Networks Division     126,813    148,714    147,721    136,240    119,059    

                     
Total Sales     345,725    387,081    462,949    367,207    286,559    

                     
Cost of Sales     170,790    213,760    233,430    178,629    130,010    
                     

Gross profit     174,935    173,321    229,519    188,578    156,549    
                     
Selling, general and administrative expenses     81,116    95,954    87,116    71,735    62,061    
Research and development expenses     56,295    58,935    50,628    42,018    37,222    
                     

Operating income     37,524    18,432    91,775    74,825    57,266    
                     
Interest income     9,113    8,077    9,025    5,350    5,824    
Interest expense     (2,572 )  (2,069 )  (1,802 )  (2,312 )  (2,287 )  
Other income (expense)     133    (28 )  (4 )  (673 )  (188 )  
Net realized investment gains (losses)     (12,022 )  (674 )  84,040    0    0    
                     

Income before provision for income taxes     32,176    23,738    183,034    77,190    60,615    
                     
Provision for income taxes     7,401    6,409    62,232    26,244    20,306    
                     

Net income     $ 24,775    $ 17,329    $ 120,802    $ 50,946    $ 40,309    
                     
Earnings per common share-basic     $ 0.65    $ 0.45    $ 3.13    $ 1.33    $ 1.03    
Earnings per common share assuming dilution (1)     $ 0.65    $ 0.45    $ 3.04    $ 1.31    $ 1.03    
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic     38,045    38,567    38,647    38,335    38,982    
Weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution (1)     38,222    38,676    39,704    38,831    39,164    

Balance Sheet Data                                   
(In thousands)                                   
                                    
At December 31,     2002     2001     2000     1999     1998     

                  
Working capital     $ 203,511    $ 217,387    $ 262,778    $ 181,147    $ 150,535    
         
Total assets     $ 521,213    $ 522,537    $ 546,336    $ 556,296    $ 301,711    
                     
Deferred income tax liabilities     $ 3,955    $ 8,284    $ 15,342    $ 80,265    $ 3,295    
                     
Total debt     $ 50,000    $ 50,000    $ 50,000    $ 50,000    $ 50,000    



 
    (1)   Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options calculated under the treasury stock method. See Notes 1 and 11 of Notes to Financial Statements. 
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ITEM 7.          MANAGEMEN T’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Overview  

ADTRAN designs, develops, manufactures, markets, and services a broad range of high-speed network access products utilized by providers of 
telecommunications services (serviced by our Carrier Networks Division) and corporate end-users (serviced by our Enterprise Networks 
Division). We currently sell our products to a large number of carriers, including all Regional Bell Operating Companies (RBOCs), and to private 
and public enterprises worldwide.  

Sales decreased this year compared to last year due to an overall downturn in the telecommunications market. However, we believe we have 
protected our sources of revenue by maintaining our strategy of increasing unit volume and market share through the introduction of succeeding 
generations of products having lower selling prices and increased functionality as compared to both the prior generation of a product and to the 
products of competitors. An important part of ADTRAN’s strategy is to engineer the reduction of the product cost of each succeeding product 
generation and then to lower the product’s price based on the cost savings achieved. As a part of this strategy, we seek in most instances to be a 
high-quality, low-cost provider of products in our markets. ADTRAN’s success to date is attributable in large measure to our ability to design our 
products initially with a view to their subsequent redesign, allowing both increased functionality and reduced manufacturing costs in each 
succeeding product generation. This strategy enables ADTRAN to sell succeeding generations of products to existing customers, while increasing 
our market share by selling these enhanced products to new customers.  

Our operating results have fluctuated on a quarterly basis in the past, and operating results may vary significantly in future periods due to a 
number of factors. We operate with very little order backlog. A majority of our sales in each quarter result from orders booked in that quarter and 
firm purchase orders released in that quarter by customers under agreements containing non-binding purchase commitments. Furthermore, a 
majority of customers typically require prompt delivery of products. This results in a limited backlog of orders for these products and requires us 
to maintain sufficient inventory levels to satisfy anticipated customer demand. If near-term demand for ADTRAN’s products declines, or if 
potential sales in any quarter do not occur as anticipated, our financial results could be adversely affected. Operating expenses are relatively fixed 
in the short term; therefore, a shortfall in quarterly revenues could significantly impact ADTRAN’s financial results in a given quarter. Further, 
maintaining sufficient inventory levels to assure prompt delivery of our products increases the amount of inventory which may become obsolete 
and increases the risk that the obsolescence of such inventory may have an adverse effect on our business and operating results.  

ADTRAN’ s operating results may also fluctuate as a result of a number of other factors, including increased competition, customer order patterns, 
changes in product mix, timing differences between price decreases and product cost reductions, product warranty returns, and announcements of 
new products by ADTRAN or our competitors. Accordingly, ADTRAN’s historical financial performance is not necessarily a meaningful 
indicator of future results, and, in general, management expects that ADTRAN’s financial results may vary from period to period. See Note 12 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial 
statements. These policies have been consistently applied across our two reportable segments: (1) Carrier Networks Division and (2) Enterprise 
Networks Division.  

•            We review customer contracts to determine if all of the requirements for revenue recognition have been met prior to recording revenues 
from sales transactions. We generally record sales revenue upon shipment of our products, net of any discounts, since: (i) we generally do 
not have significant post-delivery obligations, (ii) the product price is fixed and determinable, (iii) collection of the resulting receivable is 
probable, and (iv) product returns are reasonably estimable. We generally ship products upon receipt of a purchase order from a customer. 
We evaluate shipping terms and we record revenue on products shipped in accordance with the applicable terms of each respective contract. 
We participate in cooperative advertising and market development programs with certain customers. We use these programs to reimburse 
customers for certain forms of advertising and to provide sales incentives, and in general, to allow our customers credits up to a specified 
percentage of their net purchases. Our costs associated with these programs are estimated and accrued at the time of sale, and are included 
in either marketing expenses or as a reduction of sales in our consolidated statements of income. Sales returns are accrued based on 
historical sales return experience, which we believe provides a reasonable estimate of future returns. Product returns are generally only 
permitted by customers who purchase our products under specific sales agreements that govern their rights of return. Prior to accepting a 
new customer, we perform a detailed credit review of the customer. Credit limits are established for each new customer based on the results 
of this credit review. Payment terms are established for each new customer, and future collection experience is reviewed periodically in 
order  
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to determine if the customer’s payment terms and credit limits need to be revised. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for losses 
resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. If the financial conditions of our customers were to deteriorate, 
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, we may be required to make additional allowances. If circumstances change 
with regard to individual receivable balances that had previously been determined to be uncollectible (and for which a specific reserve had 
been established), a reduction in our allowance for doubtful accounts may be required. Our allowance for doubtful accounts was $2,471,732 
and $3,882,099 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. We recorded $2,012,525, $3,297,351 and $5,506 of bad debt expense during 
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

•            We carry our inventory at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined using the first-in, first-out method. We use standard costs 
for material, labor, and manufacturing overhead to value our inventory. Our standard costs are rolled forward on a monthly basis. 
Therefore, our inventory costs approximate actual costs at the end of each reporting period. We write down our inventory for estimated 
obsolescence or unmarketable inventory by an amount equal to the cost of inventory or the estimated market value based upon assumptions 
about future demand and market conditions. If actual future demand or market conditions are less favorable than those projected by 
management, we may be required to make additional inventory write-downs. Our reserve for excess and obsolete inventory was $4,436,724 
and $5,602,920 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Inventory write-downs were $5,651,122, $4,422,823 and $7,016,167 for the 
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

•            The objective of our short-term investment policy is to preserve principal and maintain adequate liquidity with appropriate diversification, 
while emphasizing market returns on our monetary assets. The objective of our long-term investment policy is to emphasize total return; 
that is, the aggregate return from capital appreciation, dividend income, and interest income. This is achieved through investments with 
appropriate diversification in fixed and variable rate income, public equity, and private equity portfolios. During 2002 we changed our fixed 
income investment policy, shortening the maximum maturity from 15 years to five and a one-half years, with consistent dollar maturities, 
year-to-year. We have experienced significant volatility in the market prices of our publicly traded equity investments. These investments 
are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. The ultimate realized value on these equity investments is subject to market price volatility until 
they are sold. We review our investment portfolio for potential “other-than-temporary” declines in value on an individual investment basis. 
We assess, on a quarterly basis, significant declines in value which may be considered other-than-temporary and, if necessary, recognize 
and record the appropriate charge to write down the carrying value of such investments. In making this assessment, we take into 
consideration a wide range of objective and subjective information, including but not limited to the following: the magnitude and duration 
of historical decline in market prices, credit rating activity, assessments of liquidity, public filings, and statements made by the issuer. We 
generally begin our identification of potential other-than-temporary impairments by reviewing any security with a market value that has 
declined from its original or adjusted cost basis by 25% for more than six months. We then evaluate the individual security based on the 
previously identified factors to determine the amount of the write-down, if any. Actual losses, if any, could ultimately differ from these 
estimates. Future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results of underlying investments could result in additional losses 
that may not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying value, thereby possibly requiring an impairment charge in the future. For 2002, 
2001 and 2000, we recorded other-than-temporary write-downs of our marketable equity investments of $9,616,426, $0 and $0, 
respectively. These write-downs are included in net realized investment gains (losses) in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
income.  

We also invest in privately held entities and record our investments in these entities at cost. We review our investments in these entities 
periodically in order to determine if circumstances (both financial and non-financial) exist that indicate that we will not recover our initial 
investment. Impairment charges are recorded on investments having a cost basis that is greater than the value that we would reasonably 
expect to receive in an arm’s length sale of the investment. For 2002, 2001 and 2000, we recorded write-downs of our cost basis 
investments of $2,010,182, $5,528,930 and $1,182,984, respectively. These write-downs are included in net realized investment gains 
(losses) in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.  
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Results of Operations  

The following table presents selected financial information derived from ADTRAN’s consolidated statements of income expressed as a percentage 
of sales for the years indicated.  
    

 
2002 Compared to 2001  

Sales  

ADTRAN’s sales decreased 10.7% from $387,081,000 in 2001 to $345,725,000 in 2002. The decrease was primarily the result of decreased 
spending by our customers, which we believe to be a result of both economic and industry-wide factors. In particular, the decrease in overall sales 
is attributable to a decrease in sales of our Digital Business Transport (DBT)/Total Reach®, and High-bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL)/T1 
products, partially offset by increased sales of our Systems products. Carrier Networks sales decreased 8.2% from $238,367,000 in 2001 to 
$218,912,000 in 2002. Carrier Networks sales, as a percentage of total sales, increased from 61.6% in 2001 to 63.3% in 2002. Enterprise 
Networks sales decreased 14.7% from $148,714,000 in 2001 to $126,813,000 in 2002. Enterprise Networks sales, as a percentage of total sales, 
decreased from 38.4% in 2001 to 36.7% in 2002. Foreign sales increased 14.9% from $17,658,000 in 2001 to $20,296,000 in 2002. The increase 
in foreign sales is attributable to market acceptance of the Carrier Networks Division’s Total Access System, which includes the Total Access® 
3000 and SHDSL (Symmetrical HDSL).  

Cost of Sales  

Cost of sales decreased 20.1% from $213,760,000 in 2001 to $170,790,000 in 2002. The cost of sales decrease is primarily related to the decrease 
in revenues in each respective period and timing differences between the recognition of cost reductions and the lowering of product selling prices. 
As a percentage of sales, cost of sales decreased from 55.2% in 2001 to 49.4% in 2002 and is primarily attributable to product cost reductions, in 
excess of sales price reductions, in the Carrier Networks Division. Carrier Networks cost of sales, as a percent of division sales, decreased from 
60.7% in 2001 to 51.9% in 2002. Enterprise Networks cost of sales, as a percent of division sales, decreased from 46.4% in 2001 to 45.1% in 
2002.  

An important part of ADTRAN’s strategy is to reduce the product cost of each succeeding product generation and then to lower the product’s 
price based on the cost savings achieved. This strategy, as described above, sometimes results in variations in ADTRAN’s gross profit margin due 

(Stated as % of sales)                       
                        
Years Ended December 31,     2002     2001     2000     

            
Sales                    
Carrier Networks Division     63.3 %  61.6 %  68.1 %  
Enterprise Networks Division     36.7    38.4    31.9    
               
Total Sales     100.0    100.0    100.0    
               
Cost of Sales     49.4    55.2    50.4    
               
Gross profit     50.6    44.8    49.6    
               
Selling, general and administrative expenses     23.5    24.8    18.8    
Research and development expenses     16.2    15.2    10.9    
               
Operating income     10.9    4.8    19.9    
               
Interest income     2.6    2.2    1.9    
Interest expenses     (0.7 )  (0.5 )  (0.4 )  
Other expenses     0.0    (0.1 )  0.0    
Net realized investment gains (losses)     (3.5 )  (0.2 )  18.1    
               
Income before provision for income taxes     9.3    6.2    39.5    
               
Provision for income taxes     2.1    1.7    13.4    
               
Net income     7.2 % 4.5 % 26.1 % 
               



to timing differences between the recognition of cost reductions and the lowering of product selling prices. In view of the rapid pace of new 
product introductions by ADTRAN, this strategy may result in variations in gross profit margins that, for any particular financial period, can be 
difficult to predict.  
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Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses  

Selling, general, and administrative expenses decreased 15.5% from $95,954,000 in 2001 to $81,116,000 in 2002. This decrease is a result of a 
reduction in force, mandatory salary reductions, and other cost reductions implemented in the second half of 2001. In the second half of 2002, 
ADTRAN’s operating margins returned to normal levels, allowing the rescission of the mandatory salary reductions, effective September 1, 2002. 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales decreased from 24.8% in 2001 to 23.5% in 2002. ADTRAN historically has 
experienced very little bad debt expense; however, due to the recent financial difficulties in the telecommunications industry, bad debt expense 
was $2,013,000 and $3,297,000 in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percent of sales will generally 
fluctuate whenever there is significant fluctuation in revenues during the periods being compared.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Research and development expenses decreased 4.5% from $58,935,000 in 2001 to $56,295,000 in 2002. As a percentage of sales, research and 
development expenses increased from 15.2% in 2001 to 16.2% in 2002. ADTRAN continually evaluates new product opportunities and engages 
in intensive research and product development efforts. To date, ADTRAN has expensed all product research and development costs as incurred. 
Additionally, ADTRAN frequently invests heavily in up-front new product development efforts prior to the actual commencement of sales of a 
major new product. As a result, ADTRAN may incur significant research and development expenses prior to the receipt of revenues from a major 
new product group. ADTRAN is presently incurring research and development expenses in connection with its new products and its expansion 
into international markets. In today’s challenging industry environment, ADTRAN has maintained its level of investment in research and 
development. This has provided for continued new product development, the enhancement of current products, and product cost reductions. 
Research and development expenses as a percentage of sales will fluctuate whenever there is a significant fluctuation in revenues during the 
periods being compared.  

Interest Expense  

Interest expense increased 24.3% from $2,069,000 in 2001 to $2,572,000 in 2002. This increase is primarily related to an increase in the interest 
rate on our $50,000,000 revenue bond.  

Other Income, Net (Primarily Interest)  

Other income increased 12.8% from $8,077,000 in 2001 to $9,113,000 in 2002. This increase is primarily related to an increase in fixed income 
investments and related investment income and an increase in the interest rate earned on the collateral deposit associated with our $50,000,000 
revenue bond.  

Net Realized Investment Losses  

Net realized investment losses increased from a net loss of $674,000 in 2001 to a net loss of $12,022,000 in 2002. This increase is primarily 
related to an impairment charge for other-than-temporary declines in the market value of investments. We recorded an impairment charge of 
$11,627,000 during 2002 related to 21 equity security investments. The remaining $395,000 of net realized investment loss was realized 
transactional gains and losses in 2002.  

Income Taxes  

Our effective tax rate decreased from 27% in 2001 to 23% in 2002. Pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes was substantially lower 
through 2002 due to the other-than-temporary declines in the market value of certain investments. The higher mix of non-taxable income and 
higher research and development tax credits and economic incentive credits as a percent of taxable income resulted in a substantially lower 
effective tax rate.  

Net Income  

As a result of the above factors, net income increased 43% from $17,329,000 in 2001 to $24,775,000 in 2002. As a percentage of sales, net 
income increased from 4.5% in 2001 to 7.2% in 2002.  
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2001 Compared to 2000  

Sales  

ADTRAN’s sales decreased 16.4% from $462,949,000 in 2000 to $387,080,000 in 2001. The decrease in overall sales is attributable to a decrease 
in sales for our Digital Business Transport (DBT)/Total Reach®, and High-bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL)/T1 products, partially offset 
by increased sales of our Systems products. Carrier Networks sales decreased 24.4% from $314,228,000 in 2000 to $238,367,000 in 2001. The 
decrease in Carrier Networks sales resulted from a downturn in the carrier access market. Carrier Networks sales as a percentage of total sales, 
decreased from 68.1% in 2000 to 61.6% in 2001. Enterprise Networks sales increased 0.7% from $147,721,000 in 2000 to $148,714,000 in 2001. 
Sales volume for Enterprise Networks products remained stable due to market acceptance of ADTRAN’s Integrated Access Devices. As a 
percentage of total sales, Enterprise Networks sales increased from 31.9% in 2000 to 38.4% in 2001.  

Cost of Sales  

Cost of sales decreased 8.4% from $233,429,000 in 2000 to $213,760,000 in 2001. As a percentage of sales, cost of sales increased from 50.4% in 
2000 to 55.2% in 2001. This increase was due primarily to a rise in material cost as a percentage of sales. Carrier Networks cost of sales, as a 
percent of division sales, increased from 53.4% in 2000 to 60.7% in 2001. Enterprise Networks cost of sales, as a percent of division sales, 
increased from 44.1% in 2000 to 46.4% in 2001.  

An important part of ADTRAN’s strategy is to reduce the product cost of each succeeding product generation and then to lower the product’s 
price based on the cost savings achieved. This strategy sometimes results in variations in ADTRAN’s gross profit margin due to timing 
differences between the lowering of product selling prices and the full realization of cost reductions. In view of the rapid pace of new product 
introductions by ADTRAN, this strategy may result in variations in gross profit margins that, for any particular financial period, can be difficult to 
predict.  

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses  

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased 10.1% from $87,116,000 in 2000 to $95,954,000 in 2001. Beginning in mid-year 2000, we 
increased expenditures for the expansion of our infrastructure in both sales and support personnel in an effort to expand our customer base and to 
support increased initiatives in the Enterprise Networks Division and international markets. As a result, selling, general, and administrative 
expenses as a percentage of sales increased from 18.8% in 2000 to 24.8% in 2001. However, during the second half of 2001, selling, general, and 
administrative expenses decreased 4.2% from the second half of 2000 due to a reduction in force and salary reductions. ADTRAN historically has 
experienced very little bad debt expense; however, during 2001, a telecom distributor experienced financial difficulties, causing us to increase our 
allowance for bad debt by $3,148,000. Selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales will fluctuate whenever there is a 
significant fluctuation in revenues during the periods being compared.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Research and development expenses increased 16.4% from $50,628,000 in 2000 to $58,935,000 in 2001. This increase was due to increased 
engineering costs associated with new product introductions and feature enhancement activities. As a percentage of sales, research and 
development expenses increased from 10.9% in 2000 to 15.2% in 2001. ADTRAN continually evaluates new product opportunities and engages 
in intensive research and product development efforts. To date, ADTRAN has expensed all product research and development costs as incurred. 
Additionally, ADTRAN frequently invests heavily in up-front new product development efforts prior to the actual commencement of sales of a 
major new product. As a result, ADTRAN may incur significant research and development expenses prior to the receipt of revenues from a major 
new product group. ADTRAN is presently incurring research and development expenses in connection with its new products and its expansion 
into international markets. In today’s challenging industry environment, ADTRAN has maintained its level of investment in research and 
development. This has provided for continued new product development, the enhancement of current products, and product cost reductions. 
Research and development expenses as a percentage of sales will fluctuate whenever there is a significant fluctuation in revenues during the 
periods being compared.  

Interest Expense  

Interest expense increased 14.8% from $1,802,000 in 2000 to $2,069,000 in 2001. ADTRAN currently pays interest on a $50,000,000 revenue 
bond, the proceeds of which were used to expand our facilities in Huntsville, Alabama.  
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Other Income, Net (Primarily Interest)  

Interest income decreased 10.5% from $9,025,000 in 2000 to $8,077,000 in 2001. The decrease is largely due to lower interest rates compared to 
the prior year.  

Net Realized Investment Gains and (Losses)  

Net realized investment gains and losses decreased 100.8% from a net gain of $84,040,000 in 2000 to a net loss of $674,000 in 2001. The decrease 
is primarily a result of a substantial net realized investment gain in 2000 from the sale of certain marketable securities of a single issuer.  

Income Taxes  

Our effective tax rate declined from 34% in 2000 to 27% in 2001. Pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes was substantially lower in 2001 
and the higher mix of non-taxable income and higher research and development tax credits as a percent of taxable income resulted in a 
substantially lower effective tax rate. Income taxes (without regard to taxes on realized investment gains in the year 2000 of $28,574,000) 
decreased 81.0% from $33,657,000 in 2000 to $6,409,000 in 2001.  

Net Income  

As a result of the above factors, net income decreased 85.7% from $120,802,000 in 2000 to $17,329,000 in 2001. As a percentage of sales, net 
income decreased from 26.1% in 2000 to 4.5% in 2001.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Fifty million dollars of the expansion of Phase III of our corporate headquarters was approved for participation in an incentive program offered by 
the Alabama State Industrial Development Authority (the “Authority”). The incentive program enables participating companies to generate 
Alabama corporate income tax credits that can be used to reduce the amount of Alabama corporate income taxes that would otherwise be payable. 
We cannot be certain that the state of Alabama will continue to make these corporate income tax credits available in the future, and therefore, we 
may not realize the full benefit of these incentives. Through December 31, 2002, the Authority had issued $50,000,000 of its taxable revenue 
bonds pursuant to the incentive program and loaned the proceeds from the sale of the bonds to ADTRAN™. We are required to make payments to 
the Authority in the amounts necessary to pay the principal of and interest on the Authority’s Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995, as amended, 
currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $50,000,000. The bond matures on January 1, 2020, and bears interest at the rate of 5%. 
Included in long-term investments is $50,000,000 of restricted funds, which is a collateral deposit against the principal of this bond. In conjunction 
with this program, we are eligible to receive certain economic incentives from the state of Alabama that reduce the amount of payroll withholdings 
that we are required to remit to the state for those employment positions that qualify under the program. Our economic incentives realized for the 
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $1,156,201, $1,326,221 and $1,553,398, respectively.  

ADTRAN’s working capital, which consists of current assets less current liabilities, decreased 6.4% from $217,387,000 as of December 31, 2001 
to $203,511,000 as of December 31, 2002. The quick ratio, defined as cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, and net accounts receivable, 
divided by current liabilities, decreased from 6.32 as of December 31, 2001 to 5.73 as of December 31, 2002. The current ratio, which is current 
assets divided by current liabilities, decreased from 9.16 as of December 31, 2001 to 7.35 as of December 31, 2002. The decrease in working 
capital and related ratios is primarily a result of shifting investments from short-term to long-term and our share repurchase program.  

Accounts receivable and other receivables decreased 35.8% and 53.6%, respectively, from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2002 due to 
reduced sales volumes and improved collections. Quarterly accounts receivable days sales outstanding improved 20 days from 61 days as of 
December 31, 2001 to 41 days as of December 31, 2002.  

ADTRAN has used, and expects to continue to use, the cash generated from operations for working capital and other general corporate purposes, 
including (i) product development activities to enhance its existing products and develop new products and (ii) expansion of sales and marketing 
activities.  

Inventory decreased 29.8% from $56,849,000 as of December 31, 2001 to $39,926,000 as of December 31, 2002. Annualized inventory turnover 
increased from 2.92 turns as of December 31, 2001 to 3.53 turns as of December 31, 2002. The decrease in inventory is attributable to our 
continued efforts to streamline our production process, work closely and efficiently with our subcontractors, and increase manufacturing velocity.  
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Accounts payable increased 14.4% from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2002. This increase is primarily related to obtaining more favorable 
payment terms with a significant supplier and to a shift in sales mix towards products produced by subcontract manufacturers. Accrued expenses 
increased 9.4% from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2002. This increase is primarily related to the rescission of salary reductions and the 
variations of timing of payments for salaries.  

In July 2001, the board of directors approved the repurchase of 2,000,000 shares of ADTRAN common stock. As of December 31, 2002, we had 
repurchased 1,676,552 shares of our common stock at a total cost of $31,747,000. Of this amount, 1,340,135 shares of our common stock were 
purchased in 2002, at a total cost of $25,207,000. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, ADTRAN issued 187,750 shares, 36,670 shares, and 314,138 
shares, respectively, of treasury stock to accommodate employee stock option exercises.  

On January 28, 2002, ADTRAN’s board of directors approved a voluntary stock option exchange program for its employees, executive officers 
and directors. In conjunction with the exchange offer, ADTRAN filed a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Under the option exchange program, employees, executive officers, and directors who held options to purchase ADTRAN’s 
common stock and who had not received options after July 23, 2001 were given the opportunity to exchange unexercised stock options granted 
prior to September 30, 2000 with exercise prices of at least $40 per share. For every four shares of an eligible option, three shares were made 
available under the new option grant. The newly issued options vest according to the vesting schedule of the tendered options. A total of 1,434,400 
options were tendered and cancelled. As of December 31, 2002, a total of 991,683 new options were granted to qualified participants in the 
exchange program. The new option grant was made on August 30, 2002 at an exercise price of $17.39 per share.  

Capital expenditures totaled approximately $13,216,000 and $32,540,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These 
expenditures were used to expand our headquarters and purchase equipment. Capital expenditures totaling $2,647,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2002 were used to purchase equipment.  

At December 31, 2002, ADTRAN’s cash on hand of $125,092,000 and short-term investments of $19,747,000 placed our short-term liquidity in 
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at $144,839,000. At December 31, 2001, cash on hand was $81,280,000 and short-term 
investments were $26,283,000, which placed our short-term liquidity at $107,563,000.  

At December 31, 2002, ADTRAN’s long-term investments increased by 11.7% to $176,331,000 from $157,902,000 at December 31, 2001. This 
increase was attributable to ADTRAN’s ability to generate cash from operations during 2002 and our transfer of cash in excess of operational 
requirements to long-term investments. Long-term investments at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 include a restricted balance of 
$50,000,000 related to the revenue bonds as discussed above. Additionally, ADTRAN has committed to invest an aggregate of $8,000,000 in two 
private equity funds, of which $835,674 has been invested to date. The duration of each of these commitments is five years with $3,000,000 
expiring in 2005 and $5,000,000 expiring in 2007.  

We intend to finance our operations in the future with cash flow from operations and our remaining borrowed taxable revenue bond proceeds. We 
believe these available sources of funds to be adequate to meet our operating and capital needs for the foreseeable future.  
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ITEM 7A.       QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK  

ADTRAN has not conducted transactions, established commitments or entered into relationships requiring disclosures beyond those provided 
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.  

ITEM 8.          FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA  

The following consolidated financial statements are contained in this report.  
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Report of Independent Accountants  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ADTRAN, Inc.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of ADTRAN, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information 
set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement 
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
    

 
 

26  

            
 
/s/ P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP        

 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Birmingham, Alabama  
January 29, 2003  
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Financial Statements  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
December 31, 2002 and 2001  
   

      2002     2001     
            

                
ASSETS               
Current Assets               

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 125,092,393    $ 81,280,409    
Short-term investments     19,747,205    26,282,961    
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of  

$2,471,732 and $3,882,099 in 2002 and 2001, respectively     38,882,390    60,598,867    
Other receivables     4,459,734    9,609,478    
Inventory, net     39,926,384    56,849,470    
Prepaid expenses     2,649,039    3,486,470    
Deferred tax assets     4,799,390    5,904,755    

            
Total current assets     235,556,535    244,012,410    

            
Property, plant and equipment, net     106,173,833    120,133,445    
Other assets     469,000    489,000    
Deferred tax assets     2,682,464         
Long-term investments     176,330,988    157,901,718    

            
Total assets     $ 521,212,820    $ 522,536,573    

            

                
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY               
                
Current Liabilities               

Accounts payable     $ 17,788,964    $ 15,551,685    
Accrued expenses     8,449,617    7,721,682    
Income taxes payable     5,806,883    3,352,049    

            
Total current liabilities     32,045,464    26,625,416    

            
Bonds payable     50,000,000    50,000,000    
Deferred tax liabilities     3,955,229    8,283,601    

            
Total liabilities     86,000,693    84,909,017    

            
                
                
Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 10)               
                
Stockholders’  equity               

Common stock, par value $.01 per share; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 39,445,198 shares issued in 
2002 and 2001     394,452    394,452    

Additional paid-in capital     96,982,075    96,384,091    
Accumulated other comprehensive income     3,096,669    9,374,389    
Retained earnings     375,009,894    350,233,932    
Less treasury stock at cost: 2,062,621 and 910,236 shares in 2002 and 2001, respectively     (40,270,963 )  (18,759,308 )  

            
Total stockholders’ equity     435,212,127    437,627,556    

            



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity     $ 521,212,820    $ 522,536,573    
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Consolidated Statements of Income  
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  
    

 
    (1)     Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options calculated under the treasury stock method.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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      2002     2001     2000     
               
Sales     $ 345,725,322    $ 387,080,690    $ 462,948,721    
Cost of sales     170,789,635    213,759,507    233,429,280    
               

Gross profit     174,935,687    173,321,183    229,519,441    
               
                     
Selling, general and administrative expenses     81,116,094    95,954,228    87,115,889    
Research and development expenses     56,295,048    58,934,952    50,628,190    
               

Operating income     37,524,545    18,432,003    91,775,362    
               
                     
Interest income     9,112,761    8,076,522    9,024,543    
Interest expense     (2,571,953 )  (2,068,653 )  (1,802,158 )  
Other income (expenses)     133,029    (28,527 )  (4,125 )  
Net realized investment gains (losses)     (12,021,809 )  (673,851 )  84,040,126    
                     
Income before provision for income taxes     32,176,573    23,737,494    183,033,748    
               
Provision for income taxes     7,400,611    6,408,965    62,231,487    
               

Net income     $ 24,775,962    $ 17,328,529    $ 120,802,261    
               
                     
Weighted average shares outstanding     38,045,128    38,567,324    38,647,288    
Weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution (1)     38,221,750    38,676,187    39,704,286    
                     
Earnings per common share – basic     $ 0.65    $ 0.45    $ 3.13    
Earnings per common share – assuming dilution (1)     $ 0.65    $ 0.45    $ 3.04    
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  
   

     

 
ADTRAN issued 187,750 shares, 37,956 shares, and 315,314 shares of treasury stock to accommodate employee stock option exercises during 
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

Comprehensive income in 2002 of $18,498,242 consists of net income of $24,775,962 and unrealized losses on marketable securities of 
$6,277,720 (net of deferred tax).  

Comprehensive income in 2001 of $6,832,630 consists of net income of $17,328,529 and unrealized losses on marketable securities of 
$10,495,899 (net of deferred tax).  

Comprehensive income in 2000 of $24,672,549 consists of net income of $120,802,261 and unrealized losses on marketable securities of 
$96,129,712 (net of deferred tax).  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements .  
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Number Of 

 
shares    

Common  
Stock Par  

Value ($.01  
Per  

Share)     
Additional  

Paid-In  
Capital     

Retained  
Earnings     

Treasury  
Stock     

Unrealized  
Gain on  

Marketable  
Equity  

Securities     
Total  

Stockholders’  
Equity     

                           
                                         
Balance, December 31, 1999     39,445,198   $  394,452   $  93,564,326    $  212,103,142    ($22,009,449 )  $  116,000,000   $  400,052,471    
                           
Net Income                    120,802,261              120,802,261    
Change in unrealized gain on marketable equity securities 

(net of deferred tax of $22,994,436)                              (40,719,712 )  (40,719,712 )  
Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net 

income (net of income tax of $29,954,217)                              (55,410,000 )  (55,410,000 )  
Stock options exercised: various prices per share               140,217         6,627,900         6,768,117    
Purchase of treasury stock: 1,176 shares                         (70,426 )       (70,426 )  
Income tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock 

options               3,002,720                   3,002,720    
                                         
Balance, December 31, 2000     39,445,198   $  394,452   $  96,707,263    $  332,905,403    ($15,451,975 )  $  19,870,288   $  434,425,431    
                           
Net Income                    17,328,529              17,328,529    
Change in unrealized gain on marketable securities (net of 

deferred tax of $4,077,218)                              (7,220,144 )  (7,220,144 )  
Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net 

income (net of income tax of $1,849,820)                              (3,275,755 )  (3,275,755 )  
Stock options exercised: Various prices per share               (339,623 )       793,017         453,394   

Purchase of treasury stock: 215,000 shares                         (4,100,350 )       (4,100,350 )  
Income tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock 

options               16,451                   16,451    
                                         
Balance, December 31, 2001     39,445,198   $  394,452   $  96,384,091    $  350,233,932    ($18,759,308 )  $  9,374,389   $  437,627,556    
                           
Net Income                    24,775,962              24,775,962    

Change in unrealized gain on marketable securities (net of 
deferred tax of $4,002,730)                              (7,088,238 )  (7,088,238 )  

Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net 
income (net of income tax of $457,700)                              810,519    810,519    

Stock options exercised: various prices per share               1,252         3,694,868         3,696,120    
Purchase of treasury stock: 1,340,135 shares                         (25,206,523 )       (25,206,523 )  
Income tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock 

options               596,732                   596,732    
                                         
Balance, December 31, 2002     39,445,198   $  394,452   $  96,982,075    $  375,009,894    ($40,270,963 )  $  3,096,669   $  435,212,127    
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  
    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  

      2002     2001     2000     
               
Cash flows from operating activities                       

Net income     $ 24,775,962    $ 17,328,529    $ 120,802,261    
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash  

Provided by (used in) operating activities:                    
Depreciation     16,405,645    16,798,846    13,418,843    
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment     100,520              
Loss (gain) on sale of short-term investments     (30,954 )  179,729    141,233    
Loss (gain) on sale of long-term investments     426,155    (5,159,414 )  (85,040,126 )  
Write-down of other equity and debt securities     11,626,608    5,653,536    1,000,000    
Deferred income taxes     1,210,392    (2,527,095 )  16,411    
Income tax benefit from exercise of non-qualifying  

Stock options     
  

596,732    
  

16,451    
  

3,002,720    
Change in operating assets and liabilities:                    

Accounts receivable, net     21,716,477    21,534,964    (22,096,955 )  
Other receivables     5,149,743    26,250,108    (31,430,079 )  
Inventory, net     16,923,086    32,403,259    (30,683,956 )  
Prepaid expenses and other assets     857,431    525,968    (2,871,152 )  
Accounts payable     2,237,280    (18,562,147 )  21,339,984    
Accrued expenses     727,935    (838,391 )  1,451,825    
Income taxes payable     2,454,834    (382,185 )  (2,362,225 )  

               
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     105,177,848    93,222,158    (13,311,216 )  

               
Cash flows from investing activities                    

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment     (2,646,553 )  (13,215,927 )  (32,540,097 )  
Proceeds from the disposition of property, plant  

and equipment     
  

100,000    
  

     
  

     
Proceeds from sale of long-term investments     145,509,383    36,281,649    91,118,394    
Purchases of long-term investments     (189,385,000 )  (97,793,588 )  (37,027,741 )  
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments     42,377,322    59,228,684    177,081,903    
Purchases of short-term investments     (35,810,613 )  (53,544,339 )  (168,792,543 )  

               
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (39,855,461 )  (69,043,521 )  29,839,916    

               
Cash flows from financing activities                    

Proceeds from issuance of common stock     3,696,120    453,394    6,768,117    
Purchase of treasury stock     (25,206,523 )  (4,100,350 )  (70,426 )  

               
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     (21,510,403 )  (3,646,956 )  6,697,691    

               
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents     43,811,984    20,531,681    23,226,391    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     81,280,409    60,748,728    37,522,337    
               
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year     $ 125,092,393    $ 81,280,409    $ 60,748,728    
               
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                    

Cash paid during the year for interest     $ 2,527,778    $ 1,867,264    $ 1,802,158    
Cash paid during the year for income taxes     $ 8,497,608    $ 11,760,534    $ 61,760,406    
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

Note 1 - Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

ADTRAN™, Inc. designs, develops, manufactures, markets, and services a broad range of high-speed network access products utilized by 
providers of telecommunications services (serviced by ADTRAN’s Carrier Networks Division) and corporate end-users (serviced by ADTRAN’s 
Enterprise Networks Division) to implement advanced digital data services over public and private networks. ADTRAN’s products are used 
primarily in the “last mile” of the network, or the local loop. The last mile is that segment of a telecommunications network that connects end-user 
subscribers to a service provider’s closest facility. Our products typically connect two ends of a telecommunications circuit, and serve to transmit 
data, voice, and video over that circuit.  

Principles of Consolidation  

ADTRAN’s consolidated financial statements include ADTRAN and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-company accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents represent demand deposits, money market accounts and short-term investments classified as held-to-maturity (see Note 
2) with original maturities of three months or less.  

Financial Instruments  

The carrying amount reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair 
value due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying amount reported for bonds payable approximates 
fair value because the underlying instruments are at variable rates that re-price frequently.  

Investments represent re-marketed preferred stocks, municipal bonds and marketable equity securities. Re-marketed preferred stocks are designed 
to be marketed as money market instruments. These instruments’ dividend rates reset on a short-term basis to maintain the price of the instruments 
at par. These instruments may be redeemed on the date the interest rate resets. The fair value of short-term investments is estimated based on 
quoted market prices (see Note 2).  

Long-term investments represent restricted money market funds, municipal bonds, marketable equity securities, and other equity and debt 
investments (see Note 2). The fair value of the restricted money market funds approximate fair value due to a variable interest rate. Marketable 
equity securities are reported at market value as determined by the most recently traded price of the securities at the balance sheet date, although 
the securities may not be readily marketable due to the size of the available market. Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, are reported as a 
separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses on sales of securities are computed under the specific identification method 
and are included in current income. ADTRAN periodically reviews its investment portfolio for investments considered to have sustained an other-
than-temporary decline in value. Impairment charges for other-than-temporary declines in value are recorded as realized losses in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income (see Note 2). ADTRAN’s investments at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are classified as 
available-for-sale or held-to-maturity.  

Other Receivables  

Other receivables are comprised primarily of accrued interest, amounts due from subcontract manufacturers for product component sales, and 
rebates due from vendors.  

Inventory  

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined using the first-in, first-out method. Standard costs for material, 
labor, and manufacturing overhead are used to value inventory. All standard costs are rolled forward on a monthly basis. Therefore, inventory 
costs approximate actual costs at the end of each reporting period. ADTRAN establishes reserves for estimated excess, obsolete, or unmarketable 
inventory by an amount equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value of the inventory based upon 
assumptions about future demand and market conditions. When excess and obsolete inventories are disposed of by ADTRAN, the related write-
downs are charged against the inventory reserve.  
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Property, Plant and Equipment  

Property, plant and equipment, which are stated at cost, are depreciated using methods which approximate straight-line depreciation over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. ADTRAN depreciates its building and land improvements from five to 39 years, office machinery and 
equipment from three to seven years, and its engineering machinery and equipment from three to seven years. Expenditures for repairs and 
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred; betterments which materially prolong the lives of the assets are capitalized. The cost of assets 
retired or otherwise disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gain or loss on such disposition 
is included in income.  

Liability for Warranty Returns  

ADTRAN’s products generally include warranties of one to 10 years for product defects. ADTRAN accrues for warranty returns at the cost to 
repair or replace the defective products at the time revenue is recognized. ADTRAN engages in extensive product quality programs and processes, 
including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of our component suppliers. Our warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, 
material usage and other rework costs incurred in correcting a product failure. The liability for warranty returns totaled $1,384,429 and $1,276,753 
at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These liabilities are included in accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

ADTRAN reviews long-lived assets for impairment under the guidance prescribed by SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal 
of Long-Lived Assets . ADTRAN evaluates long-lived assets used in operations for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are 
less than the assets’ carrying values. An impairment loss would be recognized in the amount by which the recorded value of the asset exceeds the 
fair value of the asset, measured by the quoted market price of an asset or an estimate based on the best information available in the circumstances. 
There were no such losses recognized during 2002, 2001 and 2000.  

Research and Development Costs  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs totaled $56,295,048, $58,934,952 and $50,628,190 for 
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

Advertising Costs  

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $2,744,093, $2,897,931 and $3,191,014 for the years ended December 31, 
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

Comprehensive Income  

Comprehensive income consists of all changes in equity (net assets) during a period from non-owner sources. Items included in comprehensive 
income include net income and changes in unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities. Comprehensive income is presented in the 
consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity.  

Income Taxes  

The provision for income taxes has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income taxes. Under this approach, 
deferred taxes represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. 
The provision for income taxes represents income taxes paid or payable for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. 
Deferred taxes result from the difference between financial and tax bases of the company’s assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax 
rates and tax laws when changes are enacted. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a 
tax benefit will not be realized.  

Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is generally recognized upon shipment of the product to the customer in accordance with terms of the sales agreement, or in the case of 
remote customer located warehouses, upon delivery to the customer. Shipping fees are recorded as revenue and the related cost is included in cost 
of sales. Revenue is recorded net of discounts. Also, revenue is recorded when the product price is fixed and determinable, collection of the 
resulting receivable is probable, and product returns are reasonably estimable.  
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ADTRAN participates in cooperative advertising and market development programs with certain customers. These programs are used to 
reimburse customers for certain forms of advertising and to provide sales incentives, and in general, allow customers credit up to a specified 
percentage of their net purchases. The costs associated with these programs are estimated and accrued at the time of sale, and are included in 
either marketing expenses or as a reduction of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.  

Other Income (Expense)  

Other income (expense) includes miscellaneous income, gains or losses on foreign currency translations, gains or losses on the disposal of 
property, plant, and equipment, and raw material scrap sales.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

ADTRAN records compensation expense for all stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method in which compensation expense, 
if any, is measured as the excess of the market price of the stock over the exercise price of the award on the measurement date (see Note 7).  

Earnings Per Share  

Earnings per common share, and earnings per common share assuming dilution, are based on the weighted average number of common and, when 
dilutive, common equivalent shares outstanding during the year (see Note 11).  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.  

Reclassifications  

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements in order to conform to the 2002 presentation. 
These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income, cash flows from operations, or total stockholders’ equity.  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards  

In May 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FAS 13, and 
Technical Corrections as of April 2002. This statement rescinds FASB Statement No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of 
Debt , and FASB Statement No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements. The statement also rescinds FASB 
Statement No. 44, Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers , and amends FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases , to eliminate 
an inconsistency between the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that 
have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback transactions. This statement also amends other existing authoritative pronouncements to 
make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under changed conditions. SFAS No. 145 does not currently 
impact ADTRAN.  

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities , 
which is effective for disposal or exit activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. This statement addresses financial accounting and 
reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for 
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring) . The statement 
requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity shall be recognized and measured initially at its fair value in the 
period in which the liability is incurred, except for liabilities for one-time termination benefits that are incurred over time. In the unusual 
circumstance in which fair value cannot be reasonably estimated, the liability shall be recognized initially in the period in which fair value can be 
reasonably estimated. The impact of SFAS No. 146 on ADTRAN’s financial statements is not expected to be material.  

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and 
Disclosure – an Amendment of FAS 123 , which is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. This 
Statement amends FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition for a 
voluntary change to the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee  
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compensation. In addition, this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of Statement 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual 
and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on 
reported results. The disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 have been included in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.  

Note 2 - Investments  

ADTRAN classifies its securities as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, ADTRAN held the following 
securities, recorded at either fair value or amortized cost, which approximates fair value.  
    

    

 
Gross realized gains on the sale of securities were approximately $1,354,000, $6,046,000 and $85,223,000 for the years ended December 31, 
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Gross realized losses on the sale of securities were approximately $1,749,000, $1,191,000 and $0 for the years 
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. During 2002, ADTRAN recognized gross losses of $9,616,426 on available-for-sale 
equity investments due to impairments that were deemed to be other-than-temporary.  

ADTRAN also invests in privately-held companies and records its investments in these entities at cost. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
ADTRAN had $1,314,369 and $3,125,582, respectively, of investments carried at cost. These investments are included in ADTRAN’s total long-
term investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We review our investments in these entities periodically in order to determine 
if circumstances (both financial and non-financial) exist that indicate that we will not recover our initial investment. Impairment charges are 
recorded on investments having a cost basis that is greater than the value that we would reasonably expect to receive in an arm’s length sale of the 
investment. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, ADTRAN recognized gross losses of $2,010,000, $5,528,930 and $1,182,984, respectively, on cost 
basis investments.  

ADTRAN has committed to invest an aggregate of $8,000,000 in two private equity funds, of which $835,674 has been invested to date. The 
duration of each of these commitments is five years with $3,000,000 expiring in 2005 and $5,000,000 expiring in 2007. This  
 

December 31, 2002                             

      
Cost or  

Amortized Cost     
Gross  

Unrealized Gains     
Gross  

Unrealized Losses     
Fair  

Values     
                  
Available-for -sale securities                             
Restricted money market funds     $ 50,000,000              $ 50,000,000    
Municipal bonds and fixed income  

mutual funds     103,849,011    $ 2,072,966    ($237,488 )  105,684,488    
Marketable equity securities     22,669,021    3,831,397    (1,099,930 )  25,400,488    
Other equity securities     910,674              910,674    
Total available-for-sale securities     $ 177,428,706    $ 5,904,363    ($1,337,418 )  $ 181,995,651    
                  
Held-to-maturity securities                         
Municipal bonds and other  

government fixed income securities     $ 13,678,847              $ 13,678,847    
Other debt securities     403,695              403,695    
Total held-to-maturity securities     $ 14,082,542              $ 14,082,542    
                        

December 31, 2001                         

      
Cost or  

Amortized Cost     
Gross  

Unrealized Gains     
Gross  

Unrealized Losses     
Fair  

Values     
                  
Available-for -sale securities                         
Restricted money market funds     $ 50,000,000              $ 50,000,000    
Municipal bonds and fixed income mutual funds     71,396,689    $ 242,072    ($684,961 )  70,953,800    
Marketable equity securities     19,004,225    16,872,101    (1,743,808 )  34,132,518    
Other equity securities     811,705              811,705    
Total available-for -sale securities     $ 141,212,619    $ 17,114,173    ($2,428,769 )  $ 155,898,023    
                  
Held-to-maturity securities                         
Municipal bonds and other government fixed income securities     $ 25,972,779              $ 25,972,779    
Other debt securities     2,313,877              2,313,877    
Total held-to-maturity securities     $ 28,286,656              $ 28,286,656    
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investment is included in ADTRAN’s total available-for-sale investments and is classified as long-term investments in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.  

Note 3 - Inventory  

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, inventory was comprised of the following:  
   

 
Note 4 - Property, Plant and Equipment  

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, property, plant and equipment was comprised of the following:  
   

 
Note 5 - Alabama State Industrial Development Authority Financing and Economic Incentives  

In conjunction with an expansion of its Huntsville, Alabama, facility, ADTRAN was approved for participation in an incentive program offered by 
the State of Alabama Industrial Development Authority (the “Authority”). Pursuant to the program, on January 13, 1995, the Authority issued 
$20,000,000 of its taxable revenue bonds and loaned the proceeds from the sale of the bonds to ADTRAN. The bonds were originally purchased 
by AmSouth Bank of Alabama, Birmingham, Alabama, (the “Bank”). First Union National Bank of Tennessee, Nashville, Tennessee, (the 
“Bondholder”) purchased the original bonds from the Bank and made further advances to the Authority, bringing the total amount outstanding to 
$50,000,000. An Amended and Restated Taxable Revenue Bond (“Amended and Restated Bond”), was issued and the original financing 
agreement was amended. The Amended and Restated Bond bears interest, payable monthly. In 2002, the interest rate was 5%. The Amended and 
Restated Bond matures on January 1, 2020. ADTRAN is required to make payments to the Authority in amounts necessary to pay the principal of 
and interest on the Amended and Restated Bond. Included in long-term investments is $50,000,000, which is restricted money market funds, 
which serves as collateral deposit against the principal of this bond. In conjunction with this program, ADTRAN is eligible to receive certain 
economic incentives from the state of Alabama that reduce the amount of payroll withholdings that ADTRAN is required to remit to the state for 
those employment positions that qualify under the program. ADTRAN’s economic incentives realized for the years ended December 31, 2002, 
2001 and 2000 were $1,156,201, $1,326,221 and $1,553,398, respectively.  
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      2002     2001     
            
Raw materials     $ 23,258,717    $ 38,441,408    
Work in process     2,839,380    5,154,555    
Finished goods     18,265,011    18,856,427    
Inventory Reserve     (4,436,724 )  (5,602,920 )  
            
Total     $ 39,926,384    $ 56,849,470    
            

      2002     2001     
            
Land     $ 4,263,104     $ 4,263,104     
Building     70,296,407    70,151,495    
Land improvements     14,442,095    14,430,404    
Office machinery and equipment     51,122,548    49,890,659    
Engineering machinery and equipment     51,144,560    51,490,165    
            
Total Property, Plant and Equipment     191,268,714    190,225,827    
Less accumulated depreciation     (85,094,881 )  (70,092,382 )  
            
Total Property, Plant and Equipment (net)     $ 106,173,833     $ 120,133,445     
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Note 6 - Income Taxes  

A summary of the components of the provision for income taxes as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is as follows:  
   

 
The provision for income taxes differs from the amounts computed by applying the Federal statutory rate due to the following:  
   

 
Temporary differences which created deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:  
   

 
No valuation allowance was deemed necessary by management as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, as the realization of recorded deferred tax 
assets is considered more likely than not.  
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      2002     2001     2000     
               
Current                    
Federal     $ 9,864,051    $ 6,919,148    $ 58,300,783    
State     857,743    2,016,912    3,914,293    
               
Total Current     10,721,794    8,936,060    62,215,076    
Deferred tax provision (benefit)     (3,321,183 )  (2,527,095 )  16,411    
               
Total provision for income taxes     $ 7,400,611    $ 6,408,965    $ 62,231,487    
               

      2002     2001     2000     
               
                     
Tax provision computed at the federal statutory rate (35% in 2002, 2001 and 2000)     $ 11,261,801    $ 8,307,916    $ 64,061,831    
State income tax provision, net of federal benefit     1,380,277    2,314,296    4,097,688    
Federal research credits     (2,200,000 )  (2,386,068 )  (2,970,013 )  
Tax exempt income     (1,724,295 )  (897,771 )  (1,060,586 )  
State tax incentives     (1,156,201 )  (1,326,221 )  (1,553,398 )  
Other     (160,971 )  396,813    (344,035 )  
               
Total provision for income taxes     $ 7,400,611    $ 6,408,965    $ 62,231,487    
               

      2002     2001     
            

      Current     Non-current     Current     Non-current     
                  
Accumulated depreciation          ($4,650,784 )       ($5,310,950 )  
Investments          3,799,191         (2,972,651 )  
Accounts receivable     $ 892,048         $ 1,644,845         
Inventory     1,807,156         2,735,264         
Accruals     2,100,186    (421,172 )  1,524,646         
                  

Deferred tax asset (liability)     $ 4,799,390      ($1,272,765 )  $ 5,904,755      ($8,283,601 )  
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Note 7 - Stock Option Plans  

The board of directors of ADTRAN™ adopted the 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “1996 Plan”) effective February 14, 1996, as 
amended, under which 8,488,100 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance to certain employees and officers through incentive stock 
options and non-qualified stock options. ADTRAN currently has options outstanding under its 1986 Employee Incentive Stock Option Plan (the 
“1986 Plan”), which expired on February 14, 1996. Options granted under the 1996 Plan or the 1986 Plan become exercisable after one year of 
continued employment, normally pursuant to a four or five-year vesting schedule beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. Expiration 
dates of options outstanding under the 1996 Plan and the 1986 Plan at December 31, 2002, range from 2003 to 2012.  

The board of directors of ADTRAN adopted the Directors Stock Option Plan (“Directors Plan”) effective October 31, 1995, as amended, under 
which 200,000 shares of common stock have been reserved. The Directors Plan is a formula plan to provide options to directors of ADTRAN. At 
December 31, 2002, 182,250 options had been granted under the Directors Plan. Expiration dates of options outstanding under the Directors Plan 
at December 31, 2002, range from 2005 to 2012.  

On January 28, 2002, ADTRAN’s board of directors approved a voluntary stock option exchange program for its employees, executive officers 
and directors. In conjunction with the exchange offer, ADTRAN filed a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Under the option exchange program, employees, executive officers and directors who held options to purchase ADTRAN’s common 
stock and who had not received options after July 23, 2001, were given the opportunity to exchange unexercised stock options granted prior to 
September 30, 2000, with exercise prices of at least $40 per share. For every four shares of an eligible option, three shares were made available 
under the new option grant. The newly issued options vest according to the vesting schedule of the tendered options. A total of 1,434,400 options 
were tendered and cancelled. As of December 31, 2002, a total of 991,683 new options were granted to qualified participants in the exchange 
program. The new option grant was made on August 30, 2002, at an exercise price of $17.39 per share.  

Pertinent information regarding ADTRAN’s stock option plans is as follows:  
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Number of  

Options     
Range of Exercise  

Prices     
Weighted Average  

Exercise Price     
Vesting  

Provisions    
                  
Options outstanding, December 31, 1999     3,092,485    $ 1.50 - $65.75    $ 30.88    Various    
                  
Options granted     779,415    $ 39.00 - $69.81    $ 67.82    Various    
Options granted     616,185    $ 21.25 - $69.81    $ 67.12    Various    
Options cancelled / forfeited     (155,710 )  $ 18.13 - $69.81    $ 37.36    Various    
Options exercised     (315,314 )  $ 1.50 - $65.75    $ 21.47    Various    
                  
Options outstanding, December 31, 2000     4,017,061    $ 1.67 - $69.81    $ 44.02    Various    
                  
Options granted     1,442,890    $ 19.23 - $28.08    $ 25.54    Various    
Options cancelled / forfeited     (266,746 )  $ 21.31 - $69.81    $ 44.04    Various    
Options exercised     (36,670 )  $ 1.67 - $25.38    $ 12.36    Various    
                  
Options outstanding, December 31, 2001     5,156,535    $ 1.67 - $69.81    $ 27.31    Various    
                  
Options granted     2,156,021    $ 17.37 - $32.90    $ 19.63    Various    
Options cancelled / forfeited     (1,617,309 )  $ 17.39 - $69.81    $ 63.50    Various    
Options exercised     (198,931 )  $ 2.50 - $30.36    $ 19.94    Various    
                  
Options outstanding, December 31, 2002     5,496,316    $ 3.33 - $69.81    $ 24.85    Various    
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002:  

Options Outstanding at December 31, 2002  
    

 
The options above were issued at exercise prices which approximate fair market value at the date of grant. At December 31, 2002, 2 , 725,484 
options were available for grant under the plans. ADTRAN applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for our stock 
option plans. Had compensation cost for ADTRAN’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates 
for awards under those plans consistent with the method prescribed in SFAS No. 123, net income and earnings per share would have been reduced 
to the pro forma amounts indicated below:  

Pro Forma Net Income (Loss) & Earnings (Loss) Per Share  
    

 
The pro forma amounts reflected above are not representative of the effects on reported net income in future years because, in general, the options 
granted typically do not vest for several years and additional awards are made each year. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the 
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:  

Weighted Average Assumptions  
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Range of  
Exercise Prices     

Number  
Outstanding     

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual Life     

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price     
Number  

Exercisable     
Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price     
                  

                                   
$3.33     6,570    0.98       $3.33     6,570    $3.33     

$17.37 - $21.31     2,637,884    7.86     $19.77     1,002,370    $19.31     
$21.81 - $27.50     1,737,282    7.54     $25.41     757,739    $25.33     
$28.06 - $42.72     1,092,880    6.71     $35.50     609,996    $36.05     
$49.56 - $69.81     21,700    7.25     $68.68     11,496    $68.60     

                  

Total     5,496,316                2,388,171          
                  

      2002     2001     2000     
               
Net income - as reported     $ 24,775,962    $ 17,328,529    $ 120,802,261    
Less: stock-based compensation expense, net of tax     (21,997,535 )  (17,868,767 )  (12,277,142 )  
Net income (loss) – pro forma     2,778,427    (540,238 )  108,525,119    
                     
Earnings per share                    

Basic-as reported     $ 0.65    $ 0.45    $ 3.13    
Basic-pro forma     $ 0.07    ($0.01 )  $ 2.81    

                     
Diluted-as reported     $ 0.65    $ 0.45    $ 3.04    
Diluted-pro forma     $ 0.07    ($0.01 )  $ 2.73    

      2002     2001     2000     
               

Dividend yield     0 % 0 % 0 %  
Expected life (years)     4.21    5.00    5.00    
Expected volatility     49.6 % 53.1 % 55.4 %  
Risk-free interest rate     3.30 % 4.72 % 6.18 %  
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Note 8 - Employee Benefit Plan  

Effective January 1, 1990, ADTRAN™ adopted a savings plan (the “Savings Plan”) for the benefit of eligible employees. The Savings Plan 
allows employees to contribute part of their compensation to the plan on a tax-deferred basis, and requires ADTRAN to contribute an amount 
equal to 3% of compensation each year for eligible employees who have completed a year of service. The Savings Plan is intended to qualify 
under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and is intended to be a “safe harbor” 401(k) 
plan under code Section 401(k)(12). Prior to January 1, 2001, ADTRAN contributed matching contributions in an amount equal to 50% of each 
eligible employee’s elective deferrals under the Savings Plan, up to 5% of the employee’s compensation for the plan year. Effective January 1, 
2001, the plan requires ADTRAN to contribute a “safe harbor” amount equal to 3% of compensation each year for eligible employees who have 
completed a year of service up to the statutory maximum compensation ($200,000 for 2002). Employees who become eligible for the safe harbor 
contribution during the plan year are eligible for 3% of compensation, including compensation earned during any portion of the plan year during 
which the employee was eligible to defer, but not yet eligible for the safe harbor contribution. All contributions under the Savings Plan are 100% 
vested. Charges to operations for the Savings Plan amounted to approximately $2,097,000, $2,456,000 and $1,368,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively.  

Note 9 - Segment Information and Major Customers  

ADTRAN operates two reportable segments: (1) Carrier Networks Division and (2) Enterprise Networks Division. The accounting policies of the 
segments are the same as those described in the “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” (see Note 1) to the extent that such policies affect 
the reported segment information. ADTRAN evaluates the performance of its segments based on gross profit; therefore, selling, general and 
administrative costs, as well as research and development, interest income/expense, and provision for taxes, is reported on an entity-wide basis 
only. There are no intersegment revenues.  

The following table presents information about the reported sales and gross profit of our reportable segments for each of the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. Asset information by reportable segment is not reported, since ADTRAN does not produce such information 
internally.  

Sales by Market Segment  
(In Thousands)  
    

 
The following is sales information by product and geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:  

Sales by Product  
(In Thousands)  
    

 
Sales by Geographic Region  
(In Thousands)  
    

      2002     2001     2000     
               

      Sales     Gross Profit     Sales     Gross Profit     Sales     Gross Profit     
                        

Carrier Networks     $ 218,912    $ 105,277    $ 238,367    $ 93,644    $ 315,228    $ 146,886    
Enterprise Networks     126,813    69,659    148,714    79,677    147,721    82,633    

                        
Total     $ 345,725    $ 174,936    $ 387,081    $ 173,321    $ 462,949    $ 229,519    

                        

      2002     2001     2000     
               

Digital Business Transport (DBT) / Total Reach®     $ 44,932    $ 86,794    $ 141,996    
High-bit-rate Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) / T1     177,653    192,850    233,073    
Systems     123,140    107,437    87,880    

               
Total     $ 345,725    $ 387,081    $ 462,949    

               

      2002     2001     2000     
               
United States     $ 325,429    $ 369,422    $ 448,810    
All Other     20,296    17,659    14,139    
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Total     $ 345,725    $ 387,081    $ 462,949    
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Sales of ADTRAN’s network access equipment to Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers (ILECs) and major independent telecommunications 
companies amounted to approximately 57%, 59% and 56% of total sales during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. 
ADTRAN’s Enterprise Networks Division sells a significant portion of products to value-added resellers through a multi-tier distribution system. 
Sales of this type amounting to 25%, 26% and 26% of ADTRAN’s revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively, were routed through four primary fulfillment distributors.  

As of December 31, 2002, long-lived assets totaled $106,173,835, which includes $106,043,657 held in the United States and $130,179 held 
outside the United States. As of December 31, 2001, long-lived assets totaled $120,133,445, which includes $119,960,338 held in the United 
States and $173,107 held outside the United States.  

Note 10 - Commitments and Contingencies  

ADTRAN has certain contingent liabilities resulting from litigation arising in the normal course of business. Although the outcome of any 
litigation can never be certain, it is ADTRAN’s opinion that the outcome of such contingencies will not materially affect its business, operations, 
financial condition or cash flows.  

ADTRAN leases office space and equipment under operating leases which expire at various dates through 2005. As of December 31, 2002, future 
minimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases with original maturities of greater than 12 months are approximately as follows:  
    

 
Rental expense was approximately $2,081,000, $2,230,000, and $1,794,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

Additionally, ADTRAN has committed to invest an aggregate of $8,000,000 in two private equity funds, of which $835,674 has been invested to 
date. The duration of each of these commitments is five years with $3,000,000 expiring in 2005 and $5,000,000 expiring in 2007.  
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2003     $  772,222    
2004     282,083    
2005     77,896    
         
Total     $  1,132,201    
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Note 11 - Earnings Per Share  

A summary of the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is as follows:  
   

 
   

 
   

 
       *     ADTRAN reported an impairment charge related to other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of equity securities, resulting in an 

after-tax loss of $7,430,565 ($0.20 per share assuming dilution).  

     **     ADTRAN reported a realized investment gain from the sale of certain marketable equity securities, resulting in an after-tax gain of 
$55,410,000 ($1.39 per share assuming dilution).  
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      For the Year Ended December 31, 2002     
         

      
Income  

(Numerator)     
Shares  

(Denominator)     
Per-Share 
Amount     

               
Basic EPS                    
Income available to common stockholders     $ 24,775,962      38,045,128    $ 0.65 *  
                     
Effect of Dilutive Securities                    
Stock Options          176,622         
                     
Diluted EPS                    
Income available to common stockholders (with dilution) for assumed options exercised     $ 24,775,962      38,221,750    $ 0.65 *  
               

      For the Year Ended December 31, 2001     
         

      
Income  

(Numerator)     
Shares  

(Denominator)     
Per-Share 
Amount     

               
Basic EPS                    
Income available to common stockholders     $ 17,328,529      38,567,324    $ 0.45    
                     
Effect of Dilutive Securities                    
Stock Options          108,863         
                     
Diluted EPS                    
Income available to common stockholders (with dilution) for assumed options exercised     $ 17,328,529      38,676,187    $ 0.45    
               

      For the Year Ended December 31, 2000     
         

      
Income  

(Numerator)     
Shares  

(Denominator)     
Per-Share 
Amount     

               
Basic EPS                    
Income available to common stockholders     $ 120,802,261      38,647,288    $ 3.13 ** 
                     
Effect of Dilutive Securities                    
Stock Options          1,056,998         
                     
Diluted EPS                    
Income available to common stockholders (with dilution) for assumed options exercised     $ 120,802,261      39,704,286    $ 3.04 ** 
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The following options were outstanding during the respective years shown below, but were not included in the computation of that year’s diluted 
EPS because the options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares shown below, therefore, making them 
anti-dilutive under the treasury method.  

Outstanding Options  
   

Note 12 - Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  

The following table presents unaudited quarterly operating results for each of ADTRAN’s last eight fiscal quarters. This information has been 
prepared by ADTRAN on a basis consistent with our audited financial statements and includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal 
recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation of the data.  

Unaudited Quarterly Operating Results  
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)  
   

 
   

 
    (1)     Net Income for the three months ended June 30, 2002 and September 30, 2002 includes other-than-temporary investment impairment 

charges, resulting in an after-tax loss of $853,992 and $6,576,573, respectively.  

    (2)     Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options calculated under the treasury stock method.  
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2002    2001    2000     
       

Options  
Granted    

Exercise  
Price    Expiration    

Options  
Granted    

Exercise  
Price    Expiration    

Options  
Granted    

Exercise  
Price    Expiration     

                   
22,150   $31.75-$41.00    2005    34,450   $30.50-$46.25    2005    226,400   $56.25-$65.75    2006     
13,900   $30.50-$41.50    2006    224,100   $30.50-$65.75    2006    4,000       $65.75    2009     

423,616   $25.38-$42.72    2007    472,566   $25.38-$42.38    2007    1,316,150   $40.00-$69.81    2010     
10,175   $26.25-$31.00    2008    11,675   $26.25-$31.00    2008                   

874,480   $35.86-$39.69    2009    967,140   $25.38-$51.44    2009                   
60,000   $39.00-$69.81    2010    1,274,364   $39.00-$69.81    2010                   

1,310,654   $25.34-$28.08    2011    1,396,090   $25.34-$28.08    2011                   
85,500   $25.97-$32.90    2012                                  

Three Months Ended        March 31, 2002     June 30, 2002     September 30, 2002     December 31, 2002     
                  

                          
Net sales     $ 83,342    $ 85,784    $ 88,180    $ 88,419    
Gross profit     $ 39,359    $ 41,623    $ 45,525    $ 48,429    
Operating income     $ 4,735    $ 6,710    $ 11,930    $ 14,150    
Net income (1)     $ 4,341    $ 4,967    $ 3,358    $ 12,110    
Earnings per common share assuming dilution (2)     $ 0.11    $ 0.13    $ 0.09    $ 0.32    
Earnings per common share     $ 0.11    $ 0.13    $ 0.09    $ 0.32    
                  

Three Months Ended        March 31, 2001     June 30, 2001     September 30, 2001     December 31, 2001     
                  

                          
Net sales     $ 105,276    $ 97,198    $ 95,513    $ 89,094    
Gross profit     $ 45,434    $ 45,559    $ 42,399    $ 39,929    
Operating income     $ 4,521    $ 5,796    $ 5,098    $ 3,017    
Net income     $ 3,959    $ 4,637    $ 4,950    $ 3,783    
Earnings per common share assuming dilution (2)     $ 0.10    $ 0.12    $ 0.13    $ 0.10    
Earnings per common share     $ 0.10    $ 0.12    $ 0.13    $ 0.10    
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ITEM 9.          CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

No independent certified public accountant of ADTRAN has resigned, indicated any intent to resign or been dismissed as the independent certified 
public accountant of ADTRAN during the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 or subsequent thereto.  

PART III  

ITEM 10.        DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

Information relating to nominees for director of ADTRAN and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is set forth 
under the captions “Proposal 1–Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” respectively, in the 
Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 10, 2003. Such information is incorporated herein by reference. The 
definitive Proxy Statement was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2003. Information relating to the executive 
officers of ADTRAN, pursuant to Instruction 3 of Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K and General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, is set forth at Part I, 
Item 4(A) of this report under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant.” Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 11.        EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

Information required by this Item 11 relating to executive compensation and other matters is set forth under the captions “Executive 
Compensation,” “Proposal 1–Election of Directors–Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation,” 
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Stock Performance Graph” in the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 
above. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 12.        SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT  

Information relating to ownership of common stock of ADTRAN by certain persons is set forth under the caption “Share Ownership of Principal 
Stockholders and Management” in the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above. Such information is incorporated herein by reference. 
Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans of ADTRAN is set forth under the caption “Equity 
Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 13.        CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS  

Information relating to existing or proposed relationships or transactions between ADTRAN and any affiliate of ADTRAN is set forth under the 
caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above. Such information is incorporated 
herein by reference.  

ITEM 14.        CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c)) for the 
company. Our disclosure controls and procedures include our “internal controls,” as that term is used in Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 and described in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Release No. 34-46427 (August 29, 2002). Our chief executive officer and chief 
financial officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days before the filing date of 
this annual report, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are adequate and effective in timely alerting them to material 
information relating to us (including our consolidated subsidiaries ) required to be included in our periodic SEC filings.  

(b) Changes in internal controls. There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect those 
controls subsequent to the date of the evaluation. As a result, there were no corrective actions to be taken.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15.        EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  

(a)         Documents Filed as Part of This Report.  

1.           Consolidated Financial Statements  

The consolidated financial statements of ADTRAN and the related report of independent auditors thereon are set forth under 
Part II, Item 8 of this report.  

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001  

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

2.           Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules  

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

3.           Exhibits  

The following exhibits are filed with or incorporated by reference in this report. Where such filing is made by incorporation by reference to a 
previously filed registration statement or report, such registration statement or report is identified in parentheses. We will furnish any exhibit upon 
request to: ADTRAN, Inc., Attn: Investor Relations, P.O. Box 140000, 901 Explorer Boulevard, Huntsville, Alabama 35814. There is a charge of 
$.50 per page to cover expenses for copying and mailing.  
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Exhibit  
Number  Description  

      
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 33-81062 (the 

“Form S-1 Registration Statement” )).  
      

3.2  Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.2 to ADTRAN’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).  
      

10.1  Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) issued by the Alabama State 
Industrial Development Authority, consisting of the following:  

      
   

(a)         First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement dated April 25, 1997, among the State Industrial Development 
Authority, a public corporation organized under the laws of the State of Alabama (the “Authority”), ADTRAN and First 
Union National Bank of Tennessee, a national banking corporation (the “Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADTRAN’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997 (the “1997 Form 10-Q”)).  

      
   

(b)        First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated April 25, 1997, between the Authority and ADTRAN (Exhibit 10.1(b) 
to the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(c)         First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(c) to 
the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(d)        First Amended and Restated Specimen Note from ADTRAN to the Bondholder, dated April 25, 1997 (Exhibit 10.1(d) to 
the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(e)         Amended and Restated Investment Agreement dated January 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and First Union National Bank 
(successor-in-interest to First Union National Bank of Tennessee (the “Successor Bondholder” )).*  

      
   

(f)         Resolution of the Authority authorizing the amendment of certain documents, dated April 25, 1997, relating to the 
$50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project)  
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______________  

       *     Filed herewith  

(b)        Reports on Form 8-K. None  
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Exhibit  
Number  Description  

      
   

             (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 1997 Form 10-Q).  
      

   
(g)        Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement, the First Amended and 

Restated Loan Agreement, the First Amended and Restated Note, and the Investment Agreement (Exhibit 10.1(g) to the 
1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(h)        Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement and First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated 
January 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and the Successor Bondholder.*  

      
10.2  Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994 by and among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAN prior to 

ADTRAN’s initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhibit 10.5 to the 1994 Form 10-K).  
      

10.3  Management Contracts and Compensation Plans:  
      

   
(a)         Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended by the First, Second and Third 

Amendments thereto.*  
      

   
(b)        Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended by the First and Second Amendments thereto.*  

      
   

(c)         Offer to Exchange dated January 28, 2002 (Exhibit (a)(1)(A) to ADTRAN’s Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (the 
“Schedule TO” ) filed on January 28, 2002, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Schedule TO filed on February 13, 2002).  

      
   

(d)        Form of Election Form Concerning Exchange of Stock Options (Exhibit (a)(1)(B) to the Schedule TO filed on January 28, 
2002, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Schedule TO filed on February 13, 2002).  

      
   

(e)         ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.*  
      

   
(f)         First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.*  

      
*23  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  

      
*24  Powers of Attorney.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 19, 2003.  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 19, 2002.  
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ADTRAN, Inc.  
(Registrant)  

 
       

 
By: /s/ J AMES E . M ATTHEWS  

         
         James E. Matthews  

Senior Vice President – Finance,  
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  

Signature     Title        
               
/s/ M ARK C . S MITH     Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director        

Mark C. Smith  
               
/s/ H OWARD A . T HRAILKILL     President, Chief Operating Officer and Director        

Howard A. Thrailkill  
               
/s/ W . F RANK B LOUNT*     Secretary and Director        

W. Frank Blount  
               
/s/ R ICHARD A . A NDERSON *     Director        

Richard A. Anderson  
               
/s/ W ILLIAM L . M ARKS*     Director        

William L. Marks  
               
/s/ R OY J . N ICHOLS*     Director        

Roy J. Nichols  
               
/s/ H. F ENWICK H USS *     Director        

H. Fenwick Huss  
               
/s/ J AMES E . M ATTHEWS     Senior Vice President-Finance,  

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
      

James E. Matthews  

               

*By:  
 
/s/ H OWARD A . T HRAILKILL        

 
 

            
   Howard A. Thrailkill  

as Attorney in Fact  
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CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Mark C. Smith, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, certify that:  

1.           I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ADTRAN, Inc.;  

2.           Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report;  

3.           Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this annual report;  

4.           The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:  

a)          designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
annual report is being prepared;  

b)          evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 
date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and  

c)          presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;  

5.           The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and 
the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

a)          all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses 
in internal controls; and  

b)          any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal controls; and  

6.           The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal 
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, 
including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  
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Date: March 19, 2003        

 
/s/ M ARK C . S MITH  

         
         Mark C. Smith  

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  
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CERTIFICATIONS  

I, James E. Matthews, Senior Vice President – Finance and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:  

1.           I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ADTRAN, Inc.;  

2.           Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report;  

3.           Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this annual report;  

4.           The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:  

a)          designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
annual report is being prepared;  

b)          evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 
date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and  

c)          presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;  

5.           The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and 
the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

a)          all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses 
in internal controls; and  

b)          any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal controls; and  

6.           The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal 
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, 
including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  

   
 

48  

            
 
Date: March 19, 2003        

 
/s/ J AMES E . M ATTHEWS  

         
         James E. Matthews  

Senior Vice President – Finance and Chief Financial Officer  
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SCHEDULE II  
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

    

 
 

49  

      

Balance at  
Beginning of  

Period     Additions     Deductions     

Balance  
at end of  
Period     

                  
Year ended December 31, 2002                         
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts     $ 3,882,099    $ 3,702,749    $ 5,113,116    $ 2,471,732    
Inventory Reserve     $ 5,602,920    $ 4,484,926    $ 5,651,122    $ 4,436,724    
Warranty Liability     $ 1,276,753    $ 3,845,635    $ 3,737,959    $ 1,384,429    
                          
Year ended December 31, 2001                         
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts     $ 813,003    $ 3,253,914    $ 184,818    $ 3,882,099    
Inventory Reserve     $ 4,637,682    $ 5,388,061    $ 4,422,823    $ 5,602,920    
Warranty Liability     $ 1,519,945    $ 3,718,882    $ 3,962,074    $ 1,276,753    
                          
Year ended December 31, 2000                         
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts     $ 1,018,400    $ 20,578    $ 225,975    $ 813,003    
Inventory Reserve     $ 5,306,503    $ 6,347,345    $ 7,016,167    $ 4,637,682    
Warranty Liability     $ 1,519,945    $ 3,326,866    $ 3,326,866    $ 1,519,945    
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Exhibit  
Number  Description  

      
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 33-81062 (the 

“Form S-1 Registration Statement” )).  
      

3.2  Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.2 to ADTRAN’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).  
      

10.1  Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) issued by the Alabama State 
Industrial Development Authority, consisting of the following:  

      
   

(a)         First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement dated April 25, 1997, among the State Industrial Development 
Authority, a public corporation organized under the laws of the State of Alabama (the “Authority”), ADTRAN and First 
Union National Bank of Tennessee, a national banking corporation (the “Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADTRAN’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997 (the “1997 Form 10-Q”)).  

      
   

(b)        First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated April 25, 1997, between the Authority and ADTRAN (Exhibit 10.1(b) 
to the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(c)        First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(c) to 
the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(d)        First Amended and Restated Specimen Note from ADTRAN to the Bondholder, dated April 25, 1997 (Exhibit 10.1(d) to 
the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(e)         Amended and Restated Investment Agreement dated January 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and First Union National Bank 
(successor-in-interest to First Union National Bank of Tennessee (the “Successor Bondholder” )).*  

      
   

(f)         Resolution of the Authority authorizing the amendment of certain documents, dated April 25, 1997, relating to the 
$50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(g)        Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement, the First Amended and 
Restated Loan Agreement, the First Amended and Restated Note, and the Investment Agreement (Exhibit 10.1(g) to the 
1997 Form 10-Q).  

      
   

(h)        Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement and First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated 
January 3, 2002 between ADTRAN and the Successor Bondholder.*  

      
10.2  Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994 by and among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAN prior to 

ADTRAN’s initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhibit 10.5 to the 1994 Form 10-K).  
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______________  

       *     Filed herewith  
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Exhibit  
Number  Description  

      
10.3  Management Contracts and Compensation Plans:  

      
   

(a)        Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended by the First, Second and Third 
Amendments thereto.*  

      
   

(b)        Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended by the First and Second Amendments thereto.*  
      

   
(c)         Offer to Exchange dated January 28, 2002 (Exhibit (a)(1)(A) to ADTRAN’s Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (the 

“Schedule TO” ) filed on January 28, 2002, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Schedule TO filed on February 13, 2002).  
      

   
(d)         Form of Election Form Concerning Exchange of Stock Options (Exhibit (a)(1)(B) to the Schedule TO filed on January 28, 

2002, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Schedule TO filed on February 13, 2002).  
      

   
(e)        ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.*  

      
   

(f)         First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.*  
      

*23  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  
      

*24  Powers of Attorney.  



EXHIBIT 10.1(e) 

AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTMENT AGREEMENT  

This Amended and Restated Investment Agreement (this “ Agreement ”) is entered into as of this 3 rd day of January, 2002, by and 
between ADTRAN, INC. (the “ Borrower ”), a Delaware corporation, and FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK (successor-in-interest to First 
Union National Bank of Tennessee) (the “ Bondholder ”), a national banking association.  

W I T N E S S E T H  

WHEREAS, the State Industrial Development Authority for the State of Alabama (the “ Issuer ”) issued its Taxable Revenue Bond, 
Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) in the principal amount of Fifty Million and No/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00) (the “ Bond ”) to the 
Bondholder pursuant to that certain First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement (as amended from time to time, the “ Financing Agreement 
”) dated as of April 25, 1997 among the Issuer, the Bondholder and the Borrower; and  

WHEREAS, the Borrower and the Issuer entered into that certain First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (as amended from 
time to time, the “ Loan Agreement ”) dated as of April 25, 1997, and the Issuer assigned to the Bondholder all of the rights of the Issuer under the 
Loan Agreement with the intention that the Bondholder enjoy all of the rights of the Issuer thereunder except to the extent of certain rights 
reserved with respect to certain rights to notice and “Additional Payments,” as defined in the Financing Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, as further evidence of its obligations to the Bondholder arising under the Loan Agreement, the Borrower executed that 
certain First Amended and Restated Note (as amended from time to time, the “ Note ”) dated April 25, 1997 payable to the order of the 
Bondholder in the maximum principal amount of Fifty Million and No/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00); and  

WHEREAS, one condition to the Bondholder’s agreement to purchase the Bond was that the Bondholder shall have a first priority 
lien upon certain deposit accounts maintained with the Bondholder to secure the Note and obligations under the Loan Agreement, with such 
deposits to be derived from sources other than the proceeds of the Bond; and  

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Bondholder and AmSouth Bank of Alabama (“ AmSouth ”) entered into that certain Investment 
Agreement (the “ Original Investment Agreement ”) dated as of April 25, 1997, pursuant to the terms and conditions of which the Borrower 
granted to Bondholder a lien and security interest upon certain Deposit Accounts (as defined therein) established with Bondholder and AmSouth; 
and  

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution hereof, the Bondholder and AmSouth are entering into an Assignment and Assumption 
Agreement, pursuant to the terms and conditions of which AmSouth is irrevocably selling and assigning to the Bondholder, and the Bondholder is 
irrevocably purchasing and assuming, AmSouth’s participation interest in the Bond, the Note, the Loan Agreement and the collateral security 
therefor; and  
 

   



WHEREAS, in connection with such sale and assignment from AmSouth to the Bondholder, the Borrower and Bondholder desire to 
amend and restate the Original Investment Agreement in its entirety, pursuant to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.  

NOW, THEREFORE, as an inducement to cause the Bondholder to purchase the Bond, and for other valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, it is agreed as follows:  

1.        Establishment and Maintenance of Certificate of Deposit . Prior to the execution of this Agreement, the Borrower established a 
commercial money market deposit account with the Bondholder bearing the account number 2000010106277 in the amount of Thirty Million and 
No/100 Dollars ($30,000,000.00) (the “ Deposit Account ”). Prior or concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Borrower shall apply the 
amounts on deposit in the Deposit Account, together with an additional Twenty Million and No/100 Dollars ($20,000,000.00) for a total of Fifty 
Million and No/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00), toward the purchase of a 5-year certificate of deposit with the Bondholder (the “ Certificate of 
Deposit ”). The Certificate of Deposit shall be established in the name of the Borrower and is and shall be subject to the restriction that the 
Borrower shall have no access to funds on deposit or applied thereto absent the consent of the Bondholder. The interest rate on the Certificate of 
Deposit shall be a fixed rate throughout the term of the Certificate of Deposit, pursuant to the Loan Agreement.  

2.        Source of Deposited Funds . Funds applied by the Borrower toward the Certificate of Deposit shall not be funds that are 
proceeds of the Bond.  

3.        Definition of Secured Indebtedness . As used herein, “Secured Indebtedness” shall mean all present and future debts and other 
obligations of the Borrower evidenced by the Bond, the Note and the Loan Agreement, as they may hereafter from time to time be amended, 
modified, extended, renewed or restated, and all obligations arising hereunder.  

4.        Security Interest; Assignment . To secure the payment of the Secured Indebtedness, the Borrower hereby assigns, pledges and 
grants a continuing security interest in and lien on the Certificate of Deposit to the Bondholder, together with all replacement certificates of 
deposit, however denominated, and all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “ Account ”).  

5.        Representations and Warranties . The Borrower warrants and represents to the Bondholder the following:  

a.             Title . The Borrower is the sole legal and equitable owner of the Account.  

b.            No Encumbrances . The Account is not subject to any assignment, lien or other encumbrance other than rights in favor 
of the Bondholder pursuant to this Agreement.  

c.             Valid Lien . This Agreement provides the Bondholder with a valid first priority assignment of and lien interest in the 
Certificate of Deposit.  
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d.            Representations and Warranties in the Financing Agreement and Loan Agreement . All of the representations and 
warranties set forth in Article 2 of the Financing Agreement and set forth in Section 2.2 of the Loan Agreement are true and correct as of the date 
hereof.  

6.        Covenants . The Borrower covenants with the Bondholder as follows:  

a.             No Transfer . The Borrower shall not sell or assign the Account in whole or in part and will not grant or allow any 
other lien or encumbrance to attach thereto.  

b.            No Withdrawal . The Borrower shall not withdraw any funds from or otherwise applied to the Account or convert the 
Account to any other savings instrument or account in whole or in part, without the prior specific written approval of the Bondholder; provided, 
however, (i) in the absence of an Event of Default hereunder the Borrower shall be entitled to receive interest accrued on the Account as such 
interest would normally become payable under the terms and conditions of the respective account contracts, and (ii) the Borrower may at any time 
use funds from the Account to prepay the Secured Indebtedness, in whole or in part.  

7.        Perfection . The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Certificate of Deposit is a bank deposit and that the Bondholder’s 
security interest therein is duly protected against lien creditors of the Borrower, bona fide purchasers from the Borrower and the rights of the 
Borrower or a Trustee for Borrower under any filing under the Bankruptcy Code by the absolute control of the Bondholder as to the right of 
withdrawal from the Certificate of Deposit. Should the Bondholder in the future determine that the filing of a financing statement or other action is 
necessary or desirable as further evidence of the perfection of the interest of the Bondholder in the Account, the Borrower shall bear all costs of 
the preparation and filing of such financing statements or the taking of such other action, including the reasonable fees and expenses of the 
Bondholder’s attorneys.  

8.        The Bondholder’ s Right of Set-off . As a further inducement to the Bondholder to purchase the Bond, the Borrower hereby 
grants to the Bondholder (and acknowledges the existence of) the right of set-off against the Account and grants to the Bondholder (and 
acknowledges the existence of) a banker’s lien against the Account, both of which rights serve as additional security for the Secured Obligations.  

9.        The Borrower’s Right of Set-off Against the Bondholder . The Bondholder hereby grants to the Borrower and acknowledges 
the existence of the Borrower’s right to set-off the balance of the Account against and to the reduction of all or part of the balance of the Secured 
Indebtedness in the event that the Bondholder should fail to pay to the Borrower the funds in the Account upon the tender of full payment of 
Secured Indebtedness or upon the tender of partial payment thereof, to the extent such partial payment is then allocated to the Bondholder’s 
interest in the Bond.  

10.      Warranty of the Bondholder . The Bondholder represents and warrants that this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and 
binding obligation of the Bondholder and is enforceable against the Bondholder in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement hereof  
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may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and (ii) general principles of 
equity, including the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.  

11.      Event of Default Defined . The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute an Event of Default 
under this Agreement.  

a.             Financing Agreements . The occurrence of an Event of Default under the Financing Agreement, the Loan Agreement 
or the Note.  

b.            Monetary Default . The Borrower’s failure to pay any amount due to the Bondholder under this Agreement within five 
(5) days of demand.  

c.             Breach of Covenant . The Borrower’s failure to perform or observe any obligation or covenant made herein with 
respect to the Secured Indebtedness.  

d.            Breach of Representation or Warranty . The Borrower’s making of any representation or warranty in connection with 
this Agreement or the Secured Indebtedness that is materially false.  

12.      Remedies Upon Event of Default . Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, the Bondholder may pursue any or 
all of the following remedies without any notice to the Borrower except as required below:  

a.             Withdrawal from Account . The Bondholder may withdraw some or all of the funds in the Account and apply the 
proceeds thereof to the Secured Indebtedness. The Borrower hereby appoints the Bondholder as the Borrower’s attorney-in-fact for the purpose of 
withdrawing funds from the Account in such event.  

b.            Exercise of Set-off . The Bondholder may exercise its right to set-off and lien against the Account.  

c.             Other Remedies . The Bondholder may pursue any other remedy that may be available to it under any other document 
pertaining to the Secured Indebtedness or that may otherwise be available to the Bondholder at law or equity.  

d.            Application of Proceeds . All amounts received by the Bondholder for the Borrower’s account by exercise of its 
remedies hereunder shall be applied as follows: First, to the payment of all expenses incurred by the Bondholder in exercising its rights hereunder, 
including attorney’s fees, and any other expenses due the Bondholder from the Borrower; Second, to the payment of all interest included in the 
Secured Indebtedness, in such order as the Bondholder may elect; Third, to the payment of all principal included in the Secured Indebtedness, in 
such order as the Bondholder may elect; and Fourth, surplus to the Borrower or other party entitled thereto.  

13.      Expenses . Upon demand, the Borrower will advance to the Bondholder or, at the Bondholder’s option, reimburse the 
Bondholder for, the following expenses:  
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a.             Taxes . All taxes that the Bondholder may be required to pay because of the Secured Indebtedness (excluding taxes 
based upon the net income of the Bondholder) or because of the Bondholder’s interest in any property securing the payment of the Secured 
Indebtedness;  

b.            Administration . All expenses that the Bondholder may incur in connection with the preparation, execution, 
administration or enforcement of this Agreement or of any other document pertaining to the Secured Indebtedness;  

c.             Protection of Collateral . All costs of preserving or disposing of any collateral securing the Secured Indebtedness.  

d.            Costs of Collection . All court costs and other costs of collecting any debt, overdraft or other obligation included in the 
Secured Indebtedness, including compensation for time spent by employees of the Bondholder;  

e.             Litigation . All costs arising from any litigation, investigation, or administrative proceeding (whether or not the 
Bondholder is a party thereto) that the Bondholder may incur as a result of the Secured Indebtedness or as a result of the Bondholder’s association 
with the Borrower, including, but not limited to, expenses incurred by the Bondholder in connection with a cause or proceeding involving the 
Borrower under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code or any successor statute thereto;  

f.             Attorneys’  Fees . Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection with any of the foregoing.  

If the Bondholder pays any of the foregoing expenses, they shall become a part of the Secured Indebtedness and shall bear interest at the highest 
rate applicable to the Secured Indebtedness from time to time. This paragraph shall remain in full effect regardless of the full payment of the 
Secured Indebtedness, the purported termination of this Agreement, the delivery of the executed original of this Agreement to the Borrower, or the 
content or accuracy of any representation made by the Borrower to the Bondholder; provided, however, the Bondholder may terminate this 
paragraph by executing and delivering to the Borrower a written instrument of termination specifically referring to this paragraph.  

14.      Consent to Jurisdiction and Service of Process . The Borrower hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of the federal and 
state courts of the State of New Jersey, for the purpose of any litigation to which the Bondholder may be a party and which concerns this 
Agreement or the Secured Indebtedness. It is further agreed that venue for any such action shall lie exclusively with courts sitting in the State of 
New Jersey, unless the Bondholder agrees to the contrary in writing. The Borrower hereby further irrevocably consents to service of process being 
served in any suit, action or proceeding concerning this Agreement or the Secured Indebtedness by mailing a copy thereof by registered mail or 
certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or by overnight courier service, to it at its address set forth herein or in the Loan 
Agreement.  

15.      Not Partners; No Third Party Beneficiaries . Nothing contained herein or in any related document shall be deemed to render the 
Bondholder a partner of the Borrower for  
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any purpose. This Agreement has been executed for the sole benefit of the Bondholder and no third party is authorized to rely upon the 
Bondholder’s rights hereunder or to rely upon an assumption that the Bondholder has or will exercise its rights under this Agreement or under any 
document referred to herein.  

16.      No Marshaling of Assets . The Bondholder may proceed against collateral securing the Secured Indebtedness and against 
parties liable therefor in such order as it may elect, and neither the Borrower nor any creditor of the Borrower shall be entitled to require the 
Bondholder to marshal assets. The benefit of any rule of law or equity to the contrary is hereby expressly waived.  

17.      Notices . Any communications concerning this Agreement or the credit described herein shall be addressed as provided in the 
Financing Agreement.  

18.      No Reliance on the Bondholder’s Analysis . The Borrower acknowledges and represents that, in connection with the Secured 
Indebtedness, the Borrower has not relied upon any financial projection, budget, assessment or other analysis by the Bondholder or upon any 
representation by the Bondholder as to the risks, benefits or prospects of the Borrower’s business activities or present or future capital needs 
incidental thereto, all such considerations having been examined fully and independently by the Borrower.  

19.      Legal and Binding Agreement . The Borrower warrants that the execution and performance of this Agreement will not violate 
any judicial or administrative order or governmental law or regulation, and that this Agreement is valid, binding and enforceable in every respect 
according to its terms, subject to principles of equity and laws applicable to the rights of creditors generally, including bankruptcy laws.  

20.      No Consent Required . The Borrower warrants that the Borrower’s execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement do 
not require the consent of or the giving of notice to any third party including, but not limited to, any other lender, governmental body or regulatory 
authority, except for the Issuer, to who such notice has been given.  

21.      Indulgence Not Waiver . The Bondholder’s indulgence in the existence of an Event of Default hereunder or any other departure 
from the terms of this Agreement shall not prejudice the Bondholder’s rights to declare an Event of Default or otherwise demand strict compliance 
with this Agreement.  

22.      Cumulative Remedies . The remedies provided the Bondholder in this Agreement are not exclusive of any other remedies that 
may be available to the Bondholder under any other document or at law or equity.  

23.      Amendment and Waiver in Writing . No provision of this Agreement can be amended or waived, except by a statement in 
writing signed by the party against which enforcement of the amendment or waiver is sought.  

24.      Assignment . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective heirs, successors and assigns of 
the parties except that the Borrower shall not assign any rights or delegate any obligations arising hereunder without the prior written  
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consent of the Bondholder. Any attempted assignment or delegation by the Borrower without such required prior consent shall be void.  

25.      Entire Agreement; Termination of Existing Investment Agreement . This Agreement and the other written agreements among 
the parties represent the entire agreement among the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, and all oral discussions and prior agreements are 
merged herein. This Agreement is intended to replace and supercede that certain Investment Agreement dated as of April 25, 1997 among 
Borrower, Bondholder (successor-in-interest to First Union National Bank of Tennessee) and AmSouth Bank of Alabama.  

26.      Severability . Should any provision of this Agreement be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions 
hereof shall remain in full effect.  

27.      Time of Essence . Time is of the essence of this Agreement, and all dates and time periods specified herein shall be strictly 
observed, except that the Bondholder may permit specific deviations therefrom by its written consent.  

28.      Applicable Law . The validity, construction and enforcement of this Agreement shall be determined according to the laws of 
the State of New Jersey applicable to contracts executed and performed entirely within the state. In this regard, it is acknowledged that the Note, 
Loan Agreement and Financing Agreement are governed by the substantive laws of the State of Alabama, and the parties wish for New Jersey law 
to apply hereto because the Bondholder has its places of business and all payments on the Secured Indebtedness are due in the State of New 
Jersey.  

29.      Gender and Number . Words used herein indicating gender or number shall be read as context may apply.  

30.      Captions Not Controlling . Captions and headings have been included in this Agreement for the convenience of the parties, and 
shall not be construed as affecting the content of the respective paragraphs.  

31.      Waivers Regarding Damages and Trial by Jury . The Borrower agrees with the Bondholder, and the Bondholder agrees with 
the Borrower, that they shall not have a remedy of punitive or exemplary damages against the other in any dispute arising out of this Agreement, 
and hereby waive any right or claim to punitive or exemplary damages as they have not or which may arise in the future in connection with any 
dispute arising out of this Agreement. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ITS RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN 
ANY ACTION ARISING HEREUNDER.  

32.      Other Concurrent Deliveries to Bondholder . Concurrently with the execution hereof, the Borrower shall have delivered to the 
Bondholder a good standing certificate issued by the Borrower’s state of incorporation within the last thirty (30) days and such Uniform 
Commercial Code lien, tax lien, judgment and pending litigation search results (which results shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Bondholder) as may be requested by the Bondholder.  
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33.      Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one 
and the same document.  

Duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.  
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ATTEST:     ADTRAN, INC.  
 
/s/ P AT G ILL     By:  

 
/s/ J AMES E . M ATTHEWS  

      
Pat Gill  
Executive Assistant  

        James E. Matthews  
  Senior Vice President/CFO  

      FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK  

      By:  
 
/s/ R OBYN G . B EH  

         
          Name:    Robyn G. Beh  

 Title:    Vice President  



EXHIBIT 10.1 (h) 

AMENDMENT TO FIRST AMENDED  
AND RESTATED FINANCING AGREEMENT AND  

FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AGREEMENT  

This Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement and First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (the “ 
Amendment ”) dated as of January 3, 2002, by and between FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK, a national banking association (successor-in-
interest to First Union National Bank of Tennessee) (the “ Bondholder ”), and ADTRAN, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “ Borrower ”).  

WHEREAS, the Bondholder, the Borrower and State Industrial Development Authority (the “ Issuer ”) are parties to a certain First 
Amended and Restated Financing Agreement dated as of April 25, 1997 (as amended, modified and/or supplemented from time to time, the “ 
Existing Financing Agreement ”), and the Borrower and Issuer are parties to a certain First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated as of 
April 25, 1997 (as amended, modified and/or supplemented from time to time, the “ Existing Loan Agreement ”), pursuant to which the Issuer 
agreed to issue a certain Amended and Restated Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) in the authorized principal amount 
of $50,000,000.00 (as amended, modified and/or supplemented from time to time, the “ Bond ”), the proceeds of which the Bondholder agreed to 
loan to the Borrower, which loan is evidenced by a certain First Amended and Restated Note dated as of even date therewith by the Borrower in 
favor of the Bondholder in the maximum original principal amount of $50,000,000.00 (as amended, modified and/or supplemented from time to 
time, the “ Note ”); and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Existing Financing Agreement, the Issuer assigned to the Bondholder all of its right, title and interest in and to 
the Bond, the Existing Loan Agreement and the other Financing Documents; and  

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested the Bondholder, and the Bondholder has agreed, to modify the interest rate applicable to the Note 
pursuant to the Existing Financing Agreement, and to modify certain terms and conditions of the Existing Loan Agreement, all on the terms and 
conditions contained in this Amendment.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual premises herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:  

1.          Definitions .  

a.           All defined terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Existing Financing 
Agreement.  

b.          As used herein and hereafter as used in the Financing Documents, the term “Financing Agreement”, “Amended and Restated 
Financing Agreement” or any other term referring to the Existing Financing Agreement on or after the date hereof, shall mean the Existing 
Financing Agreement as amended by this Amendment.  
 

   



c.           As used herein and hereafter as used in the Financing Documents, the term “Loan Agreement”, “Amended and Restated Loan 
Agreement” or any other term referring to the Existing Loan Agreement on or after the date hereof, shall mean the Existing Loan Agreement as 
amended by this Amendment.  

2.          Amendment to Existing Financing Agreement .  

a.           The definition of “Money Market Account-Based Rate” in Section 1.01 of the Financing Agreement is hereby deleted in its 
entirety and replaced with the following:  

“ Money Market Account-Based Rate shall mean a rate 45 basis points in excess of the Money Market Account Rate, as 
determined on the date of initial issuance of the Amended and Restated Bond and each Interest Payment Date thereafter; provided , 
however , that commencing on January 3, 2002 the Money Market Account-Based Rate shall mean a fixed rate 20 basis points in 
excess of the 5-year CD Rate (as hereinafter defined), as determined on January 3, 2002. For the purposes hereof, “CD Rate” means 
the rate for U.S. dollar certificates of deposit with a maturity date equal to the number of years set forth above, as published in the 
Federal Reserve publication H.15 under the caption “CDs (secondary market)” on the date of determination thereof, or if no such rate 
is reported, then as determined by the Bank from another recognized source of interbank quotation.”  

3.          Conditions to Amendment . Unless otherwise agreed to by the Bondholder in writing, concurrently with the execution of this 
Amendment, and as a condition of its effectiveness:  

a.           The Borrower shall have duly executed and delivered to the Bondholder that certain Amended and Restated Investment 
Agreement dated as of the date hereof (the “ Investment Agreement ”);  

b.          The Borrower shall have duly executed and delivered to the Bondholder that certain letter agreement dated as of the date 
hereof relating to Section 4.03 of the Financing Agreement (the “ Letter Agreement ”);  

c.           The Borrower shall have duly established the certificate of deposit with the Bondholder as required by Section 1 of the 
Investment Agreement; and  

d.          The Borrower shall have paid any fees due and payable in connection with this Amendment and the other Modification 
Documents (as hereinafter defined) and all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by the 
Bondholder in connection with this Amendment.  

4.          The Borrower’s Representations and Warranties . The Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Bondholder as follows:  
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a.           All of the representations and warranties made by the Borrower in the Existing Financing Agreement, the Existing Loan 
Agreement and the other Financing Documents remain true, complete and accurate as of the date hereof and as applied to this Amendment and the 
Financing Documents, except to the extent that the Borrower has advised the Bondholder otherwise in writing.  

b.          No Event of Default and no default exists, and no event has occurred which with notice or lapse of time or both would 
constitute a default or an Event of Default under the Existing Financing Agreement or the Existing Loan Agreement, except to the extent that the 
Borrower has previously advised the Bondholder otherwise in writing and the Bondholder has waived such default in writing, which the 
Bondholder hereby waives, and the Bondholder acknowledges that it is not aware of any existing defaults under the Financing Documents; and the 
Borrower has no claims, defenses or set-offs to its obligations under the Financing Documents.  

c.           As of the date hereof, there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the Borrower from that reflected 
in the most recent financial statements of the Borrower delivered to the Bondholder.  

d.          The execution and performance by the Borrower of this Amendment, the Investment Agreement, the Letter Agreement and 
any other documents and agreements in connection herewith (collectively, the “ Modification Documents ”), have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action, will not violate any provision of law applicable to the Borrower or any provision of its charter or by-laws, will not 
result in a breach of or constitute a default or require any consent under, or result in the creation of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any 
property or assets of the Borrower pursuant to any indenture or other agreement or instrument by which the Borrower or any of its properties may 
be bound or affected. This Amendment and the other Modification Documents constitute legal, valid and binding agreements of the Borrower, 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforceability may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other 
laws affecting creditors’ rights generally.  

5.          Events of Default . A breach of any covenant, representation or warranty set forth in this Amendment or any other Modification 
Document by the Borrower shall constitute an Event of Default under the Financing Agreement and the Loan Agreement.  

6.          Effect of Amendment . Except as expressly amended and supplemented hereby, the Existing Financing Agreement, the Existing 
Loan Agreement, the Bond and all of the Financing Documents in effect as of the date hereof shall remain in full force and effect, unmodified, and 
are enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their respective terms.  

7.          Further Modifications . This Amendment contains all of the modifications to the Existing Financing Agreement and the Existing 
Loan Agreement, and no further or other modifications to the Existing Financing Agreement or the Existing Loan Agreement shall be effective 
unless in writing executed by the Bondholder and the Borrower.  

8.          Binding Effect . This Amendment shall extend to and bind the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  
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9.          Governing Law . This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction applicable 
pursuant to the Loan Agreement.  

10.        Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and 
the same document.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financing Agreement and First 
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.  
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      FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK  
 
    By:  

 
/s/ R OBYN G . B EH  

         
         Name: Robyn G. Beh  

Title: Vice President  

ATTEST:     ADTRAN, INC.  
 
/s/ L UZMA D OUGHTY     By:  

 
/s/ H OWARD A . T HRAILKILL  

      
Luzma Doughty  
Executive Assistant  

      Howard A. Thrailkill  
President  



CONSENT OF ORIGINAL ISSUER  

The State Industrial Development Authority hereby consents to the foregoing Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financing 
Agreement and First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated as of December ___, 2001.  

Dated: January 2, 2002.  
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STATE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT  
               AUTHORITY  

 
    By:  

 
/s/ H ENRY C . M ABRY , III  

         
         Henry C. Mabry, III,  

Secretary  



EXHIBIT 10.3(a) 

ADTRAN, INC.  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
1996 EMPLOYEES INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN  

ARTICLE 1  
Purpose  

1.1                 General Purpose . The purpose of this Plan is to further the growth and development of the Company by encouraging employees 
to obtain a proprietary interest in the Company by owning its stock. The Company intends that the Plan will provide such persons with an added 
incentive to continue in the employ of the Company and will stimulate their efforts in promoting the growth, efficiency and profitability of the 
Company. The Company also intends that the Plan will afford the Company a means of attracting to its service persons of outstanding quality.  

1.2                 Intended Tax Effects of Options . It is intended that part of the Plan qualify as an ISO (as hereinafter defined) plan and that any 
option granted in accordance with such portion of the Plan qualify as an ISO, all within the meaning of Code §422. The tax effects of any NQSO 
(as hereinafter defined) granted hereunder should be determined under Code §83.  

ARTICLE 2  
Definitions  

The following words and phrases as used in this Plan shall have the meanings set forth in this Article unless a different meaning is clearly 
required by the context:  

2.1                 1933 Act shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  

2.2                 1934 Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

2.3                 Beneficiary shall mean, with respect to an Optionee, the Person or Persons to whom the Optionee’s Options shall be transferred 
upon the Optionee’s death ( i.e. , the Optionee’s Beneficiary).  

(a)      Designation of Beneficiary . An Optionee’s Beneficiary shall be the Person who is last designated in writing by the Optionee as 
such Optionee’s Beneficiary hereunder. An Optionee shall designate his or her original Beneficiary in writing on his or her Option Agreement. 
Any subsequent modification of the Optionee’s Beneficiary shall be in a written executed and notarized letter addressed to the Company and shall 
be effective when it is received and accepted by the Committee, determined in the Committee’s sole discretion.  

(b)      No Designated Beneficiary . If, at any time, no Beneficiary has been validly designated by an Optionee, or the Beneficiary 
designated by the Optionee is no longer living or in existence at the time of the Optionee’s death, then the Optionee’s Beneficiary shall be deemed 
to be the individual or individuals in the first of the following classes of individuals with one or more members of such class surviving or in 
existence as of the Optionee’s death, and in the absence thereof, the Optionee’s estate: (a) the Optionee’s surviving spouse; or (b) the Optionee’s 
then living lineal descendants , per stirpes .  

(c)      Designation of Multiple Beneficiaries. An Optionee may, consistent with subsection (a) above, designate more than one Person 
as a Beneficiary, if, for each such Beneficiary, the Optionee also designates a percentage of the Optionee’s Options to be transferred to such 
Beneficiary upon the Optionee’s death. Unless otherwise specified by the Optionee, any designation by the Optionee of multiple Beneficiaries 
shall be interpreted as a designation by the Optionee that each such Beneficiary (to the extent such Beneficiary is alive or in existence as of the 
Optionee’s date of death) should be entitled to an equal percentage of the Optionee’s Options. Each  
 

   



Beneficiary shall have complete and non-joint rights with respect to the portion of an Optionee’s Options to be transferred to such Beneficiary 
upon the Optionee’s death.  

(d)      Contingent Beneficiaries. An Optionee may designate one or more contingent Beneficiaries to receive all or a portion of the 
Optionee’s Option in the event that one or more of the Optionee’s original Beneficiaries should predecease the Optionee; otherwise, in the event 
that one or more Beneficiaries predeceases the Optionee, then the individual or individuals specified in subsection (b) above shall take the place of 
each such deceased Optionee’s Beneficiary.  

2.4                 Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.  

2.5                 Cause shall mean an act or acts by an individual involving personal dishonesty, incompetence, willful misconduct, moral 
turpitude, intentional failure to perform stated duties, willful violation of any law, rule or regulation (other than traffic violations or similar 
offenses), the use for profit or disclosure to unauthorized persons of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company, the breach of any 
contract with the Company, the unlawful trading in the securities of the Company or of another corporation based on information gained as a 
result of the performance of services for the Company, a felony conviction or the failure to contest prosecution for a felony, embezzlement, fraud, 
deceit or civil rights violations, any of which acts causing the Company or any subsidiary liability or loss, as determined by the Committee in its 
sole discretion.  

2.6                 Change of Control shall mean the occurrence of any one of the following events:  

(a)      Acquisition By Person of Substantial Percentage. The acquisition by a Person (including “affiliates” and “associates” of such 
Person, but excluding the Company, any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company, or any employee benefit plan of the Company or of any 
“parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company) of a sufficient number of shares of the Common Stock, or securities convertible into the Common 
Stock, and whether through direct acquisition of shares or by merger, consolidation, share exchange, reclassification of securities or 
recapitalization of or involving the Company or any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company, to constitute the Person the actual or beneficial 
owner of greater than 50% of the Common Stock; or  

(b)      Disposition of Assets. Any sale, lease, transfer, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other disposition, in one transaction or a series of 
transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or of any “subsidiary” of the Company to a Person described in subsection (a) 
above.  

For purposes of this Section, the terms “affiliate,” “associate,” “parent” and “subsidiary” shall have the respective meanings ascribed to 
such terms in Rule 12b-2 under Section 12 of the 1934 Act.  

2.7                 Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  

2.8                 Committee shall mean the committee appointed by the Board to administer and interpret the Plan in accordance with Article 3 
below.  

2.9                 Common Stock shall mean the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company.  

2.10               Company shall mean ADTRAN, Inc., and shall also mean any parent or subsidiary corporation of ADTRAN, Inc. unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise.  

2.11               Director shall mean individuals who are serving as a member of the Board ( i.e. , a director of the Company) or who are serving 
as a member of the board of directors of a parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company.  

2.12               Disability shall mean, with respect to an individual, the total and permanent disability of such individual as determined by the 
Committee in its sole discretion.  
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2.13               Effective Date shall mean February 14, 1996, subject to shareholder approval. See Article 9 herein .  

2.14               Fair Market Value of the Common Stock as of a date of determination shall mean the following:  

(a)      Stock Listed and Shares Traded. If the Common Stock is listed and traded on a national securities exchange (as such term is 
defined by the 1934 Act) or on The Nasdaq National Market on the date of determination, the Fair Market Value per share shall be the closing 
price of a share of the Common Stock on said national securities exchange or National Market System on the date of determination. If the 
Common Stock is traded in the over-the-counter market, the Fair Market Value per share shall be the average of the closing bid and asked prices 
on the date of determination.  

(b)      Stock Listed But No Shares Traded. If the Common Stock is listed on a national securities exchange or on the National Market 
System but no shares of the Common Stock are traded on the date of determination but there were shares traded on dates within a reasonable 
period before the date of determination, the Fair Market Value shall be the closing price of the Common Stock on the most recent date before the 
date of determination. If the Common Stock is regularly traded in the over-the-counter market but no shares of the Common Stock are traded on 
the date of determination (or if records of such trades are unavailable or burdensome to obtain) but there were shares traded on dates within a 
reasonable period before the date of determination, the Fair Market Value shall be the average of the closing bid and asked prices of the Common 
Stock on the most recent date before the date of determination.  

(c)      Stock Not Listed. If the Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange or on the National Market System and is 
not regularly traded in the over-the-counter market, then the Committee shall determine the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock from all 
relevant available facts, which may include the average of the closing bid and ask prices reflected in the over-the-counter market on a date within 
a reasonable period either before or after the date of determination or opinions of independent experts as to value and may take into account any 
recent sales and purchases of such Common Stock to the extent they are representative.  

The Committee’s determination of Fair Market Value, which shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions, shall be final and binding 
for all purposes of this Plan.  

2.15               ISO shall mean an incentive stock option within the meaning of Code §422(b).  

2.16               NQSO shall mean an option to which Code §421 (relating generally to certain ISO and other options) does not apply.  

2.17               Option shall mean ISO’s, or NQSO’s granted to individuals pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Plan.  

2.18               Option Agreement shall mean a written agreement, executed and dated by the Company and an Optionee, evidencing an Option 
granted under the terms and provisions of this Plan, setting forth the terms and conditions of such Option, and specifying the name of the Optionee 
and the number of shares of stock subject to such Option.  

2.19               Option Price shall mean the purchase price of the shares of Common Stock underlying an Option.  

2.20               Optionee shall mean an individual who is granted an Option pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Plan.  

2.21               Person shall mean any individual, organization, corporation, partnership, trust or other entity.  

2.22               Plan shall mean this ADTRAN, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan.  
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ARTICLE 3  
Administration  

3.1                 General Administration . The Plan shall be administered and interpreted by the Committee. Subject to the express provisions of 
the Plan, the Committee shall have authority to interpret the Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, to 
determine the terms and provisions of the Option Agreements by which Options shall be evidenced (which shall not be inconsistent with the terms 
of the Plan), and to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan, all of which determinations shall be 
final, binding and conclusive.  

3.2                 Appointment . The Board shall appoint the Committee from among its members to serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Board 
from time to time may remove members from, or add members to, the Committee and shall fill all vacancies thereon. The Committee at all times 
shall be composed of two or more directors who shall meet the following requirements:  

(a)      Disinterested Administration Rule. During the period any director is serving on the Committee and during the 1-year period 
immediately preceding the commencement of such service, he shall not be or have been granted or awarded any Option or other equity securities 
of the Company under the Plan (or any other discretionary stock plan of the Company or any Company affiliate as defined by Rule 144(a)(1) of 
the 1933 Act). Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, a member of the Committee may participate during such period in (A) a formula plan 
(such as the ADTRAN, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan), (B) an ongoing securities acquisition program with broad-
based employee participation, and/or (C) a program to elect to receive all or part of his annual retainer in equity securities of the Company, all as 
defined and limited by Rule 16b-3 promulgated under Section 16 of the 1934 Act. The requirements of this subsection are intended to comply 
with the “disinterested administration rule” of Rule 16b-3 under Section 16 of the 1934 Act or any successor rule or regulation, and shall be 
interpreted and construed in a manner which assures compliance with said Rule. To the extent said Rule 16b-3 is modified to reduce or increase 
the restrictions on who may serve on the Committee, the Plan shall be deemed modified in a similar manner.  

(b)      Outside Director Rule. No director serving on the Committee may be a current employee of the Company or a former employee 
of the Company (or any corporation affiliated with the Company under Code §1504) receiving compensation for prior services (other than benefits 
under a tax-qualified retirement plan) during each taxable year during which the director serves on the Committee. Furthermore, no director 
serving on the Committee shall be or have ever been an officer of the Company (or any Code §1504 affiliated corporation), or shall be receiving 
remuneration (directly or indirectly) from such a corporation in any capacity other than as a director. The requirements of this subsection are 
intended to comply with the “outside director” requirements of Treas. Reg. §1.162-27(e)(3) or any successor regulation, and shall be interpreted 
and construed in a manner which assures compliance with the “outside” director requirement of Code §162(m)(4)(C)(i) A director who meets the 
requirements of subsection (a) above shall be treated as meeting the requirements of this subsection (b) until the first meeting of shareholders at 
which directors are to be elected occurring on or after January 1, 1996.  

3.3                 Organization . The Committee may select one of its members as its chairman and shall hold its meetings at such times, in such 
manner and at such places as it shall deem advisable. A majority of the Committee shall constitute a quorum, and such majority shall determine its 
actions. The Committee shall keep minutes of its proceedings and shall report the same to the Board at the meeting next succeeding.  

3.4                 Indemnification . In addition to such other rights of indemnification as they have as directors or as members of the Committee, 
the members of the Committee, to the extent permitted by applicable law, shall be indemnified by the Company against reasonable expenses 
(including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees) actually and necessarily incurred in connection with the defense of any action, suit or proceeding, 
or in connection with any appeal, to which they or any of them may be a party by reason of any action taken or failure to act under or in 
connection with the Plan or any Options granted hereunder, and against all amounts paid by them in settlement thereof (provided such settlement 
is approved to the extent required by and in the manner provided by the articles or certificate of incorporation or the bylaws of the Company 
relating to indemnification of directors) or paid by them in satisfaction of a judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding, except in relation to 
matters as to which it shall be  
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adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding that such Committee member or members did not act in good faith and in a manner he or they 
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interest of the Company.  

ARTICLE 4  
Stock  

The stock subject to the Options and other provisions of the Plan shall be authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Common Stock. 
Subject to readjustment in accordance with the provisions of Article 7, the total number of shares of Common Stock for which Options may be 
granted to persons participating in the Plan shall not exceed in the aggregate 2,488,100 shares of Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
shares of Common Stock allocable to the unexercised portion of any expired or terminated Option again may become subject to Options under the 
Plan.  

ARTICLE 5  
Eligibility to Receive and Grant of Options  

5.1                 Individuals Eligible for Grants of Options . The individuals eligible to receive Options hereunder shall be employees of the 
Company, including such employees who are also members of the Board or of the board of directors of any parent or subsidiary corporation of the 
Company; provided, no non-employee director shall be eligible to receive any Options pursuant to this Plan, and provided further, that only 
employees of the Company and its “parent” or “subsidiary” corporations within the meaning of subsections (e) and (f) of Code §424 shall be 
eligible to receive ISO’s. Such eligible individuals may receive Options hereunder in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.2 below.  

5.2                 Grants of Options . Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee shall have the authority and sole discretion to determine 
and designate, from time to time, those individuals (from among the individuals eligible for a grant of Options under the Plan pursuant to Section 
5.1 above) to whom Options will actually be granted, the Option Price of the shares covered by any Options granted, the manner in and conditions 
under which Options are exercisable (including, without limitation, any limitations or restrictions thereon), and the time or times at which Options 
shall be granted. In making such determinations, the Committee may take into account the nature of the services rendered by the respective 
employees to whom Options may be granted, their present and potential contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors as the 
Committee, in its sole discretion, shall deem relevant. In its authorization of the granting of an Option hereunder, the Committee shall specify the 
name of the Optionee, the number of shares of stock subject to such Option and whether such Option is an ISO or a NQSO. The Committee may 
grant, at any time, new Options to an Optionee who previously has received Options, whether such Options include prior Options that still are 
outstanding, previously have been exercised in whole or in part, have expired or are canceled in connection with the issuance of new Options. No 
individual shall have any claim or right to be granted Options under the Plan.  

5.3                 Limitation on Exercisability of ISO’s . Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the aggregate Fair Market Value of 
ISO’s which are granted to any employee under the Plan or under any other ISO stock option plan adopted by the Company that are first 
exercisable in any one calendar year shall not exceed $100,000. The Committee shall interpret and administer the limitations set forth in this 
Section in accordance with Code §422(d).  

5.4                 Restriction on Grant of Stock Options . No more than 100,000 shares of Common Stock may be made subject to Options granted 
during a calendar year to any one individual.  

ARTICLE 6  
Terms and Conditions of Options  

Options granted hereunder and Option Agreements shall comply with and be subject to the following terms and conditions:  
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6.1                 Requirement of Option Agreement . Upon the grant of an Option hereunder, the Committee shall prepare (or cause to be 
prepared) an Option Agreement. The Committee shall present such Option Agreement to the Optionee. Upon execution of such Option Agreement 
by the Optionee, such Option shall be deemed to have been granted effective as of the date of grant. The failure of the Optionee to execute the 
Option Agreement within 30 days after the date of the receipt of same shall render the Option Agreement and the underlying Option null and void 
ab initio .  

6.2                 Optionee and Number of Shares . Each Option Agreement shall state the name of the Optionee and the total number of shares of 
the Common Stock to which it pertains, the Option Price, the Beneficiary of the Optionee and the date as of which the Option was granted under 
this Plan.  

6.3                 Vesting . Each Option shall first become exercisable ( i.e. , vested) with respect to the shares subject to such Option as of the 
first anniversary of the date the Option is granted; provided, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, waive the application of this section and 
may provide a different vesting schedule in an Option Agreement. Prior to said date, the Option shall be unexercisable in its entirety. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, all Options granted to an Optionee shall become immediately vested and exercisable for 100% of the number of 
shares subject to the Options upon the Optionee’s becoming Disabled (within the meaning of Section 2.12 hereof) or upon his death or upon a 
Change in Control. Other than as provided in the preceding sentences, if an Optionee ceases to be an employee of the Company, his rights with 
regard to all non-vested Options shall cease immediately.  

6.4                 Option Price . The Option Price of the shares of Common Stock underlying each Option shall be the Fair Market Value of the 
Common Stock on the date the Option is granted, unless otherwise determined by the Committee; provided, in no event shall the Option Price of 
any ISO be less than 100% (110% in the case of ISO’s of Optionees who own more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of stock of 
either the Company or any “parent” or “subsidiary” corporation of the Company (within the meaning of subsections (e) and (f) of Code §424)) of 
the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date the Option is granted. Upon execution of an Option Agreement by both the Company and 
Optionee, the date as of which the Committee granted the Option as specified in the Option Agreement shall be considered the date on which such 
Option is granted.  

6.5                 Terms of Options . Terms of Options granted under the Plan shall commence on the date of grant and shall expire on such date 
as the Committee may determine for each Option; provided, in no event shall any Option be exercisable after ten years (five years in the case of 
ISO’s granted to Optionees who own more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of stock of either the Company or any parent or 
subsidiary) from the date the Option is granted. No Option shall be granted hereunder after ten years from the earlier of (a) the date the Plan is 
approved by the shareholders, or (b) the date the Plan is adopted by the Board.  

6.6                 Terms of Exercise . The exercise of an Option may be for less than the full number of shares of Common Stock subject to such 
Option, but such exercise shall not be made for less than (i) 100 shares or (ii) the total remaining shares subject to the Option, if such total is less 
than 100 shares. Subject to the other restrictions on exercise set forth herein, the unexercised portion of an Option may be exercised at a later date 
by the Optionee.  

6.7                 Method of Exercise . All Options granted hereunder shall be exercised by written notice directed to the Secretary of the 
Company at its principal place of business or to such other person as the Committee may direct. Each notice of exercise shall identify the Option 
which the Optionee is exercising (in whole or in part) and shall be accompanied by payment of the Option Price for the number of shares specified 
in such notice and by any documents required by Section 8.1. The Company shall make delivery of such shares within a reasonable period of time; 
provided, if any law or regulation requires the Company to take any action (including, but not limited to, the filing of a registration statement 
under the 1933 Act and causing such registration statement to become effective) with respect to the shares specified in such notice before the 
issuance thereof, then the date of delivery of such shares shall be extended for the period necessary to take such action. For Options which are 
ISO’s, written statements on Form 3921 shall be furnished to the Optionee in accordance with Code §6039 on or before January 31 of the year 
following the year in which the Option was exercised. See Treas. Reg. §§1.6039-1 and -2, and 301.6039.1.  
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6.8                 Medium and Time of Payment.  

(a)      The Option Price shall be payable upon the exercise of the Option in an amount equal to the number of shares then being 
purchased times the per share Option Price. Payment, at the election of the Optionee (or his Beneficiary as provided in subsection (c) of Section 
6.9), shall be (A) in cash; (B) by delivery to the Company of a certificate or certificates for shares of the Common Stock duly endorsed for transfer 
to the Company with signature guaranteed by a member firm of a national stock exchange or by a national or state bank or a federally chartered 
thrift institution (or guaranteed or notarized in such other manner as the Committee may require) or by instructing the Company to retain shares of 
Common Stock upon the exercise of the Option with a Fair Market Value equal to the exercise price as payment; or (C) by a combination of (A) 
and (B).  

(b)      If the Optionee delivers Common Stock with a value that is less than the total Option Price, then such Optionee shall pay the 
balance of the total Option Price in cash, other property or services, as provided in subsection (a) above.  

(c)      In addition to the payment of the purchase price of the shares then being purchased, an Optionee also shall pay in cash (or have 
withheld from his normal pay) an amount equal to, or by instructing the Company to retain Common Stock upon the exercise of the Option with a 
Fair Market Value equal to, the amount, if any, which the Company at the time of exercise is required to withhold under the income tax or Federal 
Insurance Contribution Act tax withholding provisions of the Code, of the income tax laws of the state of the Optionee’s residence, and of any 
other applicable law.  

6.9                 Effect of Termination of Employment, Disability or Death . Except as provided in subsections (a), (b) and (c) below, no Option 
shall be exercisable unless the Optionee thereof shall have been an employee of the Company from the date of the granting of the Option until the 
date of exercise; provided, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may waive the application of this Section with respect to any NQSO’s granted 
hereunder and, instead, may provide a different expiration date or dates in a NQSO Option Agreement.  

(a)      Termination of Employment. In the event an Optionee ceases to be an employee of the Company for any reason other than death 
or Disability, any Option or unexercised portion thereof granted to him shall terminate on and shall not be exercisable after the earliest to occur of 
(1) the expiration date of the Option, (2) three months after termination of employment or (3) the date on which the Company gives notice to such 
Optionee of termination of employment if employment is terminated by the Company for Cause (an Optionees resignation in anticipation of 
termination of employment by the Company for Cause shall constitute a notice of termination by the Company); provided, the Committee may 
provide in the Option Agreement that such Option or any unexercised portion thereof shall terminate sooner. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the 
event that an Optionee’s employment terminates for a reason other than death or Disability at any time after a Change of Control, the term of all 
Options of that Optionee shall be extended through the end of the three-month period immediately following the date of such termination; 
provided, this extension shall apply to ISO’s only to the extent it does not cause the term of such ISO’s to exceed the maximum term permitted 
under Code §422 or does not cause such ISO’s to lose their status as ISO’s. Prior to the earlier of the dates specified in the preceding sentences of 
this subsection (a), the Option shall be exercisable only in accordance with its terms and only for the number of shares exercisable on the date of 
termination of employment. The question of whether an authorized leave of absence or absence for military or government service or for any other 
reason shall constitute a termination of employment for purposes of the Plan shall be determined by the Committee, which determination shall be 
final and conclusive.  

(b)      Disability. Upon the termination of an Optionee’s employment due to Disability, any Option or unexercised portion thereof 
granted to him which is otherwise exercisable shall terminate on and shall not be exercisable after the earlier to occur of (1) the expiration date of 
such Option, or (2) one year after the date on which such Optionee ceases to be an employee of the Company due to Disability; provided, the 
Committee may provide in the Option Agreement that such Option or any unexercised portion thereof shall terminate sooner. Prior to the earlier of 
such date, such Option shall be exercisable only in accordance with its terms and only for the number of shares exercisable on the date such 
Optionee’s employment ceases due to Disability.  

(c)      Death. In the event of the death of the Optionee (1) while he is an employee of the Company, (2) within three months after the 
date on which such Optionee’s employment terminated (for a reason  
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other than Cause) as provided in subsection (a) above, or (3) within one year after the date on which such Optionee’s employment terminated due 
to his Disability as provided in subsection (b), any Option or unexercised portion thereof granted to him which is otherwise exercisable may be 
exercised by his Beneficiary at any time prior to the expiration of one year from the date of death of such Optionee, but in no event later than the 
date of expiration of the option period; provided, the Committee may provide in the Option Agreement that such Option or any unexercised 
portion thereof shall terminate sooner. Such exercise shall be effected pursuant to the terms of this Section as if such Beneficiary is the named 
Optionee.  

6.10               Restrictions on Transfer and Exercise of Options . No Option shall be assignable or transferable by the Optionee except by 
transfer to a Beneficiary upon the death of the Optionee, and any purported transfer (other than as excepted above) shall be null and void. After the 
death of an Optionee and upon the death of the Optionee’s Beneficiary, an Option shall be transferred only by will or by the laws of descent and 
distribution. During the lifetime of an Optionee, the Option shall be exercisable only by him; provided, however, that in the event the Optionee is 
incapacitated and unable to exercise Options, such Options may be exercised by such Optionee’s legal guardian, legal representative, fiduciary or 
other representative whom the Committee deems appropriate based on applicable facts and circumstances.  

6.11               Rights as a Shareholder . An Optionee shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to shares covered by his Option until 
date of the issuance of the shares to him and only after the Option Price of such shares is fully paid. Unless specified in Article 7, no adjustment 
will be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to the date of such issuance.  

6.12               No Obligation to Exercise Option . The granting of an Option shall impose no obligation upon the Optionee to exercise such 
Option.  

6.13               Acceleration . The Committee shall at all times have the power to accelerate the vesting date of Options previously granted 
under this Plan.  

6.14               Designation of Option as ISO or NQSO . Subject to the provisions of this Article, each Option granted under the Plan shall be 
designated either as an ISO or a NQSO. An Option Agreement evidencing both an ISO and a NQSO shall identify clearly the status and terms of 
each Option.  

6.15               ISO’s Converted to NQSO’s . In the event any part or all of an Option granted under the Plan which is intended to be an ISO at 
any time fails to satisfy all of the requirements of an ISO, then such ISO shall be split into an ISO and NQSO so that the portion of the Option, if 
any, that still qualifies as an ISO shall remain an ISO and the portion that does not qualify as an ISO shall become a NQSO. Such split of an 
Option into an ISO portion and a NQSO portion shall be evidenced by one or more Option Agreements, as long as each Option is identified 
clearly as to its status as an ISO or NQSO.  

ARTICLE 7  
Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization  

7.1                 Recapitalization . In the event that the outstanding shares of the Common Stock of the Company are hereafter increased or 
decreased or changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind of shares or other securities of the Company by reason of a recapitalization, 
reclassification, stock split, combination of shares or dividend payable in shares of the Common Stock, the following rules shall apply:  

(a)      The Committee shall make an appropriate adjustment in the number and kind of shares available for the granting of Options 
under the Plan.  

(b)      The Committee also shall make an appropriate adjustment in the number and kind of shares as to which outstanding Options, or 
portions thereof then unexercised, shall be exercisable; any such adjustment in any outstanding Options shall be made without change in the total 
price applicable to the unexercised portion of such Option and with a corresponding adjustment in the Option Price per share. No fractional shares 
shall be issued or optioned in making the foregoing adjustments, and the number of shares available under the Plan or the  
 

8  



number of shares subject to any outstanding Options shall be the next lower number of shares, rounding all fractions downward.  

(c)      Any adjustment to or assumption of ISO’s under this Section shall be made in accordance with Code §424(a) and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder so as to preserve the status of such Options as ISO’s under Code §422.  

(d)      If any rights or warrants to subscribe for additional shares are given pro rata to holders of outstanding shares of the class or 
classes of stock then set aside for the Plan, each Optionee shall be entitled to the same rights or warrants on the same basis as holders of the 
outstanding shares with respect to such portion of his Option as is exercised on or prior to the record date for determining shareholders entitled to 
receive or exercise such rights or warrants.  

7.2                 Reorganization . Subject to any required action by the shareholders, if the Company shall be a party to any reorganization 
involving merger, consolidation, acquisition of the stock or acquisition of the assets of the Company which does not constitute a Change of 
Control, the Committee, in its discretion, may declare that:  

(a)      any Option granted but not yet exercised shall pertain to and apply, with appropriate adjustment as determined by the 
Committee, to the securities of the resulting corporation to which a holder of the number of shares of the Common Stock subject to such Option 
would have been entitled;  

(b)      any or all outstanding Options granted hereunder shall become immediately nonforfeitable and fully exercisable or vested (to 
the extent permitted under federal or state securities laws); and/or  

(c)      any or all Options granted hereunder shall become immediately nonforfeitable and fully exercisable or vested (to the extent 
permitted under federal or state securities laws) and are to be terminated after giving at least 30 days’ notice to the Optionees to whom such 
Options have been granted.  

7.3                 Dissolution and Liquidation . If the Board adopts a plan of dissolution and liquidation that is approved by the shareholders of the 
Company, the Committee shall give each Optionee written notice of such event at least ten days prior to its effective date, and the rights of all 
Optionees shall become immediately nonforfeitable and fully exercisable or vested (to the extent permitted under federal or state securities laws).  

7.4                 Limits on Adjustments . Any issuance by the Company of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any 
class, shall not affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of shares of the Common Stock 
subject to any Option, except as specifically provided otherwise in this Article. The grant of Options pursuant to the Plan shall not affect in any 
way the right or power of the Company to make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations or changes of its capital or business structure or to 
merge, consolidate or dissolve, or to liquidate, sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets. All adjustments the Committee makes under 
this Article shall be conclusive.  

ARTICLE 8  
Agreement by Optionee and Securities Registration  

8.1                 Agreement . If, in the opinion of counsel to the Company, such action is necessary or desirable, no Options shall be granted to 
any Optionee, and no Option shall be exercisable, unless, at the time of grant or exercise, as applicable, such Optionee (i) represents and warrants 
that he will acquire the Common Stock for investment only and not for purposes of resale or distribution, and (ii) makes such further 
representations and warranties as are deemed necessary or desirable by counsel to the Company with regard to holding and resale of the Common 
Stock. The Optionee shall, upon the request of the Committee, execute and deliver to the Company an agreement or affidavit to such effect. 
Should the Committee have reasonable cause to believe that such Optionee did not execute such agreement or affidavit in good faith, the 
Company shall not be bound by the grant of the Option or by the exercise of the Option. All certificates representing shares of Common Stock 
issued pursuant to the Plan shall be marked with the following restrictive legend or similar legend, if such marking, in the opinion of counsel to 
the Company, is necessary or desirable:  
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The shares represented by this certificate [have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of 
any state] [and] [are held by an “affiliate” (as such term is defined in Rule 144 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) of the Corporation]. Accordingly, these shares may not be sold, hypothecated, pledged or 
otherwise transferred except (i) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any 
applicable securities laws or regulations of any state with respect to such shares, (ii) in accordance with Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 144, or (iii) upon the issuance to the Corporation of a favorable opinion of counsel or the submission to the Corporation 
of such other evidence as may be satisfactory to the Corporation that such proposed sale, assignment, encumbrance or other transfer will not 
be in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any applicable securities laws of any state or any rules or regulations 
thereunder. Any attempted transfer of this certificate or the shares represented hereby which is in violation of the preceding restrictions will 
not be recognized by the Corporation, nor will any transferee be recognized as the owner thereof by the Corporation.  

If the Common Stock is (A) held by an Optionee who is not an “affiliate,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 of the 1933 Act, or who 
ceases to be an “affiliate,” or (B) registered under the 1933 Act and all applicable state securities laws and regulations as provided in Section 8.2, 
the Committee, in its discretion and with the advice of counsel, may dispense with or authorize the removal of the restrictive legend set forth 
above or the portion thereof which is inapplicable.  

8.2                 Registration . In the event that the Company in its sole discretion shall deem it necessary or advisable to register, under the 1933 
Act or any state securities laws or regulations, any shares with respect to which Options have been granted hereunder, then the Company shall take 
such action at its own expense before delivery of the certificates representing such shares to an Optionee. In such event, and if the shares of 
Common Stock of the Company shall be listed on any national securities exchange or on The Nasdaq National Market at the time of the exercise 
of any Option, the Company shall make prompt application at its own expense for the listing on such stock exchange or The Nasdaq National 
Market of the shares of Common Stock to be issued.  

ARTICLE 9  
Effective Date  

The Plan shall be effective as of the Effective Date, and no Options shall be granted hereunder prior to said date. Adoption of the Plan shall 
be approved by the shareholders of the Company at the earlier of (i) the annual meeting of the shareholders of the Company which immediately 
follows the date of the first grant or award of Options hereunder, or (ii) 12 months after the adoption of the Plan by the Board, but in no event 
earlier than 12 months prior to the adoption of the Plan by the Board. Shareholder approval shall be made by a majority of the votes cast at a duly 
held meeting at which a quorum representing a majority of all outstanding voting stock is, either in person or by proxy, present and voting on the 
Plan, or by the written consent in lieu of a meeting of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting stock or such greater number of shares of 
voting stock as may be required by the Company’s articles or certificate of incorporation and bylaws and by applicable law; provided, however, 
such shareholder approval, whether by vote or by written consent in lieu of a meeting, must be solicited substantially in accordance with the rules 
and regulations in effect under Section 14(a) of the 1934 Act. Failure to obtain such approval shall render the Plan and any Options granted 
hereunder null and void ab initio .  

ARTICLE 10  
Amendment and Termination  

10.1               Amendment and Termination By the Board . Subject to Section 10.2 below, the Board shall have the power at any time to add to, 
amend, modify or repeal any of the provisions of the Plan, to suspend the operation of the entire Plan or any of its provisions for any period or 
periods or to terminate the Plan in whole or in part. In the event of any such action, the Committee shall prepare written procedures which, when 
approved by the Board, shall govern the administration of the Plan resulting from such addition, amendment, modification, repeal, suspension or 
termination.  
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10.2               Restrictions on Amendment and Termination . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 10.1 above, the following restrictions 
shall apply to the Board’s authority under Section 10.1 above:  

(a)      Prohibition Against Adverse Affects on Outstanding Options. No addition, amendment, modification, repeal, suspension or 
termination shall adversely affect, in any way, the rights of the Optionees who have outstanding Options without the consent of such Optionees;  

(b)      Shareholder Approval Required for Certain Modifications. No modification or amendment of the Plan may be made without 
the prior approval of the shareholders of the Company if (1) such modification or amendment would cause the applicable portions of the Plan to 
fail to qualify as an ISO plan pursuant to Code §422, (2) such modification or amendment would materially increase the benefits accruing to 
participants under the Plan, (3) such modification or amendment would materially increase the number of securities which may be issued under 
the Plan, or (4) such modification or amendment would materially modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation in the Plan, or (v) 
such modification or amendment would modify the material terms of the Plan within the meaning of Treas. Reg. §1.162-27(e)(4). Clauses (ii), (iii) 
and (iv) of the preceding sentence shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b)(2) of Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act. 
Shareholder approval shall be made by a majority of the votes cast at a duly held meeting at which a quorum representing a majority of all 
outstanding voting stock is, either in person or by proxy, present and voting, or by the written consent in lieu of a meeting of the holders of a 
majority of the outstanding voting stock or such greater number of shares of voting stock as may be required by the Company’s articles or 
certificate of incorporation and bylaws and by applicable law; provided, however, that for modifications described in clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) 
above, such shareholder approval, whether by vote or by written consent in lieu of a meeting, must be solicited substantially in accordance with 
the rules and regulations in effect under Section 14(a) of the 1934 Act as required by paragraph (b)(2) of Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act.  

ARTICLE 11  
Miscellaneous Provisions  

11.1               Application of Funds . The proceeds received by the Company from the sale of the Common Stock subject to the Options 
granted hereunder will be used for general corporate purposes.  

11.2               Notices . All notices or other communications by an Optionee to the Committee pursuant to or in connection with the Plan shall 
be deemed to have been duly given when received in the form specified by the Committee at the location, or by the person, designated by the 
Committee for the receipt thereof.  

11.3               Term of Plan . Subject to the terms of Article 10, the Plan shall terminate upon the later of (i) the complete exercise or lapse of 
the last outstanding Option, or (ii) the last date upon which Options may be granted hereunder.  

11.4               Compliance with Rule 16b-3 . This Plan is intended to be in compliance with the requirements of Rule 16b-3 as promulgated 
under Section 16 of the 1934 Act.  

11.5               Governing Law . The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama.  

11.6               Additional Provisions By Committee . The Option Agreements authorized under the Plan may contain such other provisions, 
including, without limitation, restrictions upon the exercise of an Option, as the Committee shall deem advisable.  

11.7               Plan Document Controls . In the event of any conflict between the provisions of an Option Agreement and the Plan, the Plan 
shall control.  

11.8               Gender and Number . Wherever applicable, the masculine pronoun shall include the feminine pronoun, and the singular shall 
include the plural.  
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11.9               Headings . The titles in this Plan are inserted for convenience of reference; they constitute no part of the Plan and are not to be 
considered in the construction hereof.  

11.10             Legal References . Any references in this Plan to a provision of law which is, subsequent to the Effective Date of this Plan, 
revised, modified, finalized or redesignated, shall automatically be deemed a reference to such revised, modified, finalized or redesignated 
provision of law.  

11.11             No Rights to Employment . Nothing contained in the Plan, or any modification thereof, shall be construed to give any individual 
any rights to employment with the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company.  

11.12             Unfunded Arrangement . The Plan shall not be funded, and except for reserving a sufficient number of authorized shares to the 
extent required by law to meet the requirements of the Plan, the Company shall not be required to establish any special or separate fund or to make 
any other segregation of assets to assure the payment of any grant under the Plan.  

ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS EFFECTIVE AS OF FEBRU ARY 14, 1996  

APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS AS OF APRIL 19, 1996  

FIRST AMENDMENT ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
AND APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS  

EFFECTIVE AS OF APRIL 23, 1997  

SECOND AMENDMENT ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
EFFECTIVE AS OF JULY 15, 1999  

AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIREC TORS  
EFFECTIVE AS OF JANUARY 13, 2000  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN  
ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS  

EFFECTIVE AS OF APRIL 21, 2000  

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN  
ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS  

EFFECTIVE AS OF APRIL 20, 2001  

THIRD AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN  
ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

EFFECTIVE AS OF MARCH 18, 2003  
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FIRST AMENDMENT  
TO THE ADTRAN, INC.  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
1996 EMPLOYEES INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN  

This First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) is made and 
entered into this 21 st day of April, 2000, by ADTRAN, Inc. (the “Company”).  

W I T N E S S E T H:  

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Plan, which is administered by a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the “Board”), to provide for grants of options to employees of the Company; and  

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is advisable to amend the Plan to increase the maximum aggregate number of shares available 
to be issued under the Plan from 2,488,100 shares of common stock to 5,488,100 shares of common stock (the “First Amendment”);  

WHEREAS, Article 10 of the Plan permits the Board to amend the Plan subject to certain restrictions, including stockholder approval of 
certain changes;  

WHEREAS, the Board adopted resolutions approving the First Amendment on January 13, 2000; and  

WHEREAS, the stockholders of the Company approved the First Amendment at the Company’s 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held 
on April 21, 2000;  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company hereby amends the Plan as follows:  

1.  

Effective as of April 21, 2000, Article 4 of the Plan shall be amended by striking “2,488,100” and by substituting “5,488,100” in lieu 
thereof.  

2.  

Except as specifically amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its duly authorized officer to execute this First Amendment on the date first set forth 
above.  
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ADTRAN, INC.  
 

 
    By:  

 
/s/ J OHN R . C OOPER  

         
         John R. Cooper  

Vice President - Finance, Chief Financial  
Officer and Treasurer  



SECOND AMENDMENT  
TO THE ADTRAN, INC.  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
1996 EMPLOYEES INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN  

This Second Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) is made 
and entered into this 20th day of April, 2001, by ADTRAN, Inc. (the “Company”).  

W I T N E S S E T H:  

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Plan, which is administered by a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the “Board”), to provide for grants of options to employees of the Company; and  

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is advisable to amend the Plan to increase the maximum aggregate number of shares available 
to be issued under the Plan by 3,000,000 shares, i.e., from 5,488,100 shares of Common Stock (as defined in the Plan) to 8,488,100 shares of 
Common Stock, and to place limits on the number of options that may be granted under the Plan with an option exercise price that is below the 
fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and on the class of employees to receive such options (the “Second 
Amendment”);  

WHEREAS, Article 10 of the Plan permits the Board to amend the Plan subject to certain restrictions, including stockholder approval of 
certain changes;  

WHEREAS, the Board adopted resolutions approving the Second Amendment, subject to shareholder approval, on February 12, 2001; and  

WHEREAS, the stockholders of the Company approved the Second Amendment at the Company’s 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
held on April 20, 2001;  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company hereby amends the Plan as follows:  

1.  

Effective as of April 20, 2001, Article 4 of the Plan shall be amended by striking “5,488,100” and by substituting “8,488,100” in lieu 
thereof.  

2.  

Effective as of April 20, 2001, the Plan shall be amended by deleting Section 6.4 in its entirety and inserting in its place the following:  

“6.4            Option Price . The Option Price of the shares of Common Stock underlying each Option shall be the Fair Market Value of the 
Common Stock on the date the Option is granted, unless otherwise determined by the Committee; provided, in no event shall the Option price of 
any ISO be less than 100% (110% in the case of ISO’s of Optionees who own more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of stock of 
either the Company or any “parent” or “subsidiary” corporation of the Company (within the meaning of subsections (e) and (f) of Code §424)) of 
the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date the Option is granted; provided, further, in no event shall the Option price of any Option 
granted to an executive officer of the Company be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date the Option is 
granted; provided, further, that at no time may the aggregate number of Options hereunder that are neither expired nor terminated, without regard 
to exercisability, with respect to which the Option price is less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the date the Option is 
granted, exceed 10% of the total number of shares of Common Stock for which Options may be granted pursuant to Article 4, including such total 
number of shares that are allocable to the unexercised portion of any expired or  
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terminated Option that have again become subject to Options under the Plan. Upon execution of an Option Agreement by both the Company and 
Optionee, the date as of which the Committee granted the Option as specified in the Option Agreement shall be considered the date on which such 
Option is granted. For purposes of this Section, the term ‘executive officer of the Company’ shall mean an officer of the Company who is a 
reporting person pursuant to §16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.”  

3.  

Except as specifically amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its duly authorized officer to execute this Second Amendment on the date first set 
forth above.  
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ADTRAN, INC.  
 

 
    By:  

 
/s/ J OHN R . C OOPER  

         
         John R. Cooper  

Vice President - Finance, Chief Financial  
Officer and Treasurer  



THIRD AMENDMENT  
TO THE ADTRAN, INC.  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
1996 EMPLOYEES INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN  

This Third Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) is made 
and entered into this 18th day of March, 2003, by ADTRAN, Inc. (the “Company”).  

W I T N E S S E T H:  

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Plan, which is administered by a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the “Board”), to provide for grants of options to employees of the Company; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and guidance issued thereunder, the Board 
has determined that it is advisable to amend the Plan to eliminate provisions permitting an optionee to pay the exercise price of an option by 
instructing the Company to retain shares of common stock of the Company upon the exercise of an option under the Plan with a fair market value 
equal to the exercise price; and  

WHEREAS, Article 10 of the Plan permits the Board to amend the Plan at any time, subject to consent of the outstanding optionees for any 
amendment that would adversely affect, in any way, the rights of such optionees; and  

WHEREAS, the Board adopted resolutions approving the Third Amendment, on March 18, 2003;  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company hereby amends the Plan as follows:  

1.  

Effective as of March 18, 2003, Section 6.8 of the Plan shall be amended to read as follows:  

“6.8               Medium and Time of Payment.  

(a)      The Option Price shall be payable upon the exercise of the Option in an amount equal to the number of shares then being 
purchased times the per share Option Price. Payment, at the election of the Optionee (or his Beneficiary as provided in subsection (c) of 
Section 6.9), shall be (A) in cash; (B) by delivery to the Company of a certificate or certificates for shares of the Common Stock evidencing 
that the shares have been owned by the Optionee for at least six months and duly endorsed for transfer to the Company with signature 
guaranteed by a member firm of a national stock exchange or by a national or state bank or a federally chartered thrift institution (or 
guaranteed or notarized in such other manner as the Committee may require); or (C) by a combination of (A) and (B).  

(b)      If the Optionee delivers Common Stock with a value that is less than the total Option Price, then such Optionee shall pay the 
balance of the total Option Price in cash, as provided in subsection (a) above.  

(c)      In addition to the payment of the purchase price of the shares then being purchased, an Optionee also shall pay in cash (or have 
withheld from his normal pay) at least the minimum amount, if any, which the Company at the time of exercise is required to withhold 
under the income tax or Federal Insurance Contribution Act tax withholding provisions of the Code, of the income tax laws of the state of 
the Optionee’s residence, and of any other applicable law.”  
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2.  

Except as specifically amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its duly authorized officer to execute this Third Amendment on the date first set forth 
above.  
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ADTRAN, INC.  
 

 
    By:  

 
/s/ J AMES E . M ATTHEWS  

         
         James E. Matthews  

Senior Vice President – Finance and Administration  
and Chief Financial Officer  



EXHIBIT 10.3(b) 

ADTRAN, INC.  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
1995 DIRECTORS STOCK OPTION PLAN  

ARTICLE 1  

Purpose  

1.1                 General Purpose . The purpose of this Plan is to further the growth and development of the Company by encouraging Directors 
who are not employees of the Company to obtain a proprietary interest in the Company by owning its stock. The Company intends that the Plan 
will provide such persons with an added incentive to continue to serve as Directors and will stimulate their efforts in promoting the growth, 
efficiency and profitability of the Company. The Company also intends that the Plan will afford the Company a means of attracting persons of 
outstanding quality to service on the Board and on the board of directors of parent and subsidiary corporations of the Company.  

1.2                 Intended Tax Effects of Options . It is intended that the tax effects of any NQSO (as hereinafter defined) granted hereunder 
should be determined under Code §83.  

ARTICLE 2  

Definitions  

The following words and phrases as used in this Plan shall have the meanings set forth in this Article unless a different meaning is clearly 
required by the context:  

2.1                 1933 Act shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  

2.2                 1934 Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

2.3                 Beneficiary shall mean, with respect to an Optionee, the Person or Persons to whom the Optionee’s Option shall be transferred 
upon the Optionee’s death ( i.e. , the Optionee’s Beneficiary).  

(a)      Designation of Beneficiary. An Optionee’s Beneficiary shall be the Person who is last designated in writing by the Optionee as 
such Optionee’s Beneficiary hereunder. An Optionee shall designate his or her original Beneficiary in writing on his or her Option 
Agreement. Any subsequent modification of the Optionee’s Beneficiary shall be in a written executed and notarized letter addressed to the 
Company and shall be effective when it is received and accepted by the Committee, determined in the Committee’s sole discretion.  

(b)      No Designated Beneficiary. If, at any time, no Beneficiary has been validly designated by an Optionee, or the Beneficiary 
designated by the Optionee is no longer living or in existence at the time of the Optionee’s death, then the Optionee’s Beneficiary shall be 
deemed to be the individual or individuals in the first of the following classes of individuals with one or members of such class surviving or 
in existence as of the Optionee’s death, and in the absence thereof, the Optionee’s estate: the Optionee’s surviving spouse; or the Optionee’s 
then living lineal descendants, per stirpes .  

(c)      Designation of Multiple Beneficiaries. An Optionee may, consistent with subsection (a) above, designate more than one Person 
as a Beneficiary if, for each such Beneficiary, the Optionee also designates a percentage of the Optionee’s Options to be transferred to such 
Beneficiary upon the Optionee’s death. Unless otherwise specified by the Optionee, any designation by the Optionee of multiple 
Beneficiaries shall be interpreted as a designation by the Optionee that each such Beneficiary (to the extent  
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such Beneficiary is alive or in existence as of the Optionee’s date of death) should be entitled to an equal percentage of the Optionee’s 
Options. Each Beneficiary shall have complete and non-joint rights with respect to the portion of an Optionee’s Options to be transferred to 
such Beneficiary upon the Optionee’s death.  

(d)      Contingent Beneficiaries. An Optionee may designate one or more contingent Beneficiaries to receive all or a portion of the 
Optionee’s Option in the event that one or more of the Optionee’s original Beneficiaries should predecease the Optionee; otherwise, in the 
event that one or more Beneficiaries predeceases the Optionee, then the individual or individuals specified in subsection (b) above shall 
take the place of each such deceased Optionee’s Beneficiary.  

2.4                 Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.  

2.5                 Cause shall mean an act or acts by an individual involving personal dishonesty, incompetence, willful misconduct, moral 
turpitude, intentional failure to perform stated duties, willful violation of any law, rule or regulation (other than traffic violations or similar 
offenses), the use for profit or disclosure to unauthorized persons of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company, the breach of any 
contract with the Company, the unlawful trading in the securities of the Company or of another corporation based on information gained as a 
result of the performance of services for the Company, a felony conviction or the failure to contest prosecution for a felony, embezzlement, fraud, 
deceit or civil rights violations, any of which acts causing the Company or any subsidiary liability or loss, as determined by the Committee in its 
sole discretion.  

2.6                 Change of Control shall mean the occurrence of any one of the following events:  

(a)      Acquisition By Person of Substantial Percentage. The acquisition by a Person (including “affiliates” and “associates” of such 
Person, but excluding the Company, any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company, or any employee benefit plan of the Company or of any 
“parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company) of a sufficient number of shares of the Common Stock, or securities convertible into the Common 
Stock, and whether through direct acquisition of shares or by merger, consolidation, share exchange, reclassification of securities or 
recapitalization of or involving the Company or any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company, to constitute the Person the actual or 
beneficial owner of greater than 50% of the Common Stock; or  

(b)      Disposition of Assets. Any sale, lease, transfer, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other disposition, in one transaction or a series 
of transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or of any “subsidiary” of the Company to a Person described in 
subsection (a) above.  

For purposes of this Section, the terms “affiliate,” “associate,” “parent” and “subsidiary” shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms 
in Rule 12b-2 under Section 12 of the 1934 Act.  

2.7                 Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  

2.8                 Committee shall mean the committee appointed by the Board to administer and interpret the Plan in accordance with Article 3 
below.  

2.9                 Common Stock shall mean the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company.  

2.10               Company shall mean ADTRAN, Inc., and shall also mean any parent or subsidiary corporation of ADTRAN, Inc. unless the 
context clearly indicates otherwise.  

2.11               Director shall mean an individual who is serving as a member of the Board ( i.e. , a director of the Company) or who is serving 
as a member of the board of directors of a parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company.  

2.12               Disability shall mean, with respect to an individual, the total and permanent disability of such individual as determined by the 
Committee in its sole discretion.  

2.13               Effective Date shall mean October 31, 1995, subject to shareholder approval. See Article 9 herein .  

2.14               Fair Market Value of the Common Stock as of a date of determination shall mean the following:  
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(a)      Stock Listed and Shares Traded. If the Common Stock is listed and traded on a national securities exchange (as such term is 
defined by the 1934 Act) or on The Nasdaq National Market on the date of determination, the Fair Market Value per share shall be the 
closing price of a share of the Common Stock on said national securities exchange or National Market System on the date of determination. 
If the Common Stock is traded in the over-the-counter market, the Fair Market Value per share shall be the average of the closing bid and 
asked prices on the date of determination.  

(b)      Stock Listed But No Shares Traded. If the Common Stock is listed on a national securities exchange or on the National Market 
System but no shares of the Common Stock are traded on the date of determination but there were shares traded on dates within a 
reasonable period before the date of determination, the Fair Market Value shall be the closing price of the Common Stock on the most 
recent date before the date of determination. If the Common Stock is regularly traded in the over-the-counter market but no shares of the 
Common Stock are traded on the date of determination (or if records of such trades are unavailable or burdensome to obtain) but there were 
shares traded on dates within a reasonable period before the date of determination, the Fair Market Value shall be the average of the closing 
bid and asked prices of the Common Stock on the most recent date before the date of determination.  

(c)      Stock Not Listed. If the Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange or on the National Market System and is 
not regularly traded in the over-the-counter market, then the Committee shall determine the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock from 
all relevant available facts, which may include the average of the closing bid and ask prices reflected in the over-the-counter market on a 
date within a reasonable period either before or after the date of determination or opinions of independent experts as to value and may take 
into account any recent sales and purchases of such Common Stock to the extent they are representative.  

The Committee’s determination of Fair Market Value, which shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions, shall be final and binding for all 
purposes of this Plan.  

2.15               NQSO shall mean an option to which Code §421 (relating generally to certain incentive stock options and other options) does 
not apply.  

2.16               Option shall mean NQSO’s granted to individuals pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Plan.  

2.17               Option Agreement shall mean a written agreement, executed and dated by the Company and an Optionee, evidencing an Option 
granted under the terms and provisions of this Plan, setting forth the terms and conditions of such Option, and specifying the name of the Optionee 
and the number of shares of stock subject to such Option.  

2.18               Option Price shall mean the purchase price of the shares of Common Stock underlying an Option.  

2.19               Optionee shall mean an individual who is granted an Option pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Plan.  

2.20               Person shall mean any individual, organization, corporation, partnership, trust or other entity.  

2.21               Plan shall mean this ADTRAN, Inc. 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan.  

ARTICLE 3  

Administration  

3.1                 General Administration . The Plan shall be administered and interpreted by the Committee. Subject to the express provisions of 
the Plan, the Committee shall have authority (to the extent that such authority does not disqualify the Plan from being a “formula plan” within the 
meaning of paragraph (c)(2)(ii) of Rule 16b-3 of  
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the 1934 Act) to interpret the Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, to determine the terms and 
provisions of the Option Agreements by which Options shall be evidenced (which shall not be inconsistent with the terms of the Plan), and to 
make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan, all of which determinations shall be final, binding and 
conclusive.  

3.2                 Appointment . The Board shall appoint the Committee from among its members to serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Board 
from time to time may remove members from, or add members to, the Committee and shall fill all vacancies thereon. The Committee at all times 
shall be composed of two or more directors.  

3.3                 Organization . The Committee may select one of its members as its chairman and shall hold its meetings at such times, in such 
manner and at such places as it shall deem advisable. A majority of the Committee shall constitute a quorum, and such majority shall determine its 
actions. The Committee shall keep minutes of its proceedings and shall report the same to the Board at the meeting next succeeding.  

3.4                 Indemnification . In addition to such other rights of indemnification as they have as directors or as members of the Committee, 
the members of the Committee, to the extent permitted by applicable law, shall be indemnified by the Company against reasonable expenses 
(including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees) actually and necessarily incurred in connection with the defense of any action, suit or proceeding, 
or in connection with any appeal, to which they or any of them may be a party by reason of any action taken or failure to act under or in 
connection with the Plan or any Options granted hereunder, and against all amounts paid by them in settlement thereof (provided such settlement 
is approved to the extent required by and in the manner provided by the articles or certificate of incorporation or the bylaws of the Company 
relating to indemnification of directors) or paid by them in satisfaction of a judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding, except in relation to 
matters as to which it shall be adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding that such Committee member or members did not act in good faith and 
in a manner he or they reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interest of the Company.  

ARTICLE 4  

Stock  

The stock subject to the Options and other provisions of the Plan shall be authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Common Stock. 
Subject to readjustment in accordance with the provisions of Article 7, the total number of shares of Common Stock for which Options may be 
granted to persons participating in the Plan shall not exceed in the aggregate 200,000 shares of Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
shares of Common Stock allocable to the unexercised portion of any expired or terminated Option again may become subject to Options under the 
Plan.  

ARTICLE 5  

Eligibility to Receive and Grant of Options  

5.1                 Individuals Eligible for Grants of Options . The individuals eligible to receive Options hereunder shall be solely those 
individuals who are Directors and who are not employees of the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company. Such Directors 
shall receive Options hereunder in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.2 below.  

5.2                 Grant of Options . Options shall be granted to those Directors who are eligible under Section 5.1 above in accordance with the 
following formulas:  

(a)      Option Upon Initially Becoming a Director. Upon initially becoming a Director, an individual shall, subject to subsection (c) 
below, be granted an Option to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock, with such Option subject to the provisions of Article 6 below. 
The Options granted under this subsection (a) shall be evidenced by the Option Agreement shown in Exhibit A. The Options granted under 
this subsection (a) shall not be granted to a Director who has previously served as a Director and who is again becoming a Director, but 
shall only be granted upon an individual’s initially becoming a Director.  
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(b)      Option Upon Commencement of Term. As of December 31 of each calendar year following the calendar year in which a 
Director receives a grant of Options under subsection (a) above, an individual shall, if such individual is a Director as of such date and 
subject to subsections (c) and (d) below, be granted an Option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock, with such Option subject to the 
provisions of Article 6 below. Options granted under this subsection (b) shall be evidenced by the Option Agreement shown in Exhibit B.  

(c)      Transitional Rules. No individual who is serving as a Director as of the Effective Date of this Plan shall be entitled to any 
Options under subsection (b) above until the December 31 next following the Effective Date. Each Director as of the Effective Date shall be 
granted Options under the terms and provisions of subsection (a) above as of the Effective Date as if such Director had initially become a 
Director on the Effective Date. Options granted under this subsection (c) shall be evidenced by the Option Agreement shown in Exhibit A.  

(d)      Rules Against Double Granting of Options for Simultaneous Service. Notwithstanding any provision of this Section to the 
contrary, an individual shall not be granted an Option to purchase more than 2,000 shares as of any December 31 under the provisions of 
subsection (b) above.  

ARTICLE 6  

Terms and Conditions of Options  

Options granted hereunder and Option Agreements shall comply with and be subject to the following terms and conditions:  

6.1                 Requirement of Option Agreement . Upon the grant of an Option hereunder, the Committee shall prepare (or cause to be 
prepared) an Option Agreement. The Committee shall present such Option Agreement to the Optionee. Upon execution of such Option Agreement 
by the Optionee, such Option shall be deemed to have been granted effective as of the date of grant. The failure of the Optionee to execute the 
Option Agreement within 30 days after the date of the receipt of same shall render the Option Agreement and the underlying Option null and void 
ab initio .  

6.2                 Optionee and Number of Shares . Each Option Agreement shall state the name of the Optionee and the total number of shares of 
the Common Stock to which it pertains, the Option Price, the Beneficiary of the Optionee and the date as of which the Option was granted under 
this Plan.  

6.3                 Vesting . Each Option shall first become exercisable ( i.e. , vested) with respect to the shares subject to such Option as of the 
first anniversary of the date the Option is granted. Prior to said date, the Option shall be unexercisable in its entirety. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, all Options granted to an Optionee shall become immediately vested and exercisable for 100% of the number of shares subject to the 
Options upon the Optionee’s becoming Disabled (within the meaning of Section 2.12 hereof) or upon his death or upon a Change in Control. 
Other than as provided in the preceding sentences, if an Optionee ceases to be a Director of the Company, his rights with regard to all non-vested 
Options shall cease immediately.  

6.4                 Option Price . The Option Price of the shares of Common Stock underlying each Option shall be the Fair Market Value of the 
Common Stock on the date the Option is granted. Upon execution of an Option Agreement by both the Company and Optionee, the date as of 
which the Option was granted under this Plan as noted in the Option Agreement shall be considered the date on which such Option is granted.  

6.5                 Terms of Options . Terms of Options granted under the Plan shall commence on the date of grant and shall expire ten years from 
the date the Option is granted. No Option shall be granted hereunder after ten years from the earlier of the date the Plan is approved by the 
shareholders, or the date the Plan is adopted by the Board.  

6.6                 Terms of Exercise . The exercise of an Option may be for less than the full number of shares of Common Stock subject to such 
Option, but such exercise shall not be made for less than (i) 100 shares or (ii) the  
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total remaining shares subject to the Option, if such total is less than 100 shares. Subject to the other restrictions on exercise set forth herein, the 
unexercised portion of an Option may be exercised at a later date by the Optionee.  

6.7                 Method of Exercise . All Options granted hereunder shall be exercised by written notice directed to the Secretary of the 
Company at its principal place of business or to such other person as the Committee may direct. Each notice of exercise shall identify the Option 
which the Optionee is exercising (in whole or in part) and shall be accompanied by payment of the Option Price for the number of shares specified 
in such notice and by any documents required by Section 8.1. The Company shall make delivery of such shares within a reasonable period of time; 
provided, if any law or regulation requires the Company to take any action (including, but not limited to, the filing of a registration statement 
under the 1933 Act and causing such registration statement to become effective) with respect to the shares specified in such notice before the 
issuance thereof, then the date of delivery of such shares shall be extended for the period necessary to take such action.  

6.8                 Medium and Time of Payment .  

(a)      The Option Price shall be payable upon the exercise of the Option in an amount equal to the number of shares then being 
purchased times the per share Option Price. Payment, at the election of the Optionee (or his Beneficiary as provided in subsection (c) of 
Section 6.9), shall be (A) in cash; (B) by delivery to the Company of a certificate or certificates for shares of the Common Stock duly 
endorsed for transfer to the Company with signature guaranteed by a member firm of a national stock exchange or by a national or state 
bank or a federally chartered thrift institution (or guaranteed or notarized in such other manner as the Committee may require) or by 
instructing the Company to retain shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of the Option with a Fair Market Value equal to the exercise 
price as payment; or (C) by a combination of (A) and (B).  

(b)      If the Optionee delivers Common Stock with a value that is less than the total Option Price, then such Optionee shall pay the 
balance of the total Option Price in cash, other property or services, as provided in subsection (a) above.  

6.9                 Effect of Termination of Service, Disability or Death . Except as provided in subsections (a), (b) and (c) below, no Option shall 
be exercisable unless the Optionee thereof shall have been a Director from the date of the granting of the Option until the date of exercise.  

(a)      Termination of Service. In the event an Optionee ceases to be a Director for any reason other than death or Disability, any 
Option or unexercised portion thereof granted to him shall terminate on and shall not be exercisable after the earliest to occur of  the 
expiration date of the Option,  three months after the date the Optionee ceases to be a Director or the date on which the Company gives 
notice to such Optionee of termination of his service as a Director if service is terminated by the Company or by its shareholders for Cause 
(an Optionee’s resignation in anticipation of termination of service by the Company or by its shareholders for Cause shall constitute a 
notice of termination by the Company). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that an Optionee’s service as a Director terminates for a 
reason other than death or Disability at any time after a Change of Control, the term of all Options of that Optionee shall be extended 
through the end of the three-month period immediately following the date of such termination of service. Prior to the earlier of the dates 
specified in the preceding sentences of this subsection (a), the Option shall be exercisable only in accordance with its terms and only for the 
number of shares exercisable on the date of termination of service as a Director.  

(b)      Disability. Upon the termination of an Optionee’s service as a Director due to Disability, any Option or unexercised portion 
thereof granted to him which is otherwise exercisable shall terminate on and shall not be exercisable after the earlier to occur of the 
expiration date of such Option, or one year after the date on which such Optionee ceases to be a Director due to Disability. Prior to the 
earlier of such date, such Option shall be exercisable only in accordance with its terms and only for the number of shares exercisable on the 
date such Optionee’s service as a Director ceases due to Disability.  

(c)      Death. In the event of the death of the Optionee  while he is a Director,  within three months after the date on which such 
Optionee’s service as a Director is terminated (for a reason other than  
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Cause) as provided in subsection (a) above, or within one year after the date on which such Optionee’s service as a Director terminated due 
to his Disability, any Option or unexercised portion thereof granted to him which is otherwise exercisable may be exercised by the 
Optionee’s Beneficiary at any time prior to the expiration of one year from the date of death of such Optionee, but in no event later than the 
date of expiration of the option period. Such exercise shall be effected pursuant to the terms of this Section as if such Beneficiary is the 
named Optionee.  

6.10               Restrictions on Transfer and Exercise of Options . No Option shall be assignable or transferable by the Optionee except by 
transfer to a Beneficiary upon the death of the Optionee, and any purported transfer (other than as excepted above) shall be null and void. After the 
death of an Optionee and upon the death of the Optionee’s Beneficiary, an Option shall be transferred only by will or by the laws of descent and 
distribution. During the lifetime of an Optionee, the Option shall be exercisable only by him; provided, however, that in the event the Optionee is 
incapacitated and unable to exercise Options, such Options may be exercised by such Optionee’s legal guardian, legal representative, fiduciary or 
other representative whom the Committee deems appropriate based on applicable facts and circumstances.  

6.11               Rights as a Shareholder . An Optionee shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to shares covered by his Option until 
date of the issuance of the shares to him and only after the Option Price of such shares is fully paid. Unless specified in Article 7, no adjustment 
will be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to the date of such issuance.  

6.12               No Obligation to Exercise Option . The granting of an Option shall impose no obligation upon the Optionee to exercise such 
Option.  

ARTICLE 7  

Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization  

7.1                 Recapitalization . In the event that the outstanding shares of the Common Stock of the Company are hereafter increased or 
decreased or changed into or exchanged for a different number or kind of shares or other securities of the Company by reason of a recapitalization, 
reclassification, stock split, combination of shares or dividend payable in shares of the Common Stock, the following rules shall apply:  

(a)      The Committee shall make an appropriate adjustment in the number and kind of shares available for the granting of Options 
under the Plan, and in the number and kind of shares granted under Section 5.2.  

(b)      The Committee also shall make an appropriate adjustment in the number and kind of shares as to which outstanding Options, or 
portions thereof then unexercised, shall be exercisable; any such adjustment in any outstanding Options shall be made without change in the 
total price applicable to the unexercised portion of such Option and with a corresponding adjustment in the Option Price per share. No 
fractional shares shall be issued or optioned in making the foregoing adjustments, and the number of shares available under the Plan or the 
number of shares subject to any outstanding Options shall be the next lower number of shares, rounding all fractions downward.  

(c)      If any rights or warrants to subscribe for additional shares are given pro rata to holders of outstanding shares of the class or 
classes of stock then set aside for the Plan, each Optionee shall be entitled to the same rights or warrants on the same basis as holders of the 
outstanding shares with respect to such portion of his Option as is exercised on or prior to the record date for determining shareholders 
entitled to receive or exercise such rights or warrants.  

7.2                 Reorganization . Subject to any required action by the shareholders, if the Company shall be a party to any reorganization 
involving merger, consolidation, acquisition of the stock or acquisition of the assets of the Company which does not constitute a Change of 
Control, and if the agreement memorializing such reorganization so provides, any Option granted but not yet exercised shall pertain to and apply, 
with appropriate  
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adjustment as determined by the Committee, to the securities of the resulting corporation to which a holder of the number of shares of the 
Common Stock subject to such Option would have been entitled. If such agreement does not so provide, any or all Options granted hereunder shall 
become immediately nonforfeitable and fully exercisable or vested (to the extent permitted under federal or state securities laws) and are to be 
terminated after giving at least 30 days’ notice to the Optionees to whom such Options have been granted.  

7.3                 Dissolution and Liquidation . If the Board adopts a plan of dissolution and liquidation that is approved by the shareholders of the 
Company, the Committee shall give each Optionee written notice of such event at least ten days prior to its effective date, and the rights of all 
Optionees shall become immediately nonforfeitable and fully exercisable or vested (to the extent permitted under federal or state securities laws).  

7.4                 Limits on Adjustments . Any issuance by the Company of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any 
class, shall not affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of shares of the Common Stock 
subject to any Option, except as specifically provided otherwise in this Article. The grant of Options pursuant to the Plan shall not affect in any 
way the right or power of the Company to make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations or changes of its capital or business structure or to 
merge, consolidate or dissolve, or to liquidate, sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets. All adjustments the Committee makes under 
this Article shall be conclusive.  

ARTICLE 8  

Agreement by Optionee and Securities Registration  

8.1                 Agreement . If, in the opinion of counsel to the Company, such action is necessary or desirable, no Options shall be granted to 
any Optionee, and no Option shall be exercisable, unless, at the time of grant or exercise, as applicable, such Optionee (i) represents and warrants 
that he will acquire the Common Stock for investment only and not for purposes of resale or distribution, and (ii) makes such further 
representations and warranties as are deemed necessary or desirable by counsel to the Company with regard to holding and resale of the Common 
Stock. The Optionee shall, upon the request of the Committee, execute and deliver to the Company an agreement or affidavit to such effect. 
Should the Committee have reasonable cause to believe that such Optionee did not execute such agreement or affidavit in good faith, the 
Company shall not be bound by the grant of the Option or by the exercise of the Option. All certificates representing shares of Common Stock 
issued pursuant to the Plan shall be marked with the following restrictive legend or similar legend, if such marking, in the opinion of counsel to 
the Company, is necessary or desirable:  

The shares by this certificate [have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any state and] 
are held by an “affiliate” (as such term is defined in Rule 144 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended) of the Corporation. Accordingly, these shares may not be sold, hypothecated, pledged or otherwise transferred 
except (i) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any applicable securities laws or 
regulations of any state with respect to such shares, (ii) in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission rule 144, or (iii) upon the 
issuance to the Corporation of a favorable opinion of counsel or the submission to the Corporation of such other evidence as may be 
satisfactory to the Corporation that such proposed sale, assignment, encumbrance or other transfer will not be in violation of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, or any applicable securities laws of any state or any rules or regulations thereunder. Any attempted transfer of this 
certificate or the shares represented hereby which is in violation of the preceeding restrictions will not be recognized by the Corporation, 
nor will any transferee by recognized as the owner thereof by the Corporation.  

If the Common Stock is (A) held by an Optionee who ceases to be an “affiliate,” as that term is defined in Rule 144 of the 1933 Act, or (B) 
registered under the 1933 Act and all applicable state securities laws and regulations as provided in Section 8.2, the Committee, in its discretion 
and with the advice of counsel, may dispense with or authorize the removal of the restrictive legend set forth above or the portion thereof which is 
inapplicable.  
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8.2                 Registration . In the event that the Company in its sole discretion shall deem it necessary or advisable to register, under the 1933 
Act or any state securities laws or regulations, any shares with respect to which Options have been granted hereunder, then the Company shall take 
such action at its own expense before delivery of the certificates representing such shares to an Optionee. In such event, and if the shares of 
Common Stock of the Company shall be listed on any national securities exchange or on The Nasdaq National Market at the time of the exercise 
of any Option, the Company shall make prompt application at its own expense for the listing on such stock exchange or The Nasdaq National 
Market of the shares of Common Stock to be issued.  

ARTICLE 9  

Effective Date  

The Plan shall be effective as of the Effective Date, and no Options shall be granted hereunder prior to said date. Adoption of the Plan shall 
be approved by the shareholders of the Company at the earlier of (i) the annual meeting of the shareholders of the Company which immediately 
follows the date of the first grant or award of Options hereunder, or (ii) 12 months after the adoption of the Plan by the Board. Shareholder 
approval shall be made by a majority of the votes cast at a duly held meeting at which a quorum representing a majority of all outstanding voting 
stock is, either in person or by proxy, present and voting on the Plan, or by the written consent in lieu of a meeting of the holders of a majority of 
the outstanding voting stock or such greater number of shares of voting stock as may be required by the Company’s articles or certificate of 
incorporation and bylaws and by applicable law; provided, however, such shareholder approval, whether by vote or by written consent in lieu of a 
meeting, must be solicited substantially in accordance with the rules and regulations in effect under Section 14(a) of the 1934 Act. Failure to 
obtain such approval shall render the Plan and any Options granted hereunder null and void ab initio .  

ARTICLE 10  

Amendment and Termination  

10.1               Amendment and Termination By the Board . Subject to Section 10.2 below, the Board shall have the power at any time to add to, 
amend, modify or repeal any of the provisions of the Plan, to suspend the operation of the entire Plan or any of its provisions for any period or 
periods or to terminate the Plan in whole or in part. In the event of any such action, the Committee shall prepare written procedures which, when 
approved by the Board, shall govern the administration of the Plan resulting from such addition, amendment, modification, repeal, suspension or 
termination.  

10.2               Restrictions on Amendment and Termination . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 10.1 above, the following restrictions 
shall apply to the Board’s authority under Section 10.1 above:  

(a)      Prohibition Against Adverse Affects on Outstanding Options. No addition, amendment, modification, repeal, suspension or 
termination shall adversely affect, in any way, the rights of the Optionees who have outstanding Options without the consent of such 
Optionees;  

(b)      Shareholder Approval Required for Certain Modifications. No modification or amendment of the Plan may be made without 
the prior approval of the shareholders of the Company if such modification or amendment would cause the applicable portions of the Plan 
to fail to qualify as an ISO plan pursuant to Code §422, such modification or amendment would materially increase the benefits accruing to 
participants under the Plan, such modification or amendment would materially increase the number of securities which may be issued under 
the Plan, or such modification or amendment would materially modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation in the Plan. 
Clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) of the preceding sentence shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b)(2) of Rule 16b-3 
of the 1934 Act. Shareholder approval shall be made by a majority of the votes cast at a duly held meeting at which a quorum representing a 
majority of all outstanding voting stock is, either in person or by proxy, present and voting, or by the written consent in lieu of a meeting of 
the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting stock or such greater number of shares of voting stock as may be required by the 
Company’s articles or certificate of incorporation and bylaws and by applicable law; provided, however,  
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that for modifications described in clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, such shareholder approval, whether by vote or by written consent in lieu 
of a meeting, must be solicited substantially in accordance with the rules and regulations in effect under Section 14(a) of the 1934 Act as 
required by paragraph (b)(2) of Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act; and  

(c)      Six Month Restriction on Amendments. No provision of this Plan may be modified or amended more than once every six 
months, other than to comport with changes in the Code, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or the rules 
and regulations promulgated thereunder. The preceding sentence shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (c)(ii)
(B) of Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act.  

ARTICLE 11  

Miscellaneous Provisions  

11.1               Application of Funds . The proceeds received by the Company from the sale of the Common Stock subject to the Options 
granted hereunder will be used for general corporate purposes.  

11.2               Notices . All notices or other communications by an Optionee to the Committee pursuant to or in connection with the Plan shall 
be deemed to have been duly given when received in the form specified by the Committee at the location, or by the person, designated by the 
Committee for the receipt thereof.  

11.3               Term of Plan . Subject to the terms of Article 10, the Plan shall terminate upon the later of (i) the complete exercise or lapse of 
the last outstanding Option, or (ii) the last date upon which Options may be granted hereunder.  

11.4               Compliance with Rule 16b-3 . This Plan is intended to be in compliance with the requirements of Rule 16b-3 as promulgated 
under Section 16 of the 1934 Act.  

11.5               Governing Law . The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama.  

11.6               Additional Provisions By Committee . The Option Agreements authorized under the Plan may contain such other provisions, 
including, without limitation, restrictions upon the exercise of an Option, as the Committee shall deem advisable; provided, such authority may 
not disqualify the Plan from being a “formula plan” within the meaning of paragraph (c)(2)(ii) of Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act.  

11.7               Plan Document Controls . In the event of any conflict between the provisions of an Option Agreement and the Plan, the Plan 
shall control.  

11.8               Gender and Number . Wherever applicable, the masculine pronoun shall include the feminine pronoun, and the singular shall 
include the plural.  

11.9               Headings . The titles in this Plan are inserted for convenience of reference; they constitute no part of the Plan and are not to be 
considered in the construction hereof.  

11.10             Legal References . Any references in this Plan to a provision of law which is, subsequent to the Effective Date of this Plan, 
revised, modified, finalized or redesignated, shall automatically be deemed a reference to such revised, modified, finalized or redesignated 
provision of law.  

11.11             No Rights to Perform Services . Nothing contained in the Plan, or any modification thereof, shall be construed to give any 
individual any rights to perform services for the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company.  
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11.12             Unfunded Arrangement . The Plan shall not be funded, and except for reserving a sufficient number of authorized shares to the 
extent required by law to meet the requirements of the Plan, the Company shall not be required to establish any special or separate fund or to make 
any other segregation of assets to assure the payment of any grant under the Plan.  

ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS EFFECTIVE AS OF OCTOB ER 31, 1995  

APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS ON APRIL 19, 1996  

FIRST AMENDMENT ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
EFFECTIVE AS OF APRIL 20, 1999  

SECOND AMENDMENT ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
EFFECTIVE AS OF JULY 15, 1999  

AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIREC TORS  
EFFECTIVE AS OF JANUARY 13, 2000  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN  
ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
EFFECTIVE AS OF DECEMBER 20, 2001  

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED PLAN  
ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

EFFECTIVE AS OF MARCH 18, 2003  
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE  
ADTRAN, INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED  

1995 DIRECTORS STOCK OPTION PLAN  

This FIRST AMENDMENT to the ADTRAN, INC. AMENDED AND RESTATED 1995 DIRECTORS STOCK OPTION PLAN (the 
“Plan”), made by ADTRAN, Inc. (the “Company”) is effective as of December 20, 2001;  

W I T N E S S E T H:  

WHEREAS , the Company maintains the Plan for the benefit of its non-employee directors;  

WHEREAS , the Company implemented the Plan to encourage its non-employee directors to obtain a proprietary interest in the Company, 
to provide those directors with an added incentive to continue service as directors and to stimulate their efforts in promoting the growth, efficiency 
and profitability of the Company;  

WHEREAS , due to market fluctuations, the exercise prices of many of the options granted to non-employee directors under the Plan are 
not significantly higher than current value, and the optionees holding those options are unlikely to be motivated by the opportunities generally 
presented by the grant of stock options;  

WHEREAS , the Company wishes to recapture the value of stock options for its non-employee directors in order to further the purposes of 
the Plan;  

WHEREAS , the Company intends to implement a program to offer its non-employee directors (as well as others) the opportunity to 
surrender certain previously granted stock options and receive a smaller number of new options granted under the Plan and the Company’s other 
stock option plans at current market prices;  

WHEREAS , in order to permit the Company’s non-employee directors to participate in the option exchange offer, the Company wishes to 
amend the Plan at this time;  

WHEREAS , Article 10 of the Plan allows the Board of Directors to amend the Plan at any time, subject to shareholder approval of any 
amendment which would materially increase the benefits accruing to participants under the Plan, and certain other restrictions not applicable in 
this instance; and  

WHEREAS , the Board of Directors, after consulting with counsel, determined this First Amendment to the Plan, does not materially 
increase the benefits accruing to participants under the Plan;  

NOW, THEREFORE , the Company hereby amends the Plan as follows:  

1.               A new Section 2.13A shall be added between Sections 2.13 and 2.14 of the Plan, to read as follows:  

“2.13A          Exchange Offer shall mean that certain Offer to Exchange dated January 28, 2002, as set forth in the Schedule TO to be filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Rule 13e-4 of the 1934 Act.”  

2.               The first sentence of Section 5.2(b) of the Plan shall be amended to read as follows:  

“ Option Upon Commencement of Term . Except as provided in Section 5.3(a) below, as of December 31 of each calendar year following 
the calendar year in which a Director receives a grant of Options under subsection (a) above, an individual shall, if such individual is a Director as 
of such date and subject to subsections (c) and (d) below, be granted an Option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock, with such Option 
subject to the provisions of Article 6 below.”  

3.               To conform Section 5.2(d) of the Plan to the amendments effective as of April 20, 1999, Section 5.2(d) shall be amended by striking 
“2,000” and by substituting “5,000” in lieu thereof.  
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4.               A new Section 5.3 shall be added to the Plan as follows:  

“5.3               Option Exchange. Notwithstanding anything in this Plan to the contrary, each individual who is a Director as of December 31, 
2001 shall receive a grant of Options pursuant to subsection (a) below, and may be eligible for a grant of Options pursuant to subsection (b) below 
under the terms of the Exchange Offer:  

(a)      Elimination of 2001 Grants . No grants shall be made to Directors under Section 5.2(b) above as of December 31, 2001. Any 
individual who would otherwise have received a grant under Section 5.2(b) shall instead receive a grant as follows: (i) for any Director who 
elects to participate in the Exchange Offer, as of the date that such Director receives a grant of Options under subsection (b) below, such 
individual shall, if such individual is a Director as of such date, be granted an Option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock, with such 
Option subject to the provisions of Article 6 below; or (ii) for any Director who elects not to participate in the Exchange Offer, as of the 
date that is one business day after termination of the Exchange Offer, such individual shall, if such individual is a Director as of such date, 
be granted an Option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock, with such Option subject to the provisions of Article 6 below. No 
Director shall be granted an Option to purchase more than 5,000 shares under the provisions of this subsection.                

(b)      Option Grants . As of a date that is within the 30-day period beginning on the first business day which is at least six months 
and two days after the date on which Options are cancelled under the Exchange Offer, for each eligible Option that a Director tenders and 
the Company accepts for exchange pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Offer, such Director shall, if the individual is a Director as of 
such date, be granted an Option to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock equal to three shares for every four shares that were 
subject to the tendered Option plus additional shares equal to the remaining number of shares if the number tendered is not divisible by 
four, as provided under the terms of the Exchange Offer. Such grant shall be subject to the provisions of Article 6 below.”  

5.               The first sentence of Section 6.3 shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

“Each Option shall first become exercisable with respect to the shares subject to such Option as of the first anniversary of the date the 
Option is granted; provided, any Option granted under Section 5.3(b) as a result of the Exchange Offer shall be 100% exercisable immediately 
upon the date of grant.”  

6.               Section 6.5 shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

“6.5               Terms of Options . Terms of Options granted under the Plan shall commence on the date of grant and shall expire ten years from 
the date the Option is granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term of any Option granted under Section 5.3(b) as a result of the Exchange 
Offer shall commence on the date of grant and shall expire on the expiration date of the Option that was tendered in exchange for such Option 
pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Offer. No Option shall be granted hereunder after ten years from the earlier of (a) the date the Plan is 
approved by the shareholders, or (b) the date the Plan is adopted by the Board.”  

7.               Section 10.2(b) shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

“(b)    Shareholder Approval Required for Certain Modifications. No modification or amendment of the Plan may be made without 
the prior approval of the shareholders of the Company if (i) such modification or amendment would materially increase the benefits 
accruing to participants under the Plan, (ii) such modification or amendment would materially increase the number of securities which may 
be issued under the Plan, or (iii) such modification or amendment would materially modify the requirements as to eligibility for 
participation in the Plan. Clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of the preceding sentence shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph (b)(2) of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act, as such rule was in effect on August 14, 1996. Shareholder approval shall 
be made by a majority of the votes cast at a duly held meeting at which a quorum representing a majority of all outstanding voting stock is, 
either in person or by proxy, present and voting, or by the written consent in lieu of a meeting of the holders of a majority of the outstanding 
voting stock or such greater number of  
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shares of voting stock as may be required by the Company’s articles or certificate of incorporation and bylaws and by applicable law; 
provided, however, that for modifications described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above, such shareholder approval, whether by vote or by 
written consent in lieu of a meeting, must be solicited substantially in accordance with the rules and regulations in effect under Section 14
(a) of the 1934 Act as required by paragraph (b)(2) of Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act; and”  

8.               Section 10.2(c) shall be deleted.  

9.               All other provisions of the Plan not inconsistent herewith shall remain in full force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has caused this First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Plan to be executed by its duly 
authorized officer.  
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      ADTRAN, INC.  
 
    By:  

 
/s/ J AMES E. M ATTHEWS  

         
         James E. Matthews  

Senior Vice President – Finance and Administration  
and Chief Financial Officer  



SECOND AMENDMENT  
TO THE ADTRAN, INC.  

AMENDED AND RESTATED  
1995 DIRECTORS STOCK OPTION PLAN  

This Second Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) is made and entered 
into this 18th day of March, 2003, by ADTRAN, Inc. (the “Company”).  

W I T N E S S E T H:  

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Plan, which is administered by a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the “Board”), to provide for grants of options to non-employee members of the Board; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and guidance issued thereunder, the Board 
has determined that it is advisable to amend the Plan to eliminate provisions permitting an optionee to pay the exercise price of an option by 
instructing the Company to retain shares of common stock of the Company upon the exercise of an option under the Plan with a fair market value 
equal to the exercise price; and  

WHEREAS, Article 10 of the Plan permits the Board to amend the Plan at any time, subject to consent of the outstanding optionees for any 
amendment that would adversely affect, in any way, the rights of such optionees; and  

WHEREAS, the Board adopted resolutions approving the Second Amendment, on March 18, 2003;  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company hereby amends the Plan as follows:  

Effective as of March 18, 2003, Section 6.8 of the Plan shall be amended to read as follows:  

1.  

“6.8               Medium and Time of Payment.  

(a)      The Option Price shall be payable upon the exercise of the Option in an amount equal to the number of shares then being 
purchased times the per share Option Price. Payment, at the election of the Optionee (or his Beneficiary as provided in subsection (c) of 
Section 6.9), shall be (A) in cash; (B) by delivery to the Company of a certificate or certificates for shares of the Common Stock evidencing 
that the shares have been owned by the Optionee for at least six months duly endorsed for transfer to the Company with signature 
guaranteed by a member firm of a national stock exchange or by a national or state bank or a federally chartered thrift institution (or 
guaranteed or notarized in such other manner as the Committee may require); or (C) by a combination of (A) and (B).  

(b)      If the Optionee delivers Common Stock with a value that is less than the total Option Price, then such Optionee shall pay the 
balance of the total Option Price in cash, as provided in subsection (a) above.”  

2.  

Except as specifically amended hereby, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its duly authorized officer to execute this Second Amendment on the date first set 
forth above.  
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      ADTRAN, INC.  
 
    By:  

 
/s/ J AMES E. M ATTHEWS  

         
         James E. Matthews  

Senior Vice President – Finance and Administration  
and Chief Financial Officer  



EXHIBIT 10.3(e) 

CPR SELECT  

THE CORPORATE PLAN FOR RETIREMENT  
SELECT P LAN  

Adoption Agreement  

IMPORTANT NOTE  

This document is not an IRS approved Prototype Plan. An Adopting Employer may not rely solely on this Plan to ensure that the Plan is 
“unfunded and maintained primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation to a select group of management or highly 
compensated employees” and exempt from Parts 2 through 4 of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 with 
respect to the Employer’s particular situation. Fidelity Management Trust Company, its affiliates and employees may not provide you 
with legal advice in connection with the execution of this document. This document should be reviewed by your attorney and/or 
accountant prior to execution.  
 

   



ADOPTION AGREEMENT  
ARTICLE 1  

1.01       PLAN INFORMATION  
   

 
 

   

   (a)  Name of Plan:  
         
      This is the ADTRAN INC. Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Plan”).  
         
   (b)  Name of Plan Administrator, if not the Employer:  
         
      ADTRAN INC.  
      Address:  901 Explorer Blvd.,  
         Huntsville, AL 35814  
      Phone Number: 256-963-8000  
         
      The Plan Administrator is the agent for service of legal process for the Plan.  
         
   (c)  Three Digit Plan Number:        001  
         
   (d)  Plan Year End (month/day):   December, 31 st .  
         
   (e)  Plan Status (check one):  
         
      (1)   Effective Date of new Plan: 9-1-2001  
         
      (2)  � Amendment Effective Date:  
               
            The original effective date of the Plan.  



1.02       EMPLOYER  
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   (a)  The Employer is:   ADTRAN INC.    
      Address:  901 Explorer Blvd.    
         Huntsville, AL 35814    

      
Contact’s Name:   Peter J. Ritch  
Telephone Number:  256-963-8608    

              
      (1)  Employer’s Tax Identification Number: 63-0918200    
      (2)  Business form of Employer (check one):    
              
         (A)   Corporation    
                    
         (B) �       Sole proprietor or partnership    
                    
         (C) �      Subchapter S Corporation    
                    
      (3)  Employer’s fiscal year end: December 31 st .    
           

   
(b)  The term “Employer” includes the following Related Employer(s)  

(as defined in Section 2.01(a)(21)):    

           
         None    
         _____________________________________________________________  
         _____________________________________________________________  
         _____________________________________________________________  
         _____________________________________________________________  



1.03       COVERAGE  
   

 
1.04       COMPENSATION  

For purposes of determining Contributions under the Plan, Compensation shall be as defined in Section 2.01(a)(6), but excluding 
(check the appropriate box(es)):  

   

 
1.05       CONTRIBUTIONS  
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   (a)  Only those Employees listed in Attachment A will be eligible to participate in the Plan.  
         
   (b)  The Entry Date(s) shall be (check one):  
               
      (1)   the first day of each Plan Year.  
               
      (2)  � the first day of each Plan Year and the date six months later.  
               
      (3)  � the first day or each Plan Year and the first day of the fourth, seventh, and tenth months.  
               
      (4)  � the first day of each month.  

   (a)  � Overtime Pay.  
            
   (b)     Bonuses.  
            
   (c)     Commissions.  
            

   
(d)  � The value of a qualified or a non-qualified stock option granted to an Employee by the Employer to 

the extent such value is includable in the Employee’s taxable income  
            
   (e)  � No exclusions.  

   

(a)  

  

Deferral Contributions. The Employer shall make a Deferral Contribution in accordance with Section 4.01 on behalf of each 
Participant who has an executed salary reduction agreement in effect with the Employer for the Plan Year (or portion of the 
Plan Year) in question, not to exceed 25% of base salary compensation for that Plan Year and up to 100% of bonus payments 
earned during the plan year. See Amendment # 1 attached.  
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   (b)  � Matching Contributions-  

         
(1) 

   
The Employer shall make a Matching Contribution on behalf of each Participant in an amount equal to the following 
percentage of a Participant’s Deferral Contributions during the Plan Year (check one):  

                     
               (A)  � 50%  
                     

   
               (B)  � 100%  
                     

   
               (C)  � ______%  
                     

   

               
(D)  � (Tiered Match) ______% of the first ______% of the Participant’s Compensation 

contributed to the Plan,  
                        

                     
______% of the next ______% of the Participant’s Compensation contributed to the 
Plan,  

                        

                     
______% of the next ______% of the Participant’s Compensation contributed to the 
Plan.  

                        
               (E)   The percentage declared for the year, if any, by a Board of Directors’  resolution.  
                        

               
(F)  

   
Other: The amount for the year, if any, will be determined by a Board of Directors 
Resolution.  

                        
                     _____________________________________________________  
                        
                     _____________________________________________________  
                        
                     _____________________________________________________  
                        
                     _____________________________________________________  
                     
         (2) � Matching Contribution Limits (check the appropriate box(es)):  

            
   (A)  � Deferral Contributions in excess of ______% of the Participant’s Compensation for the period in question shall not 

be considered for Matching Contributions.  
                        
               Note:    If the Employer elects a percentage limit in (A) above and requests the Trustee to account separately for matched 

and unmatched Deferral Contributions, the Matching Contributions allocated to each Participant must be computed, 
and the percentage limit applied, based upon each period.  



   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
1.06       DISTRIBUTION DATES  

A Participant may elect to receive a distribution or commence distributions from his Account pursuant to Section 8.02 upon the following 
date(s) (check the appropriate box(es). If Option (c) is elected, then options (a) and (b) may not be elected):  
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               (B)  � Matching Contributions, for each Participant for each Plan Year shall be limited to $_________________.  
                        
         (3)    Eligibility Requirement(s) for Matching Contributions  

               

A Participant who makes Deferral Contributions during the Plan Year under Section 1.05(a) shall be entitled to Matching 
Contributions for that Plan Year if the Participant satisfies the following requirement(s) (Check the appropriate box(es). 
Options (B) and (C) may not be elected together):  

            
   (A)  

  Is employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year.  
                        

            
   

(B) 
� 

       Earns at least 500 Hours of Service during the Plan Year.  
                        

            
   

(C) 
� 

       Earns at least 1,000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year.  
                        

            
   

(D) 
� 

       No requirements.  

            

   Note:     If option (A), (B) or (C) above is selected then Matching Contributions can only be made by the Employer after 
the Plan Year ends. Any Matching Contribution made before Plan Year end shall not be subject to the eligibility 
requirements of this Section 1.05(b)(3)).  

   (a)    Attainment of Normal Retirement Age. Normal Retirement Age under the Plan is (check one):  
               
         (1)   age 65.  
                  
         (2)  � age _____ (specify from 55 through 64).  
                  

         
(3)  � later of the age _____ (can not exceed 65) or the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s 

Commencement Date.  
                  

   (b) � Attainment of Early Retirement Age. Early Retirement Age is the first day of the month after the Participant attains age _____ 
(specify 55 or greater) and completes _____ Years of Service for Vesting.  



   

 
1.07       VESTING SCHEDULE  
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   (c) 
 

 Termination of employment with the Employer .  

   
(a) 

   
The Participant’s vested percentage in Matching Contributions elected in Section 1.05(b) shall be based upon the schedule(s) 
selected below.  

         (1)  � N/A – No Matching Contributions  
                  
         (2)  � 100% Vesting immediately  
                  
         (3)     3 year cliff (see C below)  
                  
         (4)  � 5 year cliff (see D below)  
                  
         (5)  � 6 year graduated (see E below)  
                  
         (6)  � 7 year graduated (see F below)  
                  
         (7)   G below  
                  
         (8)  � Other (Attachment “B” )  

         Years of  
Service for  

Vesting  
   Vesting Schedule     

            C     D     E     F     G     
         0     0 %  0 %  0 %  0 %  ___    
        1     0 %  0 %  0 %  0 %  ___    
        2     0 %  0 %  20 %  0 %  ___    
        3     100 %  0 %  40 %  20 %  ___    
        4     100 %  0 %  60 %  40 %  ___    
        5     100 %  100 %  80 %  60 %  ___    
        6     100 %  100 %  100 %  80 %  ___    
        7     100 %  100 %  100 %  100 %  100 %  

   (b)  � Years of Service for Vesting shall exclude (check one):  

         (1)   for new plans, service prior to the Effective Date as defined in Section 1.01(e)(1).  
                  

         
(2)  � for existing plans converting from another plan document, service prior to the original Effective Date as defined in Section 

1.01(e)(2).  



    

   

 
1.08       PREDECESSOR EMPLOYER SERVICE  
   

 
1.09       HARDSHIP WITHDRAWALS  

Participant withdrawals for hardship prior to termination of employment (check one):  
   

 
1.10       DISTRIBUTIONS  

Subject to Articles 7 and 8, distributions under the Plan will be paid (check the appropriate box(es)):  
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(c)   A Participant will forfeit his Matching Contributions upon the occurrence of the following event(s): criminal activity, theft, 

violation of non-compete agreement.  
           _______________________________________________  
              
           _______________________________________________  
            
   (d)     A Participant will be 100% vested in his Matching Contributions upon (check the appropriate box(es), if any):  

         (1)  � Normal Retirement Age (as defined in Section 1.06(a)).  
                  
         (2)  � Early Retirement Age (as defined in Section 1.06(b)).  
                  
         (3)  � Death  

   
� 

   
Service for purposes of vesting in Section 1.07(a) shall include service with the following employer
(s): None  

            
   (a)     _____________________________________________________________________________  
            
   (b)     _____________________________________________________________________________  
            
   (c)     _____________________________________________________________________________  
            
   (d)     _____________________________________________________________________________  

   
(a)   

 

will be allowed in accordance with Section 7.07, subject to a $_10,000.00_ minimum amount 
(Must be at least $1,000)  

            

   
(b)  � 

      will not be allowed.  

   (a)  
 

 as a lump sum.  
            

   (b)  
� 

      under a systematic withdrawal plan (installments) not to exceed 10 years.  



1.11       INVESTMENT DECISIONS  
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   (a)     Investment Directions  
            
         Investments in which the Accounts of Participants shall be treated as invested and reinvested shall be directed (check one): 

            

         (1)  
� 

      by the Employer among the options listed in (b) below.  
                  

         (2)  
 

  by each Participant among the options listed in (b) below.  
                  

         

(3)  �      by each Participant with respect to Deferral Contributions and by the Employer with respect to Employer Matching 
Contributions. The Employer must direct the Employer Matching Contributions among the same investment options made 
available for Participant directed sources listed in (b) below.  

   (b)     Plan Investment Options  

         
Participant Accounts will be treated as invested among the Fidelity Funds listed below pursuant to Participant and/or Employer 
directions.  

         Same fund selection as in the ADTRAN 401(k) program  

Fund Name     Fund Number     
            
(1) Fidelity Retirement Money Market Portfolio     0630     
(2) Fidelity Government Income Fund     0054     
(3) Fidelity U. S. Bond Index Fund     0651     
(4) Fidelity Balanced Fund     0304     
(5) Fidelity Equity-Income Fund     0023     
(6) Fidelity Fund     0003     
(7) Spartan U. S. Equity Index Fund     0650     
(8) Fidelity Aggressive Growth Fund     0324     
(9) Fidelity Blue Chip Growth     0312     
(10) Fidelity Growth Company Fund     0025     
(11) Fidelity Low-Price Stock Fund     0319     
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(12) Fidelity Diversified International Fund     0325     
(13) Fidelity Freedom Income Fund (SM)     0369     
(14) Fidelity Freedom 2000 Fund (SM)     0370     
(15) Fidelity Freedom 2010 Fund (SM)     0371     
(16) Fidelity Freedom 2020 Fund (SM)     0372     
(17) Fidelity Freedom 2030 Fund (SM)     0373     
(18) Fidelity Freedom 2040 Fund (SM)     0718     
(19) Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Institutional     OFM7     

 Small Co. Growth Portfolio-Class B           

         Note:  An additional annual recordkeeping fee will be charged for each fund in excess of five funds.  



   

 
1.12       RELIANCE ON PLAN  

An adopting Employer may not rely solely on this Plan to ensure that the Plan is “unfunded and maintained primarily for the purpose of 
providing deferred compensation for a select group of management or highly compensated employees” and exempt from Parts 2 through 4 
of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 with respect to the Employer’s particular situation. This Agreement 
must be reviewed by your attorney and/or accountant before it is executed.  

This Adoption Agreement may be used only in conjunction with the CORPORATEplan for Retirement Select Basic Plan Document.  
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         Note:  The method and frequency for change of investments will be determined under the rules applicable to the selected funds. 
Information will be provided regarding expenses, if any, for changes in investment options.  



EXECUTION PAGE  
(Fidelity’s Copy)  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Adoption Agreement to be executed this 18 day of June, 2001.  
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      Employer  ADTRAN, Inc.  
 
    By   

 
/s/ J OHN R . C OOPER  

         
      Title  Senior Vice President & CFO  

      Employer     
         
 
    By      
         
      Title     
         



EXECUTION PAGE  
(Employer’s Copy)  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused this Adoption Agreement to be executed this 18 day of June, 2001.  
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      Employer  ADTRAN, Inc.  
 
    By   

 
/s/ J OHN R . C OOPER  

         
      Title  Senior Vice President & CFO  

      Employer     
         
 
    By      
         
      Title     
         



The CORPORATEplan for Retirement Select Plan  

BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT  

IMPORTANT NOTE  

This document is not an IRS approved Prototype Plan. An Adopting Employer may not rely solely on this Plan to ensure that the Plan is 
“unfunded and maintained primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation to a select group of management or highly 
compensated employees” and exempt from parts 2 through 4 of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 with 
respect to the Employer’s particular situation. Fidelity Management Trust Company, its affiliates and employees may not provide you 
with legal advice in connection with the execution of this document. This document should be reviewed by your attorney and/or 
accountant prior to execution.  

CPR SELECT  
BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT  
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ARTICLE 1    

ADOPTION AGREEMENT    
     

ARTICLE 2    

DEFINITIONS    
     

2.01 - Definitions    
     

ARTICLE 3    

PARTICIPATION    
     

3.01 - Date of Participation    

3.02 - Resumption of Participation Following Re employment    

3.03 - Cessation or Resumption of Participation Following a Change in Status    
     

ARTICLE 4    

CONTRIBUTIONS    
     

4.01 - Deferral Contributions    

4.02. Matching Contributions    

4.03. Time of Making Employer Contributions    
     

ARTICLE 5    

PARTICIPANTS’  ACCOUNTS    
     

5.01 - Individual Accounts    
     

ARTICLE 6    

INVESTMENT OF CONTRIBUTIONS    
     

6.01 - Manner of Investment    

6.02 - Investment Decisions    
     

ARTICLE 7    

RIGHT TO BENEFITS    
     

7.01 - Normal or Early Retirement    

7.02 - Death    

7.03 - Other Termination of Employment    

7.04 - Separate Account    

7.05 - Forfeitures    

7.06 - Adjustment for Investment Experience    

7.07 - Hardship Withdrawals    
     

ARTICLE 8    

DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS PAYABLE AFTER TERMINATION OF SERVICE    
     

8.01 - Distribution of Benefits to Participants and Beneficiaries    

8.02 - Determination of Method of Distribution    

8.03 - Notice to Trustee    

8.04 - Time of Distribution    
     

ARTICLE 9    

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION    
     

9.01 - Amendment by Employer    
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9.02 - Retroactive Amendments    

9.03 - Termination    

9.04 - Distribution upon Termination of the Plan    
     

ARTICLE 10    

MISCELLANEOUS    
     

10.01 - Communication to Participants    

10.02 - Limitation of Rights    

10.03 - Nonalienability of Benefits    

10.04 - Facility of Payment    

10.05 - Information between Employer and Trustee    

10.06 - Notices    

10.07 - Governing Law    
     

ARTICLE 11    

PLAN ADMINISTRATION    
     

11.01 - Powers and responsibilities of the Administrator    

11.02 - Nondiscriminatory Exercise of Authority    

11.03 - Claims and Review Procedures    

11.04 - Cost of Administration    



PREAMBLE  

It is the intention of the Employer to establish herein an unfunded plan maintained solely for the purpose of providing deferred 
compensation for a select group of management or highly compensated employees for purposes of Title I of ERISA.  

Article 1.         Adoption Agreement.  

Article 2.         Definitions.  

2.01.      Definitions.  

(a)         Wherever used herein, the following terms have the meanings set forth below, unless a different meaning is clearly required by the 
context:  

(1)         “Account” means an account established on the books of the Employer for the purpose of recording amounts credited on 
behalf of a Participant and any income, expenses, gains or losses included thereon.  

(2)         “Administrator” means the Employer adopting this Plan, or other person designated by the Employer in Section 1.01(b).  

(3)         “Adoption Agreement” means Article 1 under which the Employer establishes and adopts or amends the Plan and designates 
the optional provisions selected by the Employer. The provisions of the Adoption Agreement shall be an integral part of the Plan.  

(4)         “Beneficiary” means the person or persons entitled under Section 7.02 to receive benefits under the Plan upon the death of a 
Participant.  

(5)         “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.  

(6)         “Compensation” shall mean for purposes of Article 4 (Contributions) wages as defined in Section 3401(a) of the Code and all 
other payments of compensation to an employee by the employer (in the course of the employers trade or business) for which the 
employer is required to finish the employee a written statement under Section 6041(d) and 6051(a)(3) of the Code, excluding any 
items elected by the Employer in Section 1.04, reimbursements or other expense allowances, fringe benefits (cash and non-cash), 
moving expenses, deferred compensation and welfare benefits, but including amounts that are not includable in the gross income of 
the Participant under a salary reduction agreement by reason of the application of Sections 125, 402(a)(8), 402(h), or 403(b) of the 
Code. Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Section 3401(a) of the Code that limit the remuneration 
included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural 
labor in Section 3401(a)(2) of the Code).  
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Compensation shall generally be based on the amount that would have been actually paid to the Participant during the Plan 
Year but for an election under Section 4.01.  

In the case of any Self-Employed Individual or an Owner-Employee Compensation shall mean the Individual’s Earned 
Income.  

(7)         “Earned Income” means the net earnings of a Self-Employed Individual derived from the trade or business with respect to 
which the Plan is established and for which the personal services of such individual are a material income-providing factor, excluding 
any items not included in gross income and the deductions allocated to such items, except that for taxable years beginning after 
December 31, 1989 net earnings shall be determined with regard to the deduction allowed under Section 164(f) of the Code, to the 
extent applicable to the Employer. Net earnings shall be reduced by contributions of the Employer to any qualified plan, to the extent 
a deduction is allowed to the Employer for such contributions under Section 404 of the Code.  

(8)         “Employee” means any employee of the Employer, Self-Employed Individual or Owner-Employee.  

(9)         “Employer” means the employer named in Section 1.02(a) and any Related Employers designated in Section 1.02(b).  

(10)       “Employment Commencement Date” means the date on which the Employee first performs an Hour of Service.  

(11)       “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as from time to time amended.  

(12)       “Fidelity Fund” means any Registered Investment Company which is made available to plans utilizing the CORPORATEplan 
for Retirement Select Plan.  

(13)       “Fund Share” means the share, unit, or other evidence of ownership in a Fidelity Fund.  

(14)       “Hour of Service” means, with respect to any Employee,  

(A)        Each hour for which the Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties 
for the Employer or a Related Employer, each such hour to be credited to the Employee for the computation period in which 
the duties were performed;  

(B)        Each hour for which the Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, by the Employer or Related 
Employer (including payments made or due from a trust fund or insurer to which the Employer contributes or pays premiums) 
on account of a period of time during  
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which no duties are performed (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday, 
illness, incapacity, disability, layoff, jury duty, military duty, or leave of absence, each such hour to be credited to the 
Employee for the Eligibility Computation Period in which such period of time occurs, subject to the following rules:  

(i)         No more than 501 Hours of Service shall be credited under this paragraph (B) on account of any single 
continuous period during which the Employee performs no duties;  

(ii)        Hours of Service shall not be credited under this paragraph (B) for a payment which solely reimburses the 
Employee for medically-related expenses, or which is made or due under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of 
complying with applicable workmen’s compensation, unemployment compensation or disability insurance laws; and  

(iii)       If the period during which the Employee performs no duties falls within two or more computation periods and if 
the payment made on account of such period is not calculated on the basis of units of time, the Hours of Service credited 
with respect to such period shall be allocated between not more than the first two such computation periods on any 
reasonable basis consistently applied with respect to similarly situated Employees; and  

(C)        Each hour not counted under paragraph (A) or (B) for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, has been 
either awarded or agreed to be paid by the Employer or a Related Employer, each such hour to be credited to the Employee for 
the computation period to which the award or agreement pertains rather than the computation period in which the award 
agreement or payment is made.  

For purposes of determining Hours of Service, Employees of the Employer and of all Related Employers will be treated 
as employed by a single employer. For purposes of paragraphs (B) and (C) above, Hours of Service will be calculated in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 2530.200b-2(b) of the Department of Labor regulations which are incorporated 
herein by reference.  

Solely for purposes of determining whether a break in service for participation purposes has occurred in a computation 
period, an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons shall receive credit for the hours of service 
which would otherwise been credited to such individual but for such absence, or in any case in which such hours cannot be 
determined, 8 hours of service per day of such absence. For purposes of this paragraph, an absence from work for maternity 
reasons means an absence (1) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, (2) by  
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reason of a birth of a child of the individual, (3) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with 
the adoption of such child by such individual, or (4) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately 
following such birth or placement. The hours of service credited under this paragraph shall be credited (1) in the computation 
period in which the absence begins if the crediting is necessary to prevent a break in service in that period, or (2) in all other 
cases, in the following computation period.  

(15)       “Normal Retirement Age” means the normal retirement age specified in Section 1.06(a) of the Adoption Agreement.  

(16)       “Owner-Employee” means, if the Employer is a sole proprietorship, the individual who is the sole proprietor, or if the 
Employer is a partnership, a partner who owns more than 10 percent of either the capital interest or the profits interest of the 
partnership.  

(17)       “Participant” means any Employee who participates in the Plan in accordance with Article 3 hereof.  

(18)       “Plan” means the plan established by the Employer as set forth herein as a new plan or as an amendment to an existing plan, 
by executing the Adoption Agreement, together with any and all amendments hereto.  

(19)       “Plan Year” means the 12-consecutive month period designated by the Employer in Section 1.01(d).  

(20)       “Registered Investment Company” means any one or more corporations, partnerships or trusts registered under the 
Investment Company Act of 1940 for which Fidelity Management and Research Company serves as investment advisor.  

(21)       “Related Employer” means any employer other than the Employer named in Section 1.02(a), if the Employer and such other 
employer are members of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Section 414(b) of the Code) or an affiliated service group 
(as defined in Section 414(m)), or are trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) which are under common control (as defined 
in Section 414(c)), or such other employer is required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to regulations issued under 
Section 414(o).  

(22)       “Self-Employed Individual” means an individual who has Earned Income for the taxable year from the Employer or who 
would have had Earned Income but for the fact that the trade or business had no net profits for the taxable year.  

(23)       “Trust” means the trust created by the Employer.  

(24)       “Trust Agreement” means the agreement between the Employer and the Trustee, as set forth in a separate agreement, under 
which assets are held, administered, and managed subject to the claims of the Employer’s creditors in  
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the event of the Employer’s insolvency, until paid to Plan Participants and their Beneficiaries as specified in the Plan.  

(25)       “Trust Fund” means the property held in the Trust by the Trustee.  

(26)       “Trustee” means the corporation or individuals appointed by the Employer to administer the Trust in accordance with the 
Trust Agreement.  

(27)       “Years of Service for Vesting” means, with respect to any Employee, the number of whole years of his periods of service with 
the Employer or a Related Employer (the elapsed time method to compute vesting service), subject to any exclusions elected by the 
Employer in Section 1.07(b). An Employee will receive credit for the aggregate of all time period(s) commencing with the 
Employee’s Employment Commencement Date and ending on the date a break in service begins, unless any such years are excluded 
by Section 1.07(b). An Employee will also receive credit for any period of severance of less than 12 consecutive months. Fractional 
periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days.  

In the case of a Participant who has 5 consecutive 1-year breaks in service, all years of service after such breaks in service will 
be disregarded for the purpose of vesting the Employer-derived account balance that accrued before such breaks, but both pre-break 
and post-break service will count for the purposes of vesting the Employer-derived account balance that accrues after such breaks. 
Both accounts will share in the earnings and losses of the fund.  

In the case of a Participant who does not have 5 consecutive 1-year breaks in service, both the pre-break and post-break service 
will count in vesting both the pre-break and post-break employer-derived account balance.  

A break in service is a period of severance of at least 12 consecutive months. Period of severance is a continuous period of 
time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer. Such period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits or is 
discharged, or if earlier, the 12 month anniversary of the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from service.  

In the case of an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the 12-consecutive month period 
beginning on the first anniversary of the first date of such absence shall not constitute a break in service. For purposes of this 
paragraph, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence (1) by reason of the pregnancy of the 
individual, (2) by reason of the birth of a child of the individual, (3) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in 
connection with the adoption of such child by such individual, or (4) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning 
immediately following such birth or placement.  

If the Plan maintained by the Employer is the plan of a predecessor employer, an Employee’s Years of Service for Vesting 
shall include years of service with such predecessor employer. In any case in which the Plan  
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maintained by the Employer is not the plan maintained by a predecessor employer, service for such predecessor shall be treated as 
service for the Employer to the extent provided in Section 1.08.  

(b)        Pronouns used in the Plan are in the masculine gender but include the feminine gender unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 

Article 3.         Participation .  

3.01.      Date of Participation . An eligible Employee (as set forth in Section 1.03(a)) will become a Participant in the Plan on the first Entry Date 
after which he becomes an eligible Employee if he has filed an election pursuant to Section 4.01. If the eligible Employee does not file an election 
pursuant to Section 4.01 prior to his first Entry Date, then the eligible Employee will become a Participant in the Plan as of the first day of a Plan 
Year for which he has filed an election.  

3.02.      Resumption of Participation Following Re employment . If a Participant ceases to be an Employee and thereafter returns to the employ 
of the Employer he will again become a Participant as of an Entry Date following the date on which he completes an Hour of Service for the 
Employer following his re employment, if he is an eligible Employee as defined in Section 1.03(a), and has filed an election pursuant to Section 
4.01.  

3.03.      Cessation or Resumption of Participation Following a Change in Status . If any Participant continues in the employ of the Employer 
or Related Employer but ceases to be an eligible Employee as defined in Section 1.03(a), the individual shall continue to be a Participant until the 
entire amount of his benefit is distributed; however, the individual shall not be entitled to make Deferral Contributions or receive an allocation of 
Matching contributions during the period that he is not an eligible Employee. Such Participant shall continue to receive credit for service 
completed during the period for purposes of determining his vested interest in his Accounts. In the event that the individual subsequently again 
becomes an eligible Employee, the individual shall resume full participation in accordance with Section 3.01.  

Article 4.         Contributions .  

4.01.      Deferral Contributions . Each Participant may elect to execute a salary reduction agreement with the Employer to reduce his 
Compensation by a specified percentage not exceeding the percentage set forth in Section 1.05(a) and equal to a whole number multiple of one (1) 
percent. Such agreement shall become effective on the first day of the period as set forth in the Participant’s election. The election will be 
effective to defer Compensation relating to all services performed in a Plan Year subsequent to the filing of such an election. An election once 
made will remain in effect until a new election is made. A new election will be effective as of the first day of the following Plan Year and will 
apply only to Compensation payable with respect to services rendered after such date. Amounts credited to a Participant’s account prior to the 
effective date of any new election will not be affected and will be paid in accordance with that prior election. The Employer shall credit an amount 
to the account maintained on behalf of the Participant corresponding to the amount of said reduction. Under no circumstances may a  
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salary reduction agreement be adopted retroactively. A Participant may not revoke a salary reduction agreement for a Plan year during that year.  

4.02.      Matching Contributions . If so provided by the Employer in Section 1.05(b), the Employer shall make a Matching Contribution to be 
credited to the account maintained on behalf of each Participant who had Deferral Contributions made on his behalf during the year and who 
meets the requirement, if any, of Section 1.05(b)(3). The amount of the Matching Contribution shall be determined in accordance with Section 
1.05(b).  

4.03.      Time of Making Employer Contributions . The Employer will from time to time make a transfer of assets to the Trustee for each Plan 
Year. The Employer shall provide the Trustee with information on the amount to be credited to the separate account of each Participant 
maintained under the Trust.  

Article 5.         Participants’  Accounts .  

5.01.      Individual Accounts . The Administrator will establish and maintain an Account for each Participant which will reflect Matching and 
Deferral Contributions credited to the Account on behalf of the Participant and earnings, expenses, gains and losses credited thereto, and deemed 
investments made with amounts in the Participant’s Account. The Administrator will establish and maintain such other accounts and records as it 
decides in its discretion to be reasonably required or appropriate in order to discharge its duties under the Plan. Participants will be furnished 
statements of their Account values at least once each Plan Year.  

Article 6.         Investment of Contributions .  

6.01.      Manner of Investment . All amounts credited to the Accounts of Participants shall be treated as though invested and reinvested only in 
eligible investments selected by the Employer in Section 1.11(b).  

6.02.      Investment Decisions . Investments in which the Accounts of Participants shall be treated as invested and reinvested shall be directed by 
the Employer or by each Participant, or both, in accordance with the Employer’s election in Section 1.11(a).  

(a)         All dividends, interest, gains and distributions of any nature earned in respect of Fund Shares in which the Account is treated as 
investing shall be credited to the Account as though reinvested in additional shares of that Fidelity Fund.  

(b)        Expenses attributable to the acquisition of investments shall be charged to the Account of the Participant for which such investment 
is made.  

Article 7.         Right to Benefits.  

7.01.      Normal or Early Retirement. If provided by the Employer in Section 1.07(d), each Participant who attains his Normal Retirement Age 
or Early Retirement Age will have a nonforfeitable interest in his Account in accordance with the vesting schedule elected in Section 1.07. If a 
Participant retires on or after attainment of Normal or Early Retirement Age, such retirement is referred to as a normal retirement. On or after his 
normal retirement, the balance of  
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the Participant’s Account, plus any amounts thereafter credited to his Account, subject to the provisions of Section 7.06, will be distributed to him 
in accordance with Article 8.  

If provided by the Employer in Section 1.06, a Participant who separates from service before satisfying the age requirements for early 
retirement, but has satisfied the service requirement will be entitled to the distribution of his Account, subject to the provisions of Section 7.06, in 
accordance with Article 8, upon satisfaction of such age requirement.  

7.02.      Death . If a Participant dies before the distribution of his Account has commenced, or before such distribution has been completed, his 
Account shall become vested in accordance with the vesting schedule elected in Section 1.07 and his designated Beneficiary or Beneficiaries will 
be entitled to receive the balance or remaining balance of his Account, plus any amounts thereafter credited to his Account, subject to the 
provisions of Section 7.06. Distribution to the Beneficiary or Beneficiaries will be made in accordance with Article 8.  

A Participant may designate a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries, or change any prior designation of Beneficiary or Beneficiaries by giving notice 
to the Administrator on a form designated by the Administrator. If more than one person is designated as the Beneficiary, their respective interests 
shall be as indicated on the designation form.  

A copy of the death notice or other sufficient documentation must be filed with and approved by the Administrator. If upon the death of the 
Participant there is, in the opinion of the Administrator, no designated Beneficiary for part or all of the Participant’s Account, such amount will be 
paid to his surviving spouse or, if none, to his estate (such spouse or estate shall be deemed to be the Beneficiary for purposes of the Plan). If a 
Beneficiary dies after benefits to such Beneficiary have commenced, but before they have been completed, and, in the opinion of the 
Administrator, no person has been designated to receive such remaining benefits, then such benefits shall be paid to the deceased Beneficiary’s 
estate.  

7.03.      Other Termination of Employment . If provided by the Employer in Section 1.06, if a Participant terminates his employment for any 
reason other than death or normal retirement, he will be entitled to a termination benefit equal to (i) the vested percentage(s) of the value of the 
Matching Contributions to his Account, as adjusted for income, expense, gain, or loss, such percentage(s) determined in accordance with the 
vesting schedule(s) selected by the Employer in Section 1.07, and (ii) the value of the Deferral Contributions to his Account as adjusted for 
income, expense, gain or loss. The amount payable under this Section 7.03 will be subject to the provisions of Section 7.06 and will be distributed 
in accordance with Article 8.  

7.04.      Separate Account . If a distribution from a Participant’s Account has been made to him at a time when he has a nonforfeitable right to 
less than 100 percent of his Account, the vesting schedule in Section 1.07 will thereafter apply only to amounts in his Account attributable to 
Matching Contributions allocated after such distribution. The balance of his Account immediately after such distribution will be transferred to a 
separate account which will be maintained for the purpose of determining his interest therein according to the following provisions.  
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At any relevant time prior to a forfeiture of any portion thereof under Section 7.05, a Participant’s nonforfeitable interest in his Account 
held in a separate account described in the preceding paragraph will be equal to P(AB + (RxD))-(RxD), where P is the nonforfeitable percentage at 
the relevant time determined under Section 7.05; AB is the account balance of the separate account at the relevant time; D is the amount of the 
distribution; and R is the ratio of the account balance at the relevant time to the account balance after distribution. Following a forfeiture of any 
portion of such separate account under Section 7.05 below, any balance in the Participant’s separate account will remain fully vested and 
nonforfeitable.  

7.05.      Forfeitures . If a Participant terminates his employment, any portion of his Account (including any amounts credited after his termination 
of employment) not payable to him under Section 7.03 will be forfeited by him. For purposes of this paragraph, if the value of a Participant’s 
vested account balance is zero, the Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of his vested interest immediately following 
termination of employment. Such forfeitures will be applied to reduce the contributions of the Employer under the Plan (or administrative 
expenses of the Plan).  

7.06.      Adjustment for Investment Experience . If any distribution under this Article 7 is not made in a single payment, the amount remaining 
in the Account after the distribution will be subject to adjustment until distributed to reflect the income and gain or loss on the investments in 
which such amount is treated as invested and any expenses properly charged under the Plan and Trust to such amounts.  

7.07.      Hardship Withdrawals . Subject to the provisions of Article 8, a Participant shall not be permitted to withdraw his Account (and 
earnings thereon) prior to retirement or termination of employment, except if permitted under Section 1.09, a Participant may apply to the 
Administrator to withdraw some or all of his Account if such withdrawal is made on account of a hardship as determined by the Employer.  

Article 8.         Distribution of Benefits Payable after Termination of Service .  

8.01.      Distribution of Benefits to Participants and Beneficiaries .  

(a)         Distributions under the Plan to a Participant or to the Beneficiary of the Participant shall be made in a lump sum in cash or, if elected 
by the Employer in Section 1.10 and specified in the Participant’s deferral election, under a systematic withdrawal plan (installment(s)) not 
exceeding 10 years upon retirement, death or other termination of employment.  

(b)        Distributions under a systematic withdrawal plan must be made in substantially equal annual, or more frequent, installments, in cash, 
over a period certain which does not extend 10 years. The period certain specified in a Participant’s first deferral election specifying 
distribution under a systematic withdrawal plan shall apply to all subsequent elections of distributions under a systematic withdrawal plan 
made by the Participant.  

8.02.      Determination of Method of Distribution . The Participant will determine the method of distribution of benefits to himself and the 
method of distribution to his Beneficiary. Such determination will be made at the time the Participant makes a deferral election. If the  
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Participant does not determine the method of distribution to him or his Beneficiary, the method shall be a lump sum.  

8.03.      Notice to Trustee . The Administrator will notify the Trustee in writing whenever any Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to receive 
benefits under the Plan. The Administrator’s notice shall indicate the form, amount and frequency of benefits that such Participant or Beneficiary 
shall receive.  

8.04       Time of Distribution . In no event will distribution to a Participant be made later than the date specified by the Participant in his salary 
reduction agreement.  

Article 9.         Amendment and Termination .  

9.01.      Amendment by Employer . The Employer reserves the authority to amend the Plan by filing with the Trustee an amended Adoption 
Agreement, executed by the Employer only, on which said Employer has indicated a change or changes in provisions previously elected by it. 
Such changes are to be effective on the effective date of such amended Adoption Agreement. Any such change notwithstanding, no Participant’s 
Account shall be reduced by such change below the amount to which the Participant would have been entitled if he had voluntarily left the employ 
of the Employer immediately prior to the date of the change. The Employer may from time to time make any amendment to the Plan that may be 
necessary to satisfy the Code or ERISA. The Employer’s board of directors or other individual specified in the resolution adopting this Plan shall 
act on behalf of the Employer for purposes of this Section 9.01.  

9.02.      Retroactive Amendments . An amendment made by the Employer in accordance with Section 9.01 may be made effective on a date prior 
to the first day of the Plan Year in which it is adopted if such amendment is necessary or appropriate to enable the Plan and Trust to satisfy the 
applicable requirements of the Code or ERISA or to conform the Plan to any change in federal law or to any regulations or ruling thereunder. Any 
retroactive amendment by the Employer shall be subject to the provisions of Section 9.01.  

9.03.      Termination . The Employer has adopted the Plan with the intention and expectation that contributions will be continued indefinitely. 
However, said Employer has no obligation or liability whatsoever to maintain the Plan for any length of time and may discontinue contributions 
under the Plan or terminate the Plan at any time by written notice delivered to the Trustee without any liability hereunder for any such 
discontinuance or termination.  

9.04.      Distribution upon Termination of the Plan . Upon termination of the Plan, no further Deferral Contributions or Matching Contributions 
shall be made under the Plan, but Accounts of Participants maintained under the Plan at the time of termination shall continue to be governed by 
the terms of the Plan until paid out in accordance with the terms of the Plan.  

Article 10.       Miscellaneous .  

10.01.    Communication to Participants . The Plan will be communicated to all Participants by the Employer promptly after the Plan is adopted.  
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10.02.    Limitation of Rights . Neither the establishment of the Plan and the Trust, nor any amendment thereof, nor the creation of any fund or 
account, nor the payment of any benefits, will be construed as giving to any Participant or other person any legal or equitable right against the 
Employer, Administrator or Trustee, except as provided herein; and in no event will the terms of employment or service of any Participant be 
modified or in any way affected hereby.  

10.03.    Nonalienability of Benefits . The benefits provided hereunder will not be subject to alienation, assignment, garnishment, attachment, 
execution or levy of any kind, either voluntarily or involuntarily, and any attempt to cause such benefits to be so subjected will not be recognized, 
except to such extent as may be required by law.  

10.04.    Facility of Payment . In the event the Administrator determines, on the basis of medical reports or other evidence satisfactory to the 
Administrator, that the recipient of any benefit payments under the Plan is incapable of handling his affairs by reason of minority, illness, infirmity 
or other incapacity, the Administrator may direct the Trustee to disburse such payments to a person or institution designated by a court which has 
jurisdiction over such recipient or a person or institution otherwise having the legal authority under State law for the care and control of such 
recipient. The receipt by such person or institution of any such payments shall be complete acquittance therefore, and any such payment to the 
extent thereof, shall discharge the liability of the Trust for the payment of benefits hereunder to such recipient.  

10.05.    Information between Employer and Trustee . The Employer agrees to furnish the Trustee, and the Trustee agrees to furnish the 
Employer with such information relating to the Plan and Trust as may be required by the other in order to carry out their respective duties 
hereunder, including without limitation information required under the Code or ERISA and any regulations issued or forms adopted thereunder.  

10.06.    Notices . Any notice or other communication in connection with this Plan shall be deemed delivered in writing if addressed as provided 
below and if either actually delivered at said address or, in the case of a letter, three business days shall have elapsed after the same shall have 
been deposited in the United States mails, first-class postage prepaid and registered or certified:  

(a)         If to the Employer or Administrator, to it at the address set forth in the Adoption Agreement, to the attention of the person specified 
to receive notice in the Adoption Agreement;  

(b)        If to the Trustee, to it at the address set forth in the Trust Agreement;  

or, in each case at such other address as the addressee shall have specified by written notice delivered in accordance with the foregoing to the 
addressor’s then effective notice address.  

10.07.    Governing Law . The Plan and the accompanying Adoption Agreement will be construed, administered and enforced according to 
ERISA, and to the extent not preempted thereby, the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  
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Article 11.       Plan Administration .  

11.01.    Powers and responsibilities of the Administrator . The Administrator has the full power and the full responsibility to administer the 
Plan in all of its details, subject, however, to the applicable requirements of ERISA. The Administrator’s powers and responsibilities include, but 
are not limited to, the following:  

(a)         To make and enforce such rules and regulations as it deems necessary or proper for the efficient administration of the Plan;  

(b)        To interpret the Plan, its interpretation thereof in good faith to be final and conclusive on all persons claiming benefits under the 
Plan;  

(c)         To decide all questions concerning the Plan and the eligibility of any person to participate in the Plan;  

(d)        To administer the claims and review procedures specified in Section 11.03;  

(e)         To compute the amount of benefits which will be payable to any Participant, former Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with 
the provisions of the Plan;  

(f)         To determine the person or persons to whom such benefits will be paid;  

(g)        To authorize the payment of benefits;  

(h)        To comply with the reporting and disclosure requirements of Part 1 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA;  

(i)         To appoint such agents, counsel, accountants, and consultants as may be required to assist in administering the Plan;  

(j)         By written instrument, to allocate and delegate its responsibilities, including the formation of an Administrative Committee to 
administer the Plan;  

11.02.    Nondiscriminatory Exercise of Authority . Whenever, in the administration of the Plan, any discretionary action by the Administrator is 
required, the Administrator shall exercise its authority in a nondiscriminatory manner so that all persons similarly situated will receive 
substantially the same treatment.  

11.03.    Claims and Review Procedures .  

(a)         Claims Procedure . If any person believes he is being denied any rights or benefits under the Plan, such person may file a claim in 
writing with the Administrator. If any such claim is wholly or partially denied, the Administrator will notify such person of its decision in 
writing. Such notification will contain (i) specific reasons for the denial, (ii) specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions, (iii) a 
description of any additional material or information necessary for such person to perfect such claim and an explanation of why such 
material or information is necessary, and (iv) information as to  
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the steps to be taken if the person wishes to submit a request for review. Such notification will be given within 90 days after the claim is 
received by the Administrator (or within 180 days, if special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim, and if 
written notice of such extension and circumstances is given to such person within the initial 90-day period). If such notification is not given 
within such period, the claim will be considered denied as of the last day of such period and such person may request a review of his claim.  

(b)        Review Procedure . Within 60 days after the date on which a person receives a written notice of a denied claim (or, if applicable, 
within 60 days after the date on which such denial is considered to have occurred), such person (or his duly authorized representative) may 
(i) file a written request with the Administrator for a review of his denied claim and of pertinent documents and (ii) submit written issues 
and comments to the Administrator. The Administrator will notify such person of its decision in writing. Such notification will be written in 
a manner calculated to be understood by such person and will contain specific reasons for the decision as well as specific references to 
pertinent Plan provisions. The decision on review will be made within 60 days after the request for review is received by the Administrator 
(or within 120 days, if special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the request, such as an election by the 
Administrator to hold a hearing, and if written notice of such extension and circumstances is given to such person within the initial 60-day 
period). If the decision on review is not made within such period, the claim will be considered denied.  

11.04.    Cost of Administration . Unless some or all costs and expenses are paid by the Employer, all reasonable costs and expenses (including 
legal, accounting, and employee communication fees) incurred by the Administrator and the Trustee in administering the Plan and Trust will be 
paid first from the forfeitures (if any) resulting under Section 7.05, then from the remaining Trust Fund. All such costs and expenses paid from the 
Trust Fund will, unless allocable to the Accounts of particular Participants, be charged against the Accounts of all Participants on a prorata basis 
or in such other reasonable manner as may be directed by the Employer.  
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EXHIBIT 10.3(f) 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE  
ADTRAN INC. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

WHEREAS, ADTRAN, Inc. (the “Corporation”) has adopted the ADTRAN INC. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN (the “Plan”), 
which is intended to be an unfunded, non-tax-qualified retirement plan maintained by the Corporation primarily for the purpose of providing 
deferred compensation for a select group of management or highly compensated employees (within the meaning of Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3), 
401(a)(1) and 4021(b)(6) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended); and  

WHEREAS, the Corporation established the Plan by executing an Adoption Agreement effective September 1, 2001, under The CPR 
Select — The CORPORATEplan FOR RETIREMENT SELECT PLAN, a nonapproved prototype plan sponsored by Fidelity Management Trust 
Company; and  

WHEREAS, Section 9.01 of the Plan provides for the amendment of the Plan by the Corporation; and  

WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to amend the Plan document, effective as of September 1, 2001, to permit participants in the Plan to 
make separate deferral elections under the Plan with regard to (i) base compensation and (ii) bonus compensation;  

NOW THEREFORE, the Plan is hereby amended as follows:  

1.  

Effective as of September 1, 2001, Section 2.01(a)(6) of the Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following:  

“(6)       ‘Compensation’ shall mean for purposes of Article 4 (Contributions), Base Compensation and/or Bonus Compensation, as 
applicable.  

(A)        ‘Base Compensation’ shall mean wages as defined in Section 3401(a) of the Code and all other payments of 
compensation to an employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer’s trade or business) for which the Employer is required to 
furnish the employee a written statement under Section 6041(d) and 6051(a)(3) of the Code, excluding any items elected by the Employer 
in Section 1.04, bonuses, reimbursements or other expense allowances, fringe benefits (cash and non-cash), moving expenses, deferred 
compensation and welfare benefits, but including amounts that are not includable in the gross  
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income of the Participant under a salary reduction agreement by reason of the application of Sections 125, 402(a)(8), 402(h), or 403(b) of 
the Code. Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Section 3401(a) of the Code that limit the remuneration 
included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor 
in Section 3401(a)(2) of the Code).  

(B)        ‘Bonus Compensation’ shall mean all payments of compensation as described in subsection (A) hereof, but only to the 
extent such compensation is a bonus payment as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion. Bonus Compensation must be 
determined without regard to any rules under Section 3401(a) of the Code that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature 
or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Section 3401(a)(2) of the Code).  

Compensation shall generally be based on the amount that would have been actually paid to the Participant during the Plan Year but 
for an election under Section 4.01. In the case of any Self-Employed Individual or an Owner-Employee, Compensation shall mean the 
individual’s Earned Income.”  

2.  

Effective as of September 1, 2001, Section 4.01 of the Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following:  

“4.01 Deferral Contributions. Each Participant may elect to execute a salary reduction agreement with the Employer to reduce his Base 
Compensation by a specified percentage not exceeding the percentage set forth in Section 1.05(a) for base salary and equal to a whole 
number multiple of one (1) percent. In addition, each Participant may elect to execute a salary reduction agreement with the Employer to 
reduce his Bonus Compensation by a specified percentage not exceeding the percentage set forth in Section 1.05(a) for bonuses and equal to 
a whole number multiple of one (1) percent. Any such salary reduction agreement shall become effective on the first day of the Plan Year as 
set forth in the Participant’s election. The election made in any salary reduction agreement will be effective to defer Base Compensation, or 
Bonus Compensation, as applicable,  
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relating to all services performed in a Plan Year subsequent to the filing of such an election. An election once made will remain in effect 
until a new election is made. A new election will be effective as of the first day of the following Plan Year and will apply only to Base 
Compensation, or Bonus Compensation, as applicable, payable with respect to services rendered after such date. Amounts credited to a 
Participant’s account prior to the effective date of any new election will not be affected and will be paid in accordance with that prior 
election. The Employer shall credit an amount to the account maintained on behalf of the Participant corresponding to the amount of such 
Participant’s salary reduction. Under no circumstances may a salary reduction agreement be adopted retroactively. A Participant may not 
revoke a salary reduction agreement for a Plan Year during that year.”  

3.  

All other provisions of the Plan not inconsistent herewith shall remain in full force and effect.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this amendment to be executed this 10 th day of August, 2001, by its duly 
authorized officer.  
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         ADTRAN, Inc.  

         By:   
 
/s/ J OHN R . C OOPER  

            
         Title:   Senior Vice President & CFO  



Exhibit 23 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-41458, 333-78417, 333-30375) 
of ADTRAN, Inc. of our report dated January 29, 2003 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appears in this 
Form 10-K. We also consent to the references to us under the heading “Selected Financial Data” in Part II, Item 6 of this Form 10-K.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Birmingham, Alabama  
March 20, 2003  
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Exhibit 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned constitutes and appoints Howard A. Thrailkill and James E. Matthews, 
and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any 
and all capacities, to sign the Annual Report on Form 10-K of ADTRAN, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, and any and all 
amendments thereto, and other documents in connection therewith and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in 
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., granting unto said 
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to 
be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and 
agents or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

This 15th day of January, 2003.  
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/s/ M ARK C . S MITH  

         
         Mark C. Smith  

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive  
Officer and Director  

            
 
       

 
/s/ R ICHARD A . A NDERSON  

         
         Richard A. Anderson  

Director  

            
 
       

 
/s/ W . F RANK B LOUNT  

         
         W. Frank Blount  

Director  

            
 
       

 
/s/ H . F ENWICK H USS  

         
         H. Fenwick Huss  

Director  

            
 
       

 
/s/ W ILLIAM L . M ARKS  

         
         William L. Marks  

Director  

            
 
       

 
/s/ R OY J . N ICHOLS  

         
         Roy J. Nichols  

Director  


